
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

on Friday, 27 October 2017, at 2.00 p.m. 

in the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, 
Kendal 

 
 

Committee Membership 

Councillors 

Norman Bishop-Rowe 
Andrew Butcher 

Brian Cooper 
Nick Cotton 

Shirley Evans 
Anne Hall 

Dyan Jones (Chairman) 
Eric Morrell 

Vivienne Rees 
Phil Walker (Vice-Chairman) 

Mark Wilson 
Mary Wilson 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wednesday, 18 October 2017 
 
Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Jason Habbershon 

 

Telephone: 01539 793187 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 18 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as correct records, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 18 August and 15 September 2017 (copy 
attached). 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP   

 In accordance with Rule 17 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, any 
Member who is subject to a party whip on any item must declare the existence 
and nature of the whip. 

 

5  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

6  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 After the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has discussed an item on the 
agenda, but before a decision is taken, there is an opportunity for those present 
at the meeting who are not Committee Members to ask questions. 
 
More information can be found on the South Lakeland District Council website, 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk , or by contacting Committee Services on 01539 
733333. 

 

7  WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD PLAN  19 - 32 

 To consider the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2017/18, 
and the contents of the latest Forward Plan. 

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


8  CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING QUARTER 2, 2017/18  33 - 58 

 To note the financial position of the Council at 30 September 2017 and the 
revised Procurement Schedule, and to consider any recommendations to be 
made to Cabinet. 

 

9  COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 2 2017/18 AND 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORTS FOR ENVIRONMENT AND CULTURE, 
MEDIA AND LEISURE  

59 - 108 

 To monitor progress against the measures of success as detailed within the 
Council Plan 2014-2019 and to receive an update from the Environment, and 
Culture, Media and Leisure Portfolio Holders. 

 

10  COUNCIL PLAN 2014-2019 (2018 UPDATE)  109 - 136 

 To consider the draft Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update).  

11  OUTCOMES OF THE REVIEW OF ACTIVE TRAVEL  137 - 148 

 To consider the outcomes of the Review of Active Travel Workshop.  

12  SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS PROGRESS REPORT  149 - 154 

 To consider the progress made by Cabinet in implementing the adopted 
recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

13  CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE   

 To receive an update on the work of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee 
from the Council’s representative or substitute. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number) 

There are no items in this part of the agenda. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



9 
18.08.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in 
the Bindloss Room, Kendal Town Hall, on Friday, 18 August 2017, at 2.00 p.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Dyan Jones (Chairman) 
  
 

Norman Bishop-Rowe 
Anne Hall 

 

Eric Morrell 
Vivienne Rees 

 

Mark Wilson 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Andrew Butcher, Brian Cooper 
and Nick Cotton. 
 

Officers 
 

Hardeep Burnley Principal Food, Licensing and Safety Officer 

John Davies Performance and Risk Officer 

Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

Dan Hudson Development Strategy and Housing Manager 

Damian Law Principal Development Plans Officer 

Alastair McNeill Development Plans Manager 

Simon McVey Assistant Director Performance and Innovation 

David Sykes Director People and Places 

Lorayne Woodend Development Strategy Delivery Officer 

 
Also in attendance were Councillors Jonathan Brook (Deputy Leader and Housing and 
Innovation Portfolio Holder) and Graham Vincent (Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder), 
and Derek Jones (Greenwich Leisure Limited). 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Giles Archibald (Leader and 
Finance Portfolio Holder) and Brenda Gray (Council Organisation and People Portfolio 
Holder). 
 

O&S/14 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee held on 14 July 2017. 
 

O&S/15 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised. 
 

O&S/16 DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of the party whip were raised. 
 

Page 5

Item No.2



10 
18.08.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

O&S/17 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda. 
 

O&S/18 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there was no public participation in respect of this 
meeting. 
 

O&S/19 WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD PLAN  
 
The Chairman introduced the latest versions of the Forward Plan and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme. 
 
In response to a query, the Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer explained that there 
would be a slight delay in the completion of the work of the Older Persons’ Housing 
Strategy Task and Finish Group, but that this was not expected to impact on the overall 
timetable for the wider review of the strategy. 
 
A broader concern was raised regarding the potential for an increased number of delays 
to Council work due to the changes made through the implementation of Customer 
Connect. The Director People and Places reassured the Committee that these concerns 
were recognised and that Members were informed of any potential delays in meeting 
target dates. 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the latest Forward Plan be received; and 
 
(2) the Committee’s current Work Programme be noted. 
 

O&S/20 SOUTH LAKELAND LEISURE PARTNERSHIP  
 
The Principal Food, Licensing and Safety Officer presented a report which provided 
Members with an update on the current projects and future developments of the South 
Lakeland Leisure Partnership. 
 
Members highlighted the lack of leisure service availability in rural areas, and the 
difficulties that residents in these areas could face in accessing services. It was queried 
whether projects organised by local parish councils and community groups could be 
supported by the Council’s leisure provider. Derek Jones, Greenwich Leisure Limited 
(GLL), made reference to a number of rural schemes organised or supported by GLL that 
were currently underway, but agreed that more needed to be done to support people in 
less urban locations. He explained that GLL’s role was to help local communities to set up 
projects, with a view to these schemes becoming sustainable under the community’s 
management. The Principal Food, Licensing and Safety Officer highlighted the work 
carried out in partnership with general practitioners (GPs) and voluntary organisations as 
other ways in which services could be provided for residents in rural areas. 
 
During a discussion on the work between the South Lakeland Leisure Partnership and 
Cumbria County Council, it was confirmed that co-ordination between the organisations 
was important. It was hoped that partnership working with the County Council, and more 
widely, would develop even further as the Leisure Partnership’s work continued. 
 

Page 6



11 
18.08.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Members felt that more regular information on the work of the South Lakeland Leisure 
Partnership would be beneficial, and requested that further presentations be made to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The possibility of an access point for councillors to 
view the partnership updates was also suggested. Derek Jones explained that regular 
reports were provided to officers and suggested that some of this information could also 
be forwarded on to councillors. The Committee also emphasised importance of 
communicating with communities across the district. 
 
The success of community-based activities and games was highlighted by the Committee. 
It was queried whether GLL could provide local community groups with a list of activities 
and the equipment required to would allow them to run gentle exercise classes. 
 
The latest SWIM SAFE figures were requested. Derek Jones explained that the final 
figures were still being collated but that participation continued to increase each year. The 
figure for the total number of participants to date was expected the following week. It was 
queried how many of the participants in SWIM SAFE were from Ulverston, and Derek 
undertook to provide Members with that information following the meeting. 
 
Attention was drawn to the key performance indicators contained within Appendix 2 to the 
report. The Committee queried how these targets had been devised, and whether these 
targets were stretched as and when they were met. The Director People and Places 
explained that the targets and business strategy were reviewed at each meeting of the 
South Lakeland Leisure Partnership Board and that this provided a mix of both targets 
and activities with which to consider the progress made. Derek Jones explained that the 
performance indicators within the “Better Communities” area currently contained no 
targets as the recent change in management of the contract from North Country Leisure to 
GLL meant that much of the information captured within this section was not directly 
comparable. After a year’s worth of information had been collected under GLL 
management, targets would be introduced. He added that targets within the “Better 
Service” area were based upon national standards, whilst those within the “Better 
Business” section had been created with the financial terms of the Leisure Services 
Contract in mind. 
 
Information was requested on the effect of the recent announcement by GSK regarding 
the future of its site in Ulverston. The Director People and Places echoed the 
disappointment of Members, but explained that the process of developing the plans for 
leisure facilities in Ulverston continued, including discussions with GSK regarding the 
future of the Ulverston leisure plans. 
 
Recent open air swimming sessions held in Coniston were raised by a Member as an 
example of a community-led scheme which would benefit from the involvement of the 
Council and GLL. 
 
In response to a query, Derek Jones explained that GLL’s work with GPs had been less 
successful than hoped, but that the organisation continued to work closely with a number 
of clinical experts across a variety of different fields. 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the report be received and endorsed; and 
 
(2) the contribution made through the South Lakeland Leisure Partnership to 
progressing the aims of the South Lakeland Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-2019 
and the South Lakeland District Council Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy 2016-2025 be 
noted. 

Page 7



12 
18.08.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

 

O&S/21 DRAFT DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS: DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
POLICIES AND ARNSIDE/SILVERDALE AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL 
BEAUTY  
 
The Development Plans Manager presented the draft Development Plan Documents 
(DPDs) for Development Management Policies and the Arnside and Silverdale Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had 
previously commented on the DPDs at its meeting in February 2017 following earlier 
consultations (O&S/63 (2016/17) refers). 
 
Attention was drawn to the strengthening of the Policy DM6 on Flood Risk and 
Sustainable Drainage which had taken place following the earlier comments from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Development Plans Manager confirmed that 
further conversations had taken place with the North East Kendal Flood Action Group as 
requested by the Committee in February. Additional requirements for 5% of dwellings on 
sites over 40 units to meet wheelchair adaptable standards, and for the provision of a 
‘fibre to the premises’ connection to dwellings on sites over 30 units were also highlighted. 
 
Although concerns from those within the construction industry remained in some areas, 
particularly with regard to the proposed design standard requirements, the Development 
Plans Manager explained that a viability study was currently underway. Early results had 
suggested that the policies would not impact on viability such that there would be a need 
for any further changes to the documents. The final stage results of the study would be 
reported to Cabinet and Council when they considered the DPDs at their meetings in 
September and October respectively. 
 
The Development Strategy Delivery Officer provided an update on the changes which had 
been made to the Arnside and Silverdale AONB DPD following previous consideration by 
the Committee. The amendments had primarily concerned the proposed sites in response 
to comments raised during the consultation periods. Other minor alterations had been 
made to aid clarity or presentation of the document, and no other substantive changes 
had been required. 
 
Members asked for information on the next steps in the process of adopting the two 
DPDs. Having provided an outline of the process, the Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager explained that officers were confident that the documents and proposals 
contained within them were sound and that, should they be approved by Council in 
October, the DPDs would be published and submitted for independent examination prior 
to adoption. 
 
The importance of ensuring that the policies were enforced following adoption was 
emphasised by the Committee, particularly with regard to issues of flood risk and the 
retention of local distinctiveness. 
 
The Committee thanked officers for their work in producing the DPDs and complimented 
the thoroughness of the covering report. 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the report be noted; and 
 
(2) subject to any minor changes and corrections agreed with the Portfolio Holder, 
Cabinet be recommended to support the publication of the revised drafts of the 

Page 8



13 
18.08.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and the Arnside and 
Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Development Plan Document for final 
statutory consultation. 
 

O&S/22 COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 1 2017/18 AND HOUSING 
AND INNOVATION PORTFOLIO  
 
The Performance and Risk Officer introduced the Council Plan Performance Monitoring 
report for quarter one of 2017/18. The report highlighted areas of significantly good or 
poor performance relating to the measures of success set out in the current Council Plan.  
The report also included the latest Strategic Risk Register and benchmarking information 
using the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Nearest Neighbours 
Model. Appendix 2 to the report contained the annual update report from the Housing and 
Innovation Portfolio Holder, Councillor Jonathan Brook. 
 
During a discussion on the issue of homelessness, a briefing session for Members on the 
Council’s Homelessness Strategy was requested. The Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
Holder agreed that a session would be useful and agreed to speak to the relevant officers. 
The Portfolio Holder explained that although the number of people accessing the 
Council’s Housing Options service was increasing, this reflected a national trend and was 
not a problem faced by South Lakeland alone. He also made reference to the additional 
demands which would be placed on the Housing Options Team following the 
implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 
 
A discussion on the issues of low wages and an increase in part-time work took place. 
Members recognised that part-time work could provide benefits for both employers and 
employees, however it was felt overall that an increase in full-time work was vital to 
furthering the economy of the area. It was proposed that an increase in business support 
would be beneficial, particularly if there was to be a greater number of small businesses 
within South Lakeland. The adoption of the real Living Wage for Council employees and 
its contractors was also suggested. 
 
The Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder reported that the area was producing more 
skilled people than the national average, but that many of these individuals subsequently 
left the district. Despite this, he felt that many people who had left South Lakeland, for 
example to go to university, looked for opportunities to return to the area once they had 
become more settled in their careers. He also highlighted the market profile of South 
Lakeland, which indicated that the number of professional and skilled jobs had increased 
from 37% to 41%, while the number of people in semi-skilled jobs had reduced by 
approximately 6%. 
 
Concern was expressed at the reduction in the number of people aged under 45 who 
were living and working in South Lakeland, with particular focus given the 7% reduction in 
the number of children living in the area aged 0-14 years compared to the 6% increase 
nationally. 
 
It was queried whether the availability of national economic grants took into account the 
number of people of exceptional wealth within the area and, if not, whether this could 
potentially reduce the availability of such funding to South Lakeland. 
 
The problems faced by communities with large proportions of second homes, particularly 
within the National Parks, was recognised by the Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder. 
He explained that sustainability of communities was a priority for both the Council and the 
Lake District National Park Authority (LDNPA) . 

Page 9



14 
18.08.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

 
Encouraging employment and retention of trade were highlighted as important areas for 
the Council to increase its focus moving forward. 
 
The recent progress in joint working on economic development initiatives with Barrow 
Borough Council and Lancaster City Council was provided an example of ways in which 
the Council was seeking to work differently with a variety of different partners. 
 
The Committee reiterated the need for greater partnership working with the LDNPA, 
particularly in regard to the provision of housing in the area. Members felt that greater 
consideration should be given to an individual’s previous time within the area as part of 
the LDNPA’s definition of local people for the purposes of local occupancy. Reference 
was made to the link between greater future employment opportunities in the area and the 
standards of excellence which would be furthered through the Lake District’s World 
Heritage Site inscription. Both the Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder and the 
Director People and Places reiterated the Council’s commitment to working closely with 
the National Park Authorities and emphasised that both officers and the Cabinet gave 
regular consideration to improving the joined-up working approaches of the Council. 
 
Following a query regarding Risk 12 (Health and Safety management of contracts) of the 
Strategic Risk Register, the Director People and Places emphasised the importance of 
developing a strong health and safety culture and set out the progress made by the 
Council. He explained that the current position of this risk had been kept above the line of 
tolerance in order to ensure that regular quarterly reviewing continued. 
 
Members asked whether parish councils were feeding enough information through to 
SLDC, particularly with regard to documents such as the Local Plan Core Strategy and 
Council Plan. It was also proposed that both South Lakeland and Cumbria more widely 
would benefit from greater co-operation, for example through MPs and businesses in the 
county speaking to Government together. The Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder 
suggested that councillors should act as advocates for the district when speaking to parish 
and town councils in the area and had a role in encouraging greater community 
involvement. He asked whether more could be done to equip Members for this aspect of 
their role. 
 
Members discussed the role of the Local Enterprise Partnership. The Economy and Asset 
Portfolio Holder expressed his desire to see South Lakeland work more closely with 
Greater Manchester and the Northern Powerhouse. He suggested that South Lakeland 
had a lot to offer the Northern Powerhouse and that officers were working continually to 
improve the district’s position. He also referred to the Craven and South Lakeland District 
Councils’ Great Places project and the development of both the creative and rural 
economies in the two districts. 
 
The impact of empty homes was discussed. The need to be proactive in addressing the 
issues of vacant or second homes was emphasised, and it was queried whether Cabinet 
could consider making the Council Plan’s target for reducing empty properties more 
ambitious. 
 
An additional recommendation was proposed regarding the importance of partnership 
working in driving economic development. It was suggested that Cumbria suffered from 
fragmentation in its approaches, and that greater cohesion was needed. It was proposed 
that Cabinet be asked to consider any reasonable partnership arrangements which would 
further economic development in the future. 
 

Page 10



15 
18.08.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

The Committee thanked the Performance and Risk Officer for his work in putting together 
the report. They also recognised the importance of, and gave their support to, the 
proposed recommendations contained throughout the covering report. Particular 
emphasis was placed on the recommendations regarding transport and infrastructure 
issues, empty homes and domestic abuse. 
 
RESOLVED – That  
 
(1) the following be noted:- 
 
 (a) the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report; 
 
 (b) the detailed risks information contained within Appendix1 to the report; 
 
 (c) the Portfolio Holder report contained within Appendix 2 to the report; and 
 
 (d) the benchmarking information contained within Appendix 3; 
 
(2) the “potential recommendations”, set out between paragraphs 3.5.7 and 3.8.0 of 
the report, be noted; and 
 
(3) the following additional recommendations be made to Cabinet:- 
  
 (a) further evidence for reducing vacant properties and second homes be 

provided to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and consideration be given to 
increasing the Council’s target for reducing empty homes; and 

 
 (b) to further greater cohesion for South Lakeland, consideration be given to 

any reasonable partnership arrangements which are likely to further the economic 
benefits of the area.  

 

O&S/23 CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE  
 
Councillor Vivienne Rees confirmed that progress had been made against the 
recommendation made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its last meeting 
regarding the arrangement of a Member briefing on the problems and progress made 
against the new Sustainable Transformation Plans and Integrated Care Communities 
(O&S/12). All Members would be informed once a date had been agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 4.25 p.m. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



17 
15.09.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in 
the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Friday, 15 September 
2017, at 11.00 a.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Dyan Jones (Chairman) 
Phil Walker (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Norman Bishop-Rowe 

Andrew Butcher 
Brian Cooper 

 

Nick Cotton 
Shirley Evans 

Anne Hall 
 

Vivienne Rees 
Mark Wilson 
Mary Wilson 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Eric Morrell. 
 

Officers 
 

Inge Booth Senior Committee Services Officer 

Lawrence Conway Chief Executive 

Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

Ian Hassall Assistant Director Strategic Development 

Julia Krier Property and Contracts Solicitor 

Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council 

Jim Maguire Community and Leisure Manager 

Richard Machin Senior Communications Officer 

Shelagh McGregor Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Simon McVey Assistant Director Performance and Innovation 

Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 

Sion Thomas Corporate Asset Manager 

 
Also in attendance were Cabinet Members Giles Archibald (Leader of the Council and 
Finance Portfolio Holder), Philip Dixon (Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder), 
Brenda Gray (Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder) and Graham Vincent 
(Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder), and those Members who had called in the 
decisions, Councillors James Airey, Kevin Lancaster and David Williams.  
 
Also in attendance was Tim Leader, Barrister. 
 
 

O&S/24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised. 
 

O&S/25 DECLARATION OF THE PARTY WHIP  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of the party whip were raised. 
 

Page 13



18 
15.09.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

O&S/26 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the agenda. 
 

O&S/27 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
In accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Public Participation Scheme, 
the following individuals asked questions during the consideration of O&S/28 below “Call-
in of Executive Decision Numbers CEX 38/39”:- 
 

 Councillor Roger Bingham 

 Councillor David Evans 

 Mr A Milliard 

 Mr S Thomas 

 Mr P Spratt 

 Mr A Lucas 

 Mr J Gooding 

 Mr P Hordijon 

 Councillor Joss Curwen 

 Councillor Ben Berry 

 Mr N Thompson 
 

O&S/28 CALL-IN OF EXECUTIVE DECISION NUMBER CEX 38/39  
 
At its meeting on 30 August 2017, Cabinet had considered a report regarding New Road, 
Common Land, and Executive Decisions were taken in relation to this matter. In 
accordance with paragraph 16(c) of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules a request 
to call in the decisions at CEX/38 and CEX/39 had been made by Councillors David 
Williams, James Airey and Kevin Lancaster. The reasons for calling in the decisions were 
as follows:- 
 

 CEX/38 New Road – Common Land 
Reason given for call-in: The decision is of such great importance and in view of 
the new evidence including the new unpublished health and safety report, it should 
be considered by full Council. 

 

 CEX/39 New Road – Common Land – Vision for landscaping 
Reason given for call-in: The spend is significant and was not included in the 
budget and should be closely scrutinised. In addition concern has been raised 
about the sustainability and suitability of Gooseholme as a site for the fair and this 
needs closer scrutiny. 

 
The three Members who had called in the decisions were asked to expand upon their 
reasons for call-in.  
 
Councillor James Airey emphasised the lack of prior consultation, and highlighted the 
negative public response that had arisen following the decision being made. Although 
recent discussions with Taylor’s Funfair had been described as being positive, Mrs Taylor 
had explained that this was not the case at a recent public meeting. Councillor Airey 
referred to the opinion provided by Mr Tim Leader, Barrister, and explained that he had 
received separate advice from a common land lawyer who had provided a very different 
opinion. He question why the public should have to pay to build a new free car park when 
a site was already being used for this purpose. Councillor Airey concluded by stating that 
he had seen neither a report from the Council’s insurers nor the reports from auditors. 

Page 14



19 
15.09.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

 
Councillor Kevin Lancaster made reference to his previous experience with regard to 
common land. He suggested that referring the decision to full Council would enable an 
opportunity for case law and other legislative concerns to be fully explored. Councillor 
Lancaster questioned why those calling in the decisions had not been provided 
independent legal advice. 
 
Councillor David Williams drew attention to the history of the New Road site, and 
explained that the matter had first been reported to Council in 2008 with the same legal 
advice that was now being presented. He queried what had changed since that report, 
and why nothing had been done until now. Councillor Williams suggested that the site 
should be deregistered for use as a free car park. He further explained that he had spoken 
to the operators of Taylor’s Funfair and that they had indicated that they were not happy to 
move the funfair to Gooseholme and would not relinquish their right to use the land at 
New Road. In concluding his comments, Councillor Williams highlighted the number of 
members of the public that had attended the recent public meetings to express their 
displeasure at Cabinet’s original decisions. 
 
Representatives of Cabinet, as the decision-maker, were then given the opportunity to 
respond. 
 
The Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder explained that the Cabinet had not avoided 
debate and referred to the recent public meetings, briefings with councillors and 
stakeholders, Cabinet Members’ and officers’ presence on New Road in the days 
following the decision and his personal offer to speak to anyone at any time regarding the 
decision. He emphasised that the decision to close New Road to vehicles was due to 
safety and that several measures were being put in place to help those who would be 
affected. He explained how the information on the safety issues at the site had come to 
his attention, and made reference to its uninsurable nature and the unlawfulness of using 
common land as a car park. He emphasised the fact that the decision had been made in 
public at a meeting of Cabinet. The Leader offered assurance to the public that they had 
been listened to and explained that further mitigation measures were being implemented. 
He explained that amendments would be made to the original recommendations, for 
example by ensuring that the funfair would no longer be required to temporarily relocate to 
Gooseholme. 
 
In reference to comments regarding previous reports on the issues of New Road, the 
Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder offered assurance that the legal advice regarding 
the unlawfulness of parking on New Road had remained consistent over the years. He 
explained that investigations into the possible deregistration of the site had been carried 
out, but that he felt that this would be unsuccessful due to a number of reasons including 
a lack of available land of equivalent value to offer as a common in exchange and the 
availability of a large number of parking spaces nearby. The Portfolio Holder reiterated 
that the Cabinet had listened to the comments made by the public, and that a revised 
position was being offered on the relocation of the funfair and on the total costs. He 
confirmed that Taylor’s Funfair would not be required to move from the common. He also 
explained that the Capital Programme provision would be amended from £430,000 to 
£250,000 which would be used for the reinstatement of the common through the removal 
of the surface and replacement of the underlying contaminated soil. This would be the first 
of a four phase programme. Consultation with residents would take place on plans for the 
remaining three phases at the appropriate time. 
 
The Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder also explained that discussions had taken 
place with the Kendal Business Improvement District (BID) and that plans to jointly deliver 

Page 15



20 
15.09.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

solutions for enhancing and regenerating the riverside throughout Kendal were being 
explored.  
 
The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee were then given an opportunity to 
question both the representatives of Cabinet and the officers present. 
 
The Committee asked for reassurance regarding future consultation, with particular regard 
to the need to consult residents that may work or visit the town but who lived elsewhere in 
South Lakeland.  
 
Following a request from Members, Tim Leader, Barrister, provided an explanation of the 
legal situation surrounding the current parking on the common land at New Road. 
 
In response to a query from the Committee, the Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder 
confirmed the change to the project’s initial funding, and highlighted other possible funding 
streams including through partners and potential lottery bids. 
 
Some Members of the Committee expressed concern about the lack of prior consultation 
and about the financial aspects. The Leader reiterated that the final decision on the 
budgetary contributions would be made by full Council and not by Cabinet and that this 
had always been the case. 
 
Further information on the situation with regards to Section 34 of the Road Traffic Act 
1988 was requested, and this was provided by Tim Leader. 
 
In accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s public participation scheme, 
those councillors present who were not members of the Committee and members of the 
public asked questions of the decision-maker, Cabinet. 
 
Councillor Roger Bingham stated that the site had been used for parking vehicles for 100 
years. He questioned who had originally requested that the health and safety report to be 
carried out, and whether a similar case had previously been considered in the courts. In 
response, the Leader explained that the report had been conducted as part of the ongoing 
review of the Council’s assets. Tim Leader referred to a number of relevant cases and 
offered to send a list if required. He stated that he did not feel that this was a novel legal 
situation. 
 
Councillor David Evans asked why there had been no joined up plans developed in the 
years since these issues had first been considered. He also questioned why there had 
been no consultation on possible options for the future plans for the site. Councillor David 
Evans also asked why a park had been chosen and questioned whether the longer-term 
options had been considered. 
 
Mr A Milliard asked why Cabinet had chosen to close what he described as the safest car 
park in Kendal at New Road due to health and safety concerns when there would be a 
greater risk with more vehicles using the Westmorland Shopping Centre Car Park. 
 
Mr S Thomas, representing Kendal BID, referred to the discussions which had been held 
between the organisation and the Council and asked that councillors consider the other 
forms of funding which were available and to work in partnership with organisations in 
future consultations. 
 
Mr P Spratt asked why the health and safety report conducted by RG Parkins and 
Partners Ltd had not been conducted under the terms of reference of HD19/15. 
 

Page 16



21 
15.09.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Mr A Lucas questioned why no consultation had been carried out between the notification 
that the issues were to be considered being published on 1 August and the decision being 
made on 30 August. He also asked whether consultation had taken place with Kendal 
Town Council. 
 
Mr J Gooding asked whether the Leader could confirm the legal and safety issues could 
not possibly be resolved, or whether these could be addressed, for example, through 
deregistration. 
 
Mr P Hordijon asked again why the health and safety report had not been conducted 
under the HD19/15 terms of reference. He also asked why information regarding 
accidents on New Road had been based upon a website and not information from the 
police or insurance companies. 
 
Councillor Joss Curwen asked whether the Commons Commissioners had been notified. 
 
Councillor Ben Berry queried why the feasibility study which stated that 68 spaces could 
be provided following deregistration of the site had not been made available. 
 
The Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder responded to the questions raised.  
 
With regard to the delay between the health and safety report being received in June and 
the decision being made in August, the Leader explained that a decision had been made 
to allow the matter to be considered in public at a meeting of Cabinet, and to allow 
alternative options to be identified and explored. He confirmed that consultation had not 
taken place with Kendal Town Council as that would have resulted in the matter being 
discussed in public prematurely. 
 
In response to Mr Gooding, he explained that any efforts made by the Council to facilitate 
safe parking on the site would be ultra vires. He suggested that discussion of the 
possibility of deregistration could take place in the future, but that the site needed to be 
closed now. 
 
The Leader confirmed that the Council’s insurance company had been contacted. 
 
The Corporate Asset Manager explained that the health and safety report had been 
carried out by individuals experienced in road safety auditing and who were best placed to 
undertake the work. He also explained that HD19/15 was the terms of reference to be 
used following a highways improvement scheme but, as no highways improvements had 
been carried out, it was not appropriate to use this for the purpose of the report that had 
been prepared. He stated that the Westmorland Shopping Centre Car Park was safe and 
had clear access and egress points and dedicated pedestrian walkways. 
 
In response to the question raised by Councillor Curwen, Tim Leader explained that the 
office of the Commons Commissioner had been abolished in 2006, and notwithstanding 
that fact this was not the kind of matter with which it would normally have dealt. 
 
Note – The meeting was adjourned at 13.15 p.m. and reconvened at 13.45 p.m. when 
the same Members were present. 
 
Referring to the clarification that parking on the site would be unlawful but not illegal, Mr N 
Thompson asked what would happen should someone park on the common land at New 
Road following its closure. The Solicitor to the Council explained that a range of options 
would be available to the Council in such circumstances but that it was likely that the 
Council would seek an injunction to authorise removal of any vehicles. 

Page 17



22 
15.09.2017 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

 
Members recognised the importance of addressing the safety issues which had been 
identified. It was also acknowledged that the budget element of the decision would be 
discussed at full Council in October. Having received clarification from the Leader on the 
changes that Cabinet would be making with regard to the future siting of the funfair and to 
the total cost, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That the call-in of Executive Decision Numbers CEX/38 and CEX/39 be 
dismissed, and the original decisions made by Cabinet accepted. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 2.15 p.m. 

Page 18



 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27 October 2017 

WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD PLAN 

CHAIRMAN: Councillor Dyan Jones – Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer) 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

WARDS: Not applicable 

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 An effective and timely work programme will allow the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to maximise the value it can add to the work of the Council and the 
services provided for residents. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 

(1) receive the latest Forward Plan; and 

(2) note and/or amend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s current work 
programme. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Forward Plan as published on 26 September 2017 is attached as Appendix 1. 
The two Development Plan Documents were considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in August, and were approved for publication for final 
representations by Council on 12 October. The Procurement Schedule and Council 
Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update) items are included elsewhere on this agenda. 

3.2 The work of the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish Group, which 
began during 2016/17, is nearing completion. The final Strategy was originally 
scheduled to be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration 
at its meeting in October. However, due to resource pressures the Strategy will now 
be presented to the Committee’s meeting in January 2018. 

3.4 The Review of the Active Travel Action Plan, the first scrutiny review of 2017/18, took 
place on Friday, 21 July, at 10.00am. A report on the outcomes and 
recommendations is included elsewhere on this agenda and is scheduled to be 
presented to Cabinet in November. 

3.5 The next scheduled task and finish group will look at the development of locality 
working through Customer Connect. 

Page 19

Item No.7



 
 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 The Work Programme is set by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee following 
consultation with a number of parties including officers, councillors and external 
organisations. The Forward Plan is considered by the Council’s Senior Management 
Team and the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council prior to publication. 

4.2 Members are reminded that there will be an opportunity from January 2018 to put 
forward suggestions for the forthcoming year’s Work Programme based upon 
strategic issues faced by the Council or the South Lakeland area and in line with the 
Council Plan priorities. Unless an immediate or pressing need, any topics raised 
during the course of the year are collated for consideration at that time. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 There are no alternative options presented. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 The topics on the Overview and Scrutiny work programme link closely to the various 
priorities and aims as set out within the Council Plan 2014-2019 (2017 Update). 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 There are no financial or resource implications arising from this report. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There is a need to ensure that there are sufficient resources to enable the work 
programme to be supported. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny 
committee. The committee needs to be effective in its role. By preparing a planned 
work programme, the Committee can ensure that it has adequate time to properly 
consider those key areas where it can add greatest value. In turn, this will enable the 
Council to demonstrate that it has effective scrutiny arrangements in place. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

There are no implications arising from this 
report. Consideration will be given to any 
potential implications during reviews. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☒ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

There are no implications arising from this 
report. Consideration will be given to any 
potential implications during reviews. 

Page 20



 
 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee does 
not monitor its work 
programme 

Opportunities to add value 
through additional work 
are missed. 

The Work Programme is 
not fit for purpose. 

Regular review of both the 
Work Programme and the 
upcoming work of the 
Cabinet through review of 
the Forward Plan. 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, 01539 793187 
jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk  

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix No.  

1 Latest Forward Plan (as published on 26 September 2017) 

2 Current O&S Work Programme 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

None. 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

11/09/17 N/a 11/09/17 11/09/17 27/10/17 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

N/a N/a N/a 11/09/17 11/09/17 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

N/a N/a N/a   

 

Page 21

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



1

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS, PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS AND 

BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK DECISIONS
AS PUBLISHED ON 26 SEPTEMBER 2017

The Council is required to give 28 days’ notice when Key Decisions are to be made, and 
when an executive meeting is to be held in private. The Notice has been drafted to comply 
with that requirement. It is available for inspection on the Council’s website as well as at 
South Lakeland House, Kendal and sets out the following:-

(1) the matters which the Executive (also known as the Cabinet) believes fall within the 
definition of a Key Decision (see definition below) to be taken by the Executive or a 
Senior Officer of the Council;

(2) details of any private meeting (see definition below) of the Executive; and

(3) proposals for the recommendation to Council of any plan, strategy or budget that 
forms part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, and its timetable and 
arrangements for consultation. The policies which make up the Budget and Policy 
Framework can be found in Article 4, Part 2 of the Council’s Constitution, viewable on 
the Council’s website www.southlakeland.gov.uk

(Budget and Policy Framework Decisions are not Key Decisions (i.e. they are not 
Executive decisions but are decided by the Full Council; although the Executive may 
make recommendations to Council about them). In the spirit of openness and 
transparency the Council has decided to publicise the decision making process for 
such matters in the same manner as for Key Decisions.)

Documentation

Reports, as well as any background information, will be available for public inspection five 
working days before the date of the meeting at which the decision is going to made. 
However, some of the reports may contain confidential information and, in that case, will not 
be available to the public.

When the Executive is going to consider a confidential report, at least 28 days’ notice will be 
given of the intention to hold the meeting in private. A Notice to this effect will be published 
on the Council’s website. 

Background Information

If you wish to inspect background information, which will inform the decision-making process, 
contact the Lead Officer identified in the Notice as dealing with that matter. When the agenda 
for the meeting is published on the Council’s website, normally at least 5 working days before 
the meeting, these documents will also be made available via the website.  However, you will 
not be allowed to access any papers which contain exempt or confidential information.

Representations (views you wish to make)

If you wish to make a representation, either about one of the Key Decisions listed (where the 
meeting is to be held in private), or that an Executive meeting should be open to the public, 
you must write to the Lead Officer identified as dealing with that decision with your reasons 
why the meeting should not be held in private. This must be received at least five clear 
working days before the date of the meeting.

Appendix 1

Page 23

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


2

Decision Notice

A Decision Notice for each Key Decision, or other Executive decision, will be produced as 
soon as practicable after the decision has been taken.  These Decision Notices will be 
available for inspection at South Lakeland House, Kendal and on the Council’s website.

Urgent Decisions

The Law and the Council’s Constitution provide for urgent decisions to be made provided 
certain criteria are met and relevant Notices published accordingly.  None of the decisions 
detailed in this Notice are deemed to be Urgent Decisions - unless expressly stated.

Key Decision

This definition was adopted by Council on Thursday, 17 December 2015 and is as follows :-

“An executive decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on 
communities in two or more Wards of the Council (or one Ward in respect of two Member 
Wards) and/or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure or making savings 
above £100,000.”

Private Meetings

In regard to this Notice, private meetings are meetings of the Executive, or part of a meeting, 
during which the public are excluded as a result of confidential or exempt information being 
discussed. A reason will be given why it is felt that there is a need for the public to be 
excluded. If you wish to make a representation regarding the intention to hold the meeting in 
private, you must follow the procedure shown above under “Representations”.

The District Council’s Executive Members are:-

Cllr Giles Archibald – Leader and Finance Portfolio Holder
Cllr Jonathan Brook – Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder
Cllr Brenda Gray –Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder
Cllr Matt Severn – Culture, Media and Leisure Portfolio Holder
Cllr Graham Vincent – Economy and Assets Portfolio Holder
Cllr David Fletcher – Environment Portfolio Holder
Cllr Philip Dixon – Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder

The District Council’s Chief Officers are:-

Lawrence Conway – Chief Executive
Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer)
David Sykes – Director People and Places
Shelagh McGregor – Assistant Director (Resources) and Chief Finance Officer

The District Council’s Assistant Directors are:-

Ian Hassall –Assistant Director Strategic Development
Simon McVey – Assistant Director Performance and Innovation
Simon Rowley – Assistant Director of Neighbourhood Services

Page 24



3

 Key Decision - Governance of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and update to 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)

Approval of the procedures for the governance of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and 
associated priorities in the updated IDP.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (13 Sep 2017)
Date notice first published: 31 May 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 28 June 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

Lead Officer: Alastair McNeill, Development Plans Manager a.mcneill@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Ian Hassall, Assistant Director Strategic Development 
ian.hassall@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook)

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Arnside & Silverdale Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty Development Plan Document (AONB DPD)

Approval of the AONB DPD for formal publication.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (12 Oct 2017)
Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (18 Aug 2017)
Cabinet (13 Sept 2017)

Date notice first published: 28 April 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 26 May 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
AONB DPD Publication Version
Consultation Statement
Sustainability Appraisal Report
Habitats Regulations Report 

Lead Officer: Lorayne Woodend, Development Strategy Delivery Officer 
l.woodend@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Ian Hassall, Assistant Director Strategic Development 
ian.hassall@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook)

Page 25



4

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document (DM DPD)

Approval of the DM DPD for formal publication.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (12 Oct 2017)
Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (18 Aug 2017)
Cabinet (13 Sept 2017)

Date notice first published: 28 April 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 26 May 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
Development Management Policies DPD Publication Version
Consultation Statement
Sustainability Appraisal Report
Habitats Regulations Report 

Lead Officer: Damian Law, Principal Development Plans Officer d.law@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Ian Hassall, Assistant Director Strategic Development 
ian.hassall@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook)

 Key Decision - Lease of Road Sweeper Vehicles

The current road sweeper vehicle lease ends in October 2017 and a procurement with a new 
lease is required.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (25 Oct 2017)
Date notice first published: 28 March 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 25 April 2017)

Open/Exempt: Part exempt

Reasons for Exemption: 
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
None 

Lead Officer: Jim Maguire, Community and Leisure Manager j.maguire@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Simon Rowley, Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services 
s.rowley@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Environment Portfolio Holder (Cllr David Fletcher)

Page 26



5

 Key Decision - Lake Windermere Action Plan 2017 - 2022

To consider and approve the draft Lake Windermere Action Plan 2017-2022. The Action Plan 
will describe a series of partnership actions to manage aspects of the Lake’s future.

The Action Plan is being presented for joint approval to Cabinet and the Lake Administration 
Committee as actions will cover issues included and beyond the remit of the Lake 
Administration Committee.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (25 Oct 2017)
Also considered by/to be considered by: Lake Administration Committee (6 Oct 2017)

Date notice first published: 28 April 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 26 May 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
The Draft Lake Windermere Action Plan 2017-2022 - Currently published for consultation 

Lead Officer: David Sykes, Director People and Places d.sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: 

 Key Decision - Ulverston Leisure Site Masterplan

To consider the outcome of the second stage feasibility study and to consider options for 
proceeding to detailed design.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (25 Oct 2017)
Date notice first published: 28 April 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 26 May 2017)

Open/Exempt: Part exempt

Reasons for Exemption: 
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
Previous report to Cabinet July 2016 

Lead Officer: David Sykes, Director People and Places d.sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Matt Severn

Page 27



6

 Key Decision - Nobles Rest Improvements

Consideration and determination of a Tender for the installation of drainage and landscape 
works to Nobles Rest/Maudes Meadow.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (29 Nov 2017)
Date notice first published: 28 March 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 25 April 2017)

Open/Exempt: Part exempt

Reasons for Exemption: 
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
None 

Lead Officer: Deborah Clarke, Principal Community Spaces Officer 
deborah.wright@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Simon Rowley, Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services 
s.rowley@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Environment Portfolio Holder (Cllr David Fletcher)

 Key Decision - Council Tax Reduction Scheme *NEW*

The Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended, places an obligation on Local 
Authorities to review and renew the Council Tax Reduction Scheme each year. This report will 
renew South Lakeland District Councils Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2018-19.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (29 Nov 2017)
Date notice first published: 26 September 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 October 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
None 

Lead Officer: Michael Fisher, Revenues and Benefits Services Manager 
michael.fisher@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Shelagh McGregor, Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
s.mcgregor@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Finance Portfolio Holder (Cllr Giles Archibald)

Page 28



7

 Key Decision - East of Milnthorpe Road, Holme Draft Development Brief *NEW*

East Of Milnthorpe Road, Holme (within Burton and Holme Ward), close to Arnside and 
Beetham Ward - Cabinet approval is sought to publicly consult on the Draft Development Brief 
for six weeks.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (29 Nov 2017)
Date notice first published: 26 September 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 October 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
Draft Development Brief for East of Milnthorpe Road, Holme
Consultation Statement
Equalities Impact Analysis
Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Assessment 

Lead Officer: Damian Law, Principal Development Plans Officer d.law@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Ian Hassall, Assistant Director Strategic Development 
ian.hassall@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook)

 Key Decision - Procurement Schedule *NEW*

To update the Council’s procurement schedule with procurements identified since last 
approved in February 2017.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (29 Nov 2017)
Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (27 Oct 2017)

Date notice first published: 26 September 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 October 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
None 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Shelagh McGregor, Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
s.mcgregor@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Finance Portfolio Holder (Cllr Giles Archibald)

Page 29



8

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update) 
*NEW*

The Council Plan 2014-19 has been reviewed and updated for 2018.  The strategy update 
provides a summary of progress in the last twelve months and the four priorities set out the 
council’s ambition over the remaining year and details key projects that will contribute to 
achieving those priorities.

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (19 Dec 2017)
Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (27 Oct 2017)
Cabinet (29 Nov 2017)

Date notice first published: 26 September 2017

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 October 2017)

Open/Exempt: Open

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available:
2014-2019 Council Plan (2017 Update)
2014-2019 Council Plan (2016 Update)
Council Plan 2014-2019
Customer Connect Programme 

Lead Officer: Paul Mountford, Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer 
p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk

Assistant Director: Simon McVey, Assistant Director Performance and Innovation 
s.mcvey@southlakeland.gov.uk

Portfolio Holder: Council Organisation and People Portfolio Holder (Cllr Brenda Gray)

Page 30



Page 1 of 1 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 

(Changes made since the last meeting are highlighted in red) 

Committee Meetings 

Date Expected agenda items 

2017 

Fri, 14 Jul 
2pm 

Draft Treasury Management Annual Report; 
Draft Medium Term Financial Plan; 
Revenue and Capital Out-turn; 
Appointment of representative to the North West Regional Scrutiny Members’ Network; 
 

Fri, 18 Aug 
2pm 

Development Management and Arnside & Silverdale AONB DPDs; 
Leisure Services Update; 
Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q1 (Housing and Innovation Portfolio); 

 

Fri, 27 Oct 
2pm 

Draft Council Plan; 
Financial Monitoring Q2 and Procurement Schedule; 
Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q2 (Culture, Media and Leisure, and Environment 
Portfolios); 
Outcomes of the Review of Active Travel; 
Progress Report on Recommendations Made in 2016/17 
 

2018 

Fri, 12 Jan 
2pm 

Draft Budget and Procurement Schedule; 
Joint Older Persons’ Housing Strategy; 
Draft Treasury Management Framework; 
Annual Procurement Report; 
 

Fri, 2 Feb 
2pm 

Community Safety Partnership Update; 
Financial Monitoring Q3; 
Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q3 (Finance, and Council Organisation and People 
Portfolios); 
 

Fri, 20 Apr 
2pm 

Draft Scrutiny Annual Report; 
Work Programme 2018/19 Setting; 
Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q4 (Economy and Assets, and Public Health and 
Wellbeing Portfolios); 
Progress Report on Recommendations Made in 2016/17 
 

 

Scrutiny Reviews 

Date Format Information 

2017/18 

21 July One-Day Review 
 

Review of the Active Travel Action Plan 

2017 start tbc Task and Finish Group Development of locality working through Customer 
Connect 
 

2017 start tbc Task and Finish Group 
 

Asset management review 

2018 start tbc Task and Finish Group Access to health and leisure activities for older 
residents 

 

Appendix 2 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



South Lakeland District Council 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 27 October 2017  

Cabinet 29 November 2017 
Council 19 December 2017 

Corporate Financial Monitoring Quarter 2, 2017/18 
 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Giles Archibald – Leader and Finance 
Portfolio Holder 

REPORT FROM: 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: 

Shelagh McGregor - Assistant Director (Resources) 
and S151 Officer 
 
Pete Notley - Chief Accountant 

WARDS: All 
FORWARD PLAN: Published 26/9/2017 (Procurement Schedule update) 

 
 
1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

 
1.1 It is expected that Members note the projected year end position based on 

performance to the end of quarter 2 2017/18, that the revised procurement 
schedule is authorised and that Council approve the cost neutral budget 
adjustment as set out. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
2.1 It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 

(1) Note the contents of the report; 
(2) Note the revised procurement schedule at Appendix 4 
 

2.2 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
(1) Note the contents of the report; 
(2) Approve the revised procurement schedule at Appendix 4; 
(3)      Request that Council approve the cost neutral budget adjustment 

within the Waste and Recycling Service, as set out in 3.1.1d 
 

2.3 It is recommended that Council: 
(1) Note the contents of the report; 
(2) Note the revised approved procurement schedule at Appendix 4; 
(3) Approve the cost neutral budget adjustment within the Waste and 

Recycling Service, as set out in 3.1.1d 
 

 
 

Page 33

Item No.8



3.0    SUMMARY 
 

3.0.1 Revenue – Appendix 1 sets out the Revenue variances to date. These total a 
projected c£415k underspend by year end. Trends identified in the base 
budgets are being fed into the 2018/19 budget process. 
 

3.0.2 Capital – Appendix 2 sets out the position on the capital programme. Spend 
against the £11.17m programme to the end of quarter 2 was £2.25m. There is 
anticipated to be significant expenditure during quarters 3 and 4. £1.77m of 
further re-profiling has been identified. A revised programme will be presented 
as part of the budget process, including any new schemes prioritised against 
the available funding. 
 

3.0.3 Treasury – Appendix 3 provides an update on Treasury management for the 
quarter. All activity has been within the approved limits. Investments have 
performed better than the relevant benchmarks. No new borrowing is 
anticipated up to the end of the financial year.  
 

3.0.4 Procurement – Appendix 4 is an update to the procurement schedule with 
amendments since February 2017. This requires approval by Cabinet so that 
winning tenders which are consistent with the schedule can be awarded 
efficiently. 
 

3.1 Revenue Variances by Assistant Director 
 

3.1.1 Appendix 1 provides the detail of the revenue variances for each Assistant 
Director’s service area. The projected out-turn is for a net underspend of 
c£415k. Further detail is provided below in Table 1 and paragraphs a) to e) 
below. 
 

Table 1: Summary by Assistant Director Service Area 
 

AD area Expenditure 
Budget Full 

Year 
£000 

Income 
Budget Full 

Year 
£000 

Expenditure 
Variance 
to Date 

£000 

Income 
Variance 
to Date 

£000 

Overall 
Variance 
to Date 

£000 

Out-turn 
projection 

£000 

Resources a 23,461.2 -20,162.2 7.0 -12.3 -5.3 -3.3 
Performance and Innovation b 2,731.5 -430.8 -134.1 21.6 -112.5 -141.5 
Strategic Development c 9,461.1 -4,696.0 -48.1 -30.7 -78.8 -120.0 
Neighbourhood Services d 15,709.3 -9,437 -21.4 -155.8 -177.2 -150.0 
Corporate c 5,471.2 -22,108.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Total GF 56,834.3 -56,834.3 -196.6 -177.2 -373.8 -414.8 
Net GF 0           

 
a Resources – The current projection is for a £3k underspend projected. These 

relate to a number of smaller variances, as set out in Appendix 1.   
 
b Performance and Innovation - The current projection is a £142k underspend.  

The full list of variances is detailed in Appendix 1. The main reasons are: 
 

• One off £83k underspend due to the timing of recruitment. 

Page 34



• £22k underspend due to unclaimed Members allowances. This is due to 
specific Members not claiming and so no recurring saving has been identified. 

• One off £37k underspend due to timing of acquisition of canvassing software 
and establishment review within electoral registration. 
 

c Strategic Development - There is currently a £120k underspend projected. 
These are made up of a number of variances detailed in Appendix 1. The main 
reasons for the projected out-turn are: 

 
• Homelessness overall is £8k over budget. This includes a £38k demand led 

income shortfall for Supporting People work and a £70k net income shortfall 
due to the Social Lettings scheme coming to an end. These are offset by 
£100k additional homelessness grant from DCLG. These budgets will be 
reviewed in future years as part of the budget process.  

• £115k relates to higher levels of income than budgeted, mainly linked to 
demand for services including Building Control (£22k), Public Halls (£23k), 
Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park (£21k) and the Mintworks (£22k).  

 
d Neighbourhood Services - There is currently a £150k underspend projected. 

This is made up of numerous variances across the service as detailed in 
Appendix 1. The main reasons for the projected underspend are: 

 
• A demand led income surplus of c£200k on car parking income. 
• A £48k potential underspend relating to one off costs for renewal of the 

grounds maintenance contract.  
 

In addition, the waste and recycling service has a number of large variances. 
Many of these relate to the roll out of kerbside 5 stream recycling which has 
increased the demand on fleet and staff but is also generating additional income 
from the extra recycled materials collected. In total these come to a net overspend 
of £55k. This includes £109k for the corporate vacancy target. The variances on 
controllable budgets are made up as follows: 

 
• £150k potential underspend linked to one off costs for service development 

and renewal of the waste contract. 
• £186k additional income from recycling credits and the sale of recycled 

materials, reflecting changes to rates and amounts of recycled material 
collected under the wider 5 stream kerbside collection. 

• £100k overspend relating to vehicles, including hire (£44k), repairs (£16k) and 
fuel (£40k). 

• £182k net overspend on direct staff costs (including the vacant operational 
manager post). 

 
To ensure adequate budgets are in place for the controllable service costs, it is 
requested that a cost neutral virement is approved by Council to increase the 
direct staffing budget by £182k and the fleet costs by £100k, offset by an increase 
in income budgets from recycling credits/sale of materials by £186k and a 
reduction to the expenditure budgets to support one off costs by £96k. A full 

Page 35



review of the service is underway with proposals being considered as part of the 
budget process for 2018/19 (See also 3.2.3 below). 

 
e Corporate items – There are no material variances to report. 

 
3.2 Analysis of employee budgets 

 
3.2.1 The position on employee costs at Q2 is summarised in Table 2 below. The total 

variance against the Quarter 2 profiled budget is an overspend of £47.6k, 0.7% 
of the year to date budget.  

 
Table 2: Employee costs 

 
Full year 
budget 

Profiled 
budget 

Actual 
to date Variance Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 % 
13,593.8 6,830.5 6,878.1 47.6 0.70% 

 
3.2.2 This includes the impact of the additional staffing costs in the Waste and 

Recycling Service. As set out above, this additional cost is mainly offset by 
additional income from recycling credits and the sale of recycled materials (see 
Neighbourhood Services 3.1.1d above). Once these variances are corrected for, 
the underlying position as at Q2 is an underspend of c£25k (0.4% of the budget 
to date). This includes the 4% vacancy saving built in to all direct employee cost 
budgets. 

 
3.2.3 The total spend on contract and agency staff was £141k which equates to 2% of 

the total spend on employee costs up to Q2 (£6.83m). The majority of this (£96k) 
related to the waste and recycling service. A review of the staffing need is 
currently underway with proposals due to be presented to HR Committee on  
14 November 2017. These are expected to propose increases to the number of 
established front line staff and so reduce the need for agency workers. This is to 
be funded largely through the increased income from recycling credits and sale 
of recycled materials. 

 
3.3 Savings 

 
3.3.1 As part of the 2017/18 budget process, £66k of savings were built into the base 

budget. As noted above, the revenue budget, including savings, is projected to 
have a year end, net underspend of c£415k.  
 

3.3.2 As set out in the MTFP update to Council 25 July 2017, £1.16m of further budget 
reductions are required to set a balanced budget for 2018/19, rising to £1.21m 
by 2021/22. This figure includes £500k of unallocated growth. It doesn’t include 
any future savings from Customer Connect. The latest reported projection was 
that £403k of further savings would be delivered in 2018/19 rising to £828k in 
2019/20 and future years from Customer Connect. The position will be updated 
as part of the 2018/19 budget process.  
 

Page 36



3.3.3 An efficiency programme is also being developed to assess other areas that 
could deliver savings or additional income. This will ensure that robust 
proposals are in place to meet any savings targets above the total £850k from 
the Customer Connect programme. 

 
3.3.4 Options to deliver a balanced 2018/19 budget will be presented to Cabinet on 

29 November 2017. These will include the impact of budget pressures and 
potential recurring savings that are clear within the 2017/18 monitoring. 
 

3.4 Changes to Revenue budgets under delegation  
 

3.4.1 A balanced 2017/18 budget was approved 22 February 2017. Since then, the 
major change relates to £1.12m of carry forward requests approved by Council 
17 May 2017. A number of other increases to 2017/18 budgets have been made 
funded by contributions from reserves. These are as follows:  
 
• £30k of the £118k statutory duties reserve has been allocated. This is to 

support legal fees relating to a health and safety case.  The reserve will be 
topped back up as part of the year end process, subject to sufficient 
resources being available. 

• £170k has been drawn down from the £323k Customer Connect reserve to 
cover the ongoing implementation costs.  

• £235k of the £2.36m Community Housing Fund Reserve has been added in 
to revenue budgets. This will support potential partner organisations, cover 
SLDC staff working on the project and pay for consultants to identify potential 
sites for community housing schemes (see also £490k added in to the capital 
programme).  

 
3.5 Capital programme 

 
3.5.1 The latest version of the capital programme was presented to Council on 25 

July 2017. This totalled £10.00m which includes £1.56m of carry forwards from 
2016/17. The current version of the programme totals £11.17m. The main 
reasons for the difference are:  

 
• £638k is a presentational change of the Locally Important Projects scheme; 

this was previously a revenue budget but due to the nature of most of the 
expenditure, for accounting purposes this is now presented within the 
capital programme. 

• £490k has been added in under delegation for the Community Housing 
Fund; this is in anticipation of potential capital costs in relation to land 
acquisition or other capital costs for eligible schemes 

• A number of other small, cost neutral virements in relation to park schemes 
(£38k in total). 

 
3.5.2 Spend against the £11.17m programme to the end of quarter 2 was £2.25m. 

There is anticipated to be significant expenditure during quarters 3 and 4. 
£1.59m of re-profiling has been identified to date.  
 
 

Page 37



           Table 3: Summary of capital programme and expenditure 
 

  Full Year 
Budget Expenditure Budget 

Remaining 
Requires 

re-profiling  
  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Performance and Innovation a 1,206 418 788 120 
Strategic Development b 5,186 1,203 3,983 728 
Neighbourhood Services c 4,773 627 4,146 917 
Total 11,165 2,248 8,917 1,765 

 
 
3.5.3 As set out in the table above, of the budget remaining of £8.92m, £1.77m of this 

is due to be re-profiled, with anticipated further spend in year of £7.15m. Of this, 
c£3.7m is at least partially dependent on partner organisations. 
 

3.5.4 Details of the re-profiling identified to date are provided below. Appendix 2 
contains further comments and updates on all capital schemes. The main 
schemes identified for re-profiling, by AD are: 

 
a Performance and Innovation – there is currently £120k identified for re-

profiling, the main elements being:  
• Mobile Working (£120k) forms part of the overall Customer Connect 

programme budget, in the next capital programme update this budget will be 
removed and the funding added into the Customer Connect (capital) Reserve 
to be drawn down when required. 

 
b Strategic Development - there is currently £728k identified for re-profiling, the 

main elements being: 
• The Kendal Museum contribution of £85k is subject to ongoing negotiation 

with Kendal College. 
• £157k relates to the Grange Promenade works; the scope of works required 

is being considered as part of the 2018/19 budget process and this budget 
may form part of any larger scheme. 

• £146k relates to S106 contributions whose use is restricted to certain 
housing developments. The progress on these developments suggests that 
no payment will be due until 2018/19. 

• £340k relates to contributions to other organisations from SLDC’s share of 
retained Right-to-Buy receipts. Spend is dependent on third party progress; 
at this stage at least £340k is not likely to be needed in year. A review of the 
Council’s current funding of affordable housing is to be undertaken as part of 
the 2018/19 budget process. 

 
c Neighbourhood Services - there is currently £917k identified for re-profiling, 

the main elements being: 
• £270k relates to Rydal Road bridge works; options are being assessed as 

part of the 2018/19 budget process around the need for widening of the 
current road bridge and enhancing pedestrian access.  

• £390k relates to South Lakeland House car park; immediate repairs are due 
to be completed with the larger scheme pending conclusion of the 
accommodation review. 

Page 38



• £175k relates to the Kendal depot scheme; this is part of the wider strategic 
asset review forming part of the 2018/19 budget process.  

 
3.5.5 In prior years there has been significant re-profiling of the capital programme. 

The existing programme will be reviewed as part of the 2018/19 budget 
process. A revised programme will be presented to Cabinet on 29 November 
2017, including any new schemes prioritised against the available funding and 
adjustments to existing budgets. 
 

3.6 Treasury Management 
 

3.6.1 There are no issues to report in terms of compliance with the approved Treasury 
Management Strategy. Appendix 3 is a detailed review of the Council’s position 
against the agreed indicators and limits. 
 

3.6.2 To date the Council’s investments have performed well against market 
expectations. There are some indications that a limited and gradual increase of 
bank rate may occur during this financial year. 

 
3.6.3 All investment activity has been within the approved limits. Investment return 

continues to outperform the benchmarks in the current environment. Borrowing 
is not expected to change and no repayment is planned at the current time, due 
to market conditions. 
 

3.7 Collection Fund 
 

3.7.1 Table 4 below sets out the Q2 performance on local tax collection. The Council 
Tax Collection figure at 30 September 2017 is 58.31%, an increase of 0.11% 
compared to the same period last year. If collection continues as it has in Q1 
and Q2 then the collection rate is likely to be similar or slightly higher to that of 
last year. However it is possible that there will be some impact on performance 
from the change in software currently being implemented. 
 

3.7.2 The Non Domestic Rates (NDR) figure is 55.93% which is 0.14% lower than 
last year. For the months of April to August collection rates have exceeded 
those of the prior year, it is only in September 2017 that the collection rate has 
decreased. This appears to be due to recovery action being later this year due 
to the timing of court dates. In addition, the table below shows the NDR Q2 
collection rate has been decreasing each year for the past 5 years, a large part 
of this is due to the increasing numbers of payments being due in February & 
March and so being paid in Q4. 

 
          Table 4: Local Taxation Collection rate        
 

Percentage 
Collected 
Quarter 2 

2012/13 
% 

2013/14 
% 

2014/15 
% 

2015/16 
% 

2016/17 
% 

2017/18 
% 

 

 
Council Tax 59.04 58.76 58.60 58.64 58.20 58.31  

Business Rates 59.67 60.09 57.97 57.73 56.07 55.93  

Page 39



Tax base and collection fund deficit/surplus 

Council Tax 
 

3.7.3 The Council makes various assumptions about the tax base when setting 
Council Tax. These include collection rates and the level of reliefs and 
discounts. If these vary from the assumptions, the Council Tax account may 
be either in surplus or deficit at the end of the year. This surplus or deficit is 
shared out between the precepting authorities in relation to the size of their 
precepts.  

 
3.7.4 Based on the position at Quarter 2, the fund has a cumulative surplus of 

£481k. This would result in additional income to the Council of around £62k. 
However, due to the statutory rules around the collection fund, this would only 
have an impact on the budget setting for 2018/19, when any surplus would be 
formally distributed as part of the budget and Council Tax setting process 

 
3.7.5 Based on previous years’ experience it is anticipated that this level of surplus 

will gradually reduce throughout the remainder of the year as more reliefs and 
discounts are awarded. It is expected that the surplus will continue to 
decrease with the current projection being SLDC’s share at c£28k. 
 
Business Rates 
 

3.7.6 The key factor for business rates will be the impact of the revaluation exercise 
which was effective from 1/4/2017. Revaluation exercises often trigger a 
significant number of ratings appeals by property owners who want to 
challenge their new rating valuations. The appeals process was also changed 
from 1/4/2017 so that property owners who want their rateable value to be 
reviewed now have to ‘Check, Challenge, Appeal’ rather than just submitting 
an appeal. Together, these factors may have some impact on the calculation 
of the appeals provision (the expected value of successful appeals which will 
reduce the level of rates collectable) in the collection fund. Officers are 
currently working to quantify this. 
 

3.7.7 Similar to Council Tax, there are statutory rules to help protect the Council 
from volatility in year linked to changes to chargeable amounts for Business 
Rates. Under the current system, any variances are distributed between the 
precepting authorities/Central Government in subsequent years. Overall, 
NNDR income due for 2017/18 will be in line with projections. The impact of 
any variances on future years will be incorporated into the 2018/19 budget 
process. 

 
3.8 Sundry Debts 

 
3.8.1 The aim of this section is to describe the current debt position and to provide 

assurance over collection performance. Table 5 below summarises the 
current collection rate on sundry debts: 

 
 
 

Page 40



          Table 5: Summary of collection 
 

 
An analysis of outstanding sundry debts reveals that over 99% of debts have 
been recovered in years up to 2015/16, and 98% of debts in 2016/17. In the 
current year to date, 94% of debt has been recovered. The table below splits 
down in more detail the age profile of the current out-standing debts. 
 
Table 6: Age profile of 2017/18 invoices 

2017/18 Invoices £000 
5 months overdue 36 
4 months overdue 25 
3 months overdue 15 
2 months overdue 53 
1 month overdue 38 
Total end of Quarter 2 167 

 

3.8.2 The single largest element of the outstanding amount for invoices raised in 
2017/18 is £50k (30%) relating to a number of lake encroachments. 
Significant success has been achieved this financial year in resolving 
encroachment disputes. At the end of June 2017 the total debt (across all 
financial years) related to encroachments was £224k, this has reduced to 
£92k at the end of September. Legal Services are currently working towards 
resolving the remaining disputes. 

 
4.0 CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 Senior management, budget holders and the Finance Portfolio Holder have 

been consulted.  
 
5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
5.1 There are no alternative options. 
 
6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 Regular budget monitoring forms part of the corporate governance 

arrangements that support all Council priorities. 
 

 up to 
2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

to date 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Debt outstanding 39 6 8 31 15 34 78 167 
Total value of 
invoices/credit 
notes raised 

6,028 4,159 4,633 4,385 4,808 4,606 3,978 2,597 

Collection Rate 
(%) 99.4% 99.9% 99.8% 99.3% 99.7% 99.3% 98.0% 93.6% 

Page 41



7.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Financial and Resources 
7.1.1 Financial and resource information are contained within the report. 
 
7.2 Human Resources 
7.2.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications of the report. 
 
7.3 Legal 
7.3.1 There are no direct legal implications of the report. 
 
7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 
7.4.1 There are no additional Health, Social, Economic or Environmental impacts as 

a result of the report. 

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to 
the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your reasons. 

The report relates to a historic review 
of Q2. 

 
7.5 Equality and Diversity 
7.5.1 There are no additional Equality or Diversity impacts as a result of the report. 

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached to the 
report in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

If you have not completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis, please explain your reasons. 

The report relates to a historic 
review of Q2. 

 
7.6 Risk 
Risk Consequence Controls required 
Not effectively managing 
budgets could lead to 
overspending. 

Possible legal 
challenge, audit 
qualification and ultra 
vires expenditure. 

Scrutiny of budgets 
through review of 
monitoring reports. 

Recurring pressures or savings 
are not identified 

Medium Term Financial 
Planning may not reflect 
the future impact of 
current issues. 

Regular monitoring of 
budgets in year to 
inform the MTFP and 
annual budget setting 
process. 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS  
Pete Notley, Chief Accountant, p.notley@southlakeland.gov.uk, ext 3157 

Page 42

mailto:p.notley@southlakeland.gov.uk


Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk, ext 3147 
 
 
APPENDICES AND ANNEX ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

No. Description 
Appendix 1 Detailed Revenue Budget Monitoring  
Appendix 2 Detailed Capital Budget Monitoring 
Appendix 3 Treasury Management  Review 
Appendix 4 Procurement schedule 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available  

2017/18 budget book https://tinyurl.com/ycg5llaq 
 
 
TRACKING INFORMATION 
Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

12/10/2017 10/10/2017 n/a 12/10/2017 27/10/2017 
Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

29/11/2017 n/a 19/12/2017 12/10/2017 12/10/2017 
Human Resource Services 
Manager 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

Leader 
 

 

n/a n/a 10/10/2017  
 

Page 43

mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Appendix 1

Service Portfolio

Expenditure 

Budget Full 

Year

£

Income Budget 

Full Year

£

Expenditure

Variance

to Date

£

Income

Variance

to Date

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

Out-turn 

projection

£

Commentary 

ECL Legal Org and People 49,942 -30,250 2,023 3,115 5,137 10,000
Mainly linked to additional cost of agency staff to fill vacant post; 

recruitment in process

EFS Financial Services Finance 35,200 -5,000 5,151 1,969 7,120 20,000
Vacancy saving not met, overall corporate vacancy target is being 

met

GBN Council Tax Benefits Finance 321,139 -65,826 0 -18,296 -18,296 -18,296
CTax scheme admin grant in excess of expected budget; will be 

reviewed for 18/19 budget setting

GTV Bank Charges Finance 151,104 0 -9,050 -125 -9,175 -15,000
Lower Fees following retendering; will be used to support fixed term 

procurement post for 2018/19

Other Resources 22,903,821 -20,061,095 8,883 1,072 9,955 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Resources 23,461,206 -20,162,171 7,007 -12,265 -5,259 -3,296

Performance and Innovation

ERI Information Services
Housing and 

Innovation
2,411 0 -36,506 -1 -36,507 -50,000

Potential salary underspend £50k due to vacant posts, recruitment 

expected December.

EXS Policy and Performance Org and People 61,742 -12,648 -41,213 -676 -41,889 -33,000 One off underspend on vacant posts, now recruited to £33k.

GER Electoral Registration Org and People 296,082 -32,563 -28,545 15,272 -13,273 -36,500
Potential underspend of carry forward £37k, subject to progressing 

with procurement of canvassing software and establishment review.

GMM Members Org and People 380,153 0 -17,517 0 -17,517 -22,000 Potential underspend due to Members' unclaimed allowances £22k.

Other Performance and Innovation 1,991,073 -385,577 -10,288 7,008 -3,280 Individual variances <£10k

Total Performance and Innovation 2,731,461 -430,788 -134,069 21,603 -112,466 -141,500

Strategic Development

EPX Offices
Economy and 

Assets
56,813 -21,414 -19,637 6,301 -13,335 -13,000 Potential one off net salary underspend £13k due to vacant posts.

GBC Building Control
Housing and 

Innovation
549,496 -309,472 6,999 -12,410 -5,410 -22,000

Potential income surplus £22k in excess of expected budget, due to 

changes regarding Approved Inspectors working regulations.

GCS Caravan Site
Economy and 

Assets
178,455 -386,283 1,363 -11,000 -9,637 -21,000

Potential net income surplus £21k, based on same performance as 

previous year. Budget being reviewed for 2018/19

GED Economic Development
Economy and 

Assets
501,077 -53,703 -3,427 -9,317 -12,744 -22,000

Potential £22k Mintworks income surplus in excess of expected 

budget, budget being reviewed for 18/19

GHL Town View Fields Hostel
Housing and 

Innovation
335,686 -289,464 -9,583 30,908 21,324 38,000

Potential Supporting People demand led shortfall £40k, potential 

pressure for future years.

GHM Homelessness
Housing and 

Innovation
550,985 -325,824 -3,399 -46,446 -49,845 -30,000

Received DCLG Flexible Homelessness grant c£100k; potential 

Social lettings net income shortfall £70k due to benefit changes.  

The purpose of this appendix is to set out the revenue budget variance projections  based on data up to 30/9/2017

Resources

P
age 45



Service Portfolio

Expenditure 

Budget Full 

Year

£

Income Budget 

Full Year

£

Expenditure

Variance

to Date

£

Income

Variance

to Date

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

Out-turn 

projection

£

Commentary 

GLC Local Land Charges
Housing and 

Innovation
250815 -250000 2,310 -6,590 -4,280 -16,000 Potential demand led income surplus £16k.

GPH Public Halls
Culture Media 

and Leisure
539,353 -99,088 -2,658 -77 -2,735 -23,000

Projected out-turn £23k up on KTH based on in year performance  

and 16/17 out-turn

GSY Sundry Properties
Economy and 

Assets
434,252 -145,170 10,570 -12,758 -2,188 -11,000 Potential income surplus £11k in excess of expected budget.

Other Strategic Development 6,064,137 -2,815,542 -30,597 30,640 43 Individual variances <£10k

Total Strategic Development 9,461,069 -4,695,960 -48,058 -30,749 -78,807 -120,000

EUN Community Services Environment -23,996 -191 -31,422 -288 -31,711 -44,000
Street Care salary underspend £44k due to vacant post; street scene 

establishment being reviewed.

GCK Car Parks
Economy and 

Assets
2,321,689 -4,206,046 -735 -142,725 -143,460 -200,000

Potential income surplus, £120k higher than P6 in prior year; may be 

offset by changes set out in September Cabinet report.

GCM Cemeteries Environment 328,602 -220,143 -5,560 18,482 12,922 11,000 Potential demand led income shortfall £11k.

GLW Lake Windermere Lake Admin 964,052 -1,356,446 11,998 11,008 23,006 22,000
Potential net income shortfall mainly relating to reduced demand for 

moorings, £22k.

GMD Licensing Act
Culture Media 

and Leisure
131,006 -209,731 -78 11,000 10,922 11,000

Potential demand led shorfall £11k, due to reduced number of 

licenced premises.

GPK Parks Environment 1,243,461 -48,071 -38,097 -2,896 -40,992 -48,000 Potential underspend on contract review carry forward £48k. 

GWC Waste Coll Disposal 1,460,958 -40,000 -43,295 -1,987 -45,282 -75,000 Potential underspend on waste collection review carry forward £75k.

GWK Recycling 2,845,021 -1,271,602 -53,144 -78,000 -131,144 -276,000

Potential demand-led surplus £109k on recycling credits, and £92k 

surplus on sale of materials (if prior year trend repeated); potential 

underspend on waste contract renewal budget £75k.

GWR Waste Recycling 248,069 -161,000 0 8,392 8,392 15,000 Potential demand-led bring site credits shortfall £15k.

STG Street Cleansing -109,971 -1,299 73,881 -63 73,818

STS Transport 84,331 -81,388 33,755 -3,323 30,432

SWK Kerbside Recycling 417,783 -36,150 73,746 17,634 91,379

Other Neighbourhood services 5,798,340 -1,804,926 -42,431 6,926 -35,506 Individual variances <£10k

Total Neighbourhood Services 15,709,345 -9,436,993 -21,382 -155,841 -177,223 -150,000

Corporate items

Other Corporate items 5,471,170 -22,108,339 0 0 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Corporate items 5,471,170 -22,108,339 0 0 0 0

Total GF 56,834,251 -56,834,251 -196,502 -177,253 -373,755 -414,796 0

Net GF 0

Neighbourhood Services

Potential overspend on employee costs £335k (of which corporate 

vacancy saving budget £109k); fuel overspend £39k due to price 

increases; overspend on additional contract hire vehicles £44k; 

overspend on repairs £16k

Environment

434,000

P
age 46



Appendix 2

AD/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Remaining 

Budget

£

re-profiling

£
Commentary 

KIP01

Locally Important Projects 

(previoulsy presented within 

revenue)

Culture, Media 

and Leisure
597,874 175,083 422,791

Expected to be spent in the year, subject to the projects meeting the criteria 

for payment 

KIT27 Mobile Working

Housing and 

Innovation/ 

Environment

120,000 0 120,000 120,000

Awaiting review of potential software suppliers that can provide cab 

technology that has capability to integrate with Meritec solution/customer 

connect project.

KIT19
Replacement Revs and Bens 

System

Housing and 

Innovation/ 

Finance

360,000 211,823 148,177 Project commenced; scheme will be complete and budget spent in year.

KIT30 Digital Innovation Project
Housing and 

Innovation 
52,900 15,085 37,815 Project has commenced, spend to be in line stage payments on new system

KIT90 IT Replacement Fund
Housing and 

Innovation
75,400 15,968 59,432

Planned to spend in year on replacing and and renewing IT assets and 

Integra upgrade

1,206,174 417,959 788,215 120,000

KDE04
Former Knitwear Factory 

Ulverston

Economy and 

Assets
110,000 6,540 103,460 Due for completion this year.

KCD01 Castle Dairy
Economy and 

Assets
129,400 116,037 13,363 Work finished, payment to be made by end of August.

KLH02
Ulverston Asset Transfer 

programme

Economy and 

Assets
162,200 57,026 105,174

Brogden St work complete, Age Concern on site. Remainder of budget 

subject to new bid.

KLH03 Kendal Town Hall stonework
Economy and 

Assets
286,000 66,328 219,672 On site, will complete November/December.

KMR21 Kendal Museum alterations
Economy and 

Assets
85,000 0 85,000 85,000 Pending arrangements with Kendal College taking over management.

KPE18
Towpath Trail Kendal-

Lancaster
Environment 140,000 0 140,000

Funding agreement currently being finalised, expected to be paid in 

October.

KRE04
Grange Regeneration 

Programme
Environment 157,300 0 157,300 157,300

This may form part of bigger prom scheme subject to 2018/19 budget 

process.

KRE53 Kendal Public Realm Environment 211,540 18,106 193,434

Market Place bollard replacement work to complete October. This budget 

will be reviewed following reduction in scale of the overall scheme. Also 

includes  £26k for New Road; proposals set out in published Cabinet 

reports.

KRE63 The Glebe Public Realm Environment 400,000 400,000 0 Complete

The purpose of this appendix is to set out the details of spend to date against the full year budgets on the capital programme to 30/9/2017

Performance and Innovation

Total Performance and Innovation

Strategic Development

P
age 47



AD/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Remaining 

Budget

£

re-profiling

£
Commentary 

KAH10
Affordable Homes TC Prop 

Empty

Housing and 

Innovation
904,300 238,687 665,613

Expected spend £673k based on current commitments but further grant 

applications may be received in Q2. 

KAH12 Town View Fields works
Housing and 

Innovation
114,300 5,985 108,315 Work will start in October and is scheduled to complete in the year.

KAH13
Commuted Sums Affordable 

Housing

Housing and 

Innovation
146,000 0 146,000 146,000 No spend expected in 2017/18 due to timing of delivery partner's scheme.

KGD21 Mand Disabled Fac Grants
Housing and 

Innovation
661,000 294,135 366,865 Demand-led grant scheme. Expected spend £661k. 

KRT10 Right To Buy Replacement
Housing and 

Innovation
1,040,100 0 1,040,100 340,100

Expected spend of approximately £700k subject to progress with South 

Lakes Housing schemes

KCH01 Community Housing Fund
Housing and 

Innovation
490,000 0 490,000

Possible spend of half the £2.3m budget this year dependent upon site 

acquisitions identified by the LSH study due to be completed end Aug17. 

Also dependent on applications from community groups; meetings to be 

held with them Aug-Sept 2017.   

KXB27
Energy Saving Building 

Enhancement

Economy and 

Assets
149,200 0 149,200

Awaiting general asset review, incorporating SLH, Kendal and Ulverston 

depots, to determine best use of funds. 

5,186,340 1,202,844 3,983,496 728,400

KEG35
Flood Impact Works Rothay 

Park
Environment 433,460 117,970 315,490 New play area opened end of June. Other works to complete in September.

KRE61 Waterhead Public Jetty Environment 26,900 0 26,900 Being progressed by LSH; due to be completed in year.

KLC01
Leisure Centres inc KLC 

changing room refurbishment

Culture, Media 

and Leisure
487,000 125,000 362,000

Changing room refurbishment (£150k) will be completed in year, other 

works (roof, windows and cladding) to complete before Christmas.

KLL14 New Patrol Boat Lake Admin 5,000 0 5,000 Budget is for specific seats for boat and will be purchased in year.

KLL17 Ferry Nab redevelopment Lake Admin 45,900 95,256 -49,356 Complete, final account paid, virement to be organised to cover overspend.

KMR31 Festival Infrastructure
Culture, Media 

and Leisure
64,800 0 64,800

Pending further information from CCC around use of street lighting columns 

to support banners

KMR32
Wordsworth Trust 

contribution

Culture, Media 

and Leisure
42,000 0 42,000 42,000

Plans prepared and out for public consultation at the moment. Likley to be 

2018/19.

KNM51 Play Areas Environment 57,300 24,617 32,683
Projects will be determined winter 2017/18, may be some re-profiling into 

next year required.

KNM52 Sandylands Playground Environment 12,100 0 12,100 Final payment pending agreement with contractor.

KNM54 Rinkfield Playground Environment 91,450 88,003 3,447 Complete, awaiting invoice.

Total Strategic Development

Neighbourhood Services

P
age 48



AD/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Remaining 

Budget

£

re-profiling

£
Commentary 

KNM55 Hallgarth Phase 2 Environment 70,000 0 70,000
Scheme due to commence once other play projects completed, spend will 

be end of financial year.

KNM56 Millerground Play Project Environment 150,000 4,975 145,025
Path construction works Oct/Nov, playground installation to follow and may 

fall into next year.

KNM57
Play Space Audit 

Implementation
Environment 40,000 0 40,000 40,000

Requires approval from cabinet before work can take place. Work will be 

programmed to align with other play projects.

KNM58 Kendal Parks playground Environment 50,000 0 50,000
Tenders for works following consultation in Q3, works on site Q4. 

Completed works March/April 2018.

KNM59
Lightburn Park MUGA & 

playground
Environment 20,000 4,318 15,682

This funding to be transferred into 2018/19 when known and with full 

funding profile at Q3.

KPY38
Westmorland Shopping 

Centre Car Park 

Economy and 

assets
92,500 88,962 3,538

Office work under way and will complete in the next few weeks. Walkway to 

be finished before Christmas.

KPY43
Rydal Rd Car Park bridge 

works

Economy and 

assets
269,800 0 269,800 269,800

Repair to existing structure complete, any further works subject to options 

appraisal as part of 2018/19 budget process.

KPY44
Town and Car Park/public 

information Signs

Economy and 

assets
32,400 600 31,800 PSPO signs out for consultation. Start to roll out over winter.

KPY45
SLH Car Park - structural 

repair and re-surfacing works

Economy and 

assets
420,000 4,250 415,750 390,000

Work in September for immediate repairs, c. £30k. Full scheme is pending 

results of the general asset review and remainder of budget may require re-

profiling to 2018/19.

KPY46 Car Park Resurfacing
Economy and 

assets
180,000 7,275 172,725

Instruction with LSH - work covers Kents Bank Rd and Low Fold. 

Anticipated to be spent fully in year.

KRE65 The Glebe Planting Environment 50,000 0 50,000 Work will be done autumn 2017.

KLR31
Nobles Rest park 

improvements
Environment 193,400 0 193,400 Tenders due back early October, works to comence early 2018

KFL01 Footway Lighting Environment 39,500 0 39,500
Reactive work to footway lights as advised by CCC, subject to demand but 

unlikely to spend in full for 17/18

KSC91
Refurb Replace Recycled 

Bins
Environment 60,000 36,342 23,658 Replacement on-going as existing bins reach the end of their useful life.

KSC91 Vehicle Purchase Environment 1,624,000 29,861 1,594,139 Anticipate spending in full subject to procurement of 2 RRVs in year.

KEV01
Electric Vehicle Charging 

Point
Environment 40,000 0 40,000

Awaiting evaluation of the need for additional charging point in Kendal 

based on existing usage of current facilities.

KDP02 Kendal Depot Environment 175,000 0 175,000 175,000
Workshop developments being reviewed against wider strategic planning 

around the depot. 

4,772,510 627,430 4,145,080 916,800

11,165,024 2,248,233 8,916,791 1,765,200GRAND TOTAL

Total Neighbourhood Services

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 50



Treasury management update  APPENDIX 3 

The purpose of this appendix is to provide an update on Treasury Management activity 
up to 30 September 2017 
 
2017/18 Treasury Management Update to 30 September 2017 
 
1. The Council’s Treasury Management operation ensures cash flow during the year 

is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in line with the 
approved Investment Strategy. 

 
2. The second main function is to support the funding of the Council’s capital plans. 

The element of the capital programme that is not financed from external grants, 
capital receipts or other contributions, will add to the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR). This represents the underlying borrowing need of the Council. 
External borrowing needs to be consistent with the CFR. 

 
3. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement was approved on 22 

February 2017 along with the Treasury and Prudential Indicators. The Annual 
Investment Strategy sets out the Council’s investment priorities as being: Security 
(getting back the full principal invested), Liquidity (having access to cash when 
required) and Yield (return). The Council will aim to achieve the optimum yield on 
investments commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. 

 
Economic update  
 
4. At their meeting in September the MPC voted to keep rates at 0.25%. The next 

meeting is in November and recent comments by the Governor of the Bank of 
England and other members of the MPC, give rise to expectations of an increase 
in interest rates, due to high inflation which is currently running at 2.7%. 

5. However, Annual UK growth currently stands at 1.5% in quarter 2 of 2017 the 
slowest annual rate since 2013, casting doubt on the likelihood of a rate rise.  

6. Any rate rise, should it come, is expected to be limited and gradual, potentially 
seeing a reversal of the 0.25% cut made in August 2016. 

7. The negotiations on the UK’s exit from the European Union continues to impact on 
the markets, particularly to the strength of the pound. 

Capital expenditure and funding 

8. The opening Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) for 2017/18 was £17.2m (as per 
2016/17 accounts). The Council held long term PWLB loans of £12.8m at the end of 
the quarter. This increases the ‘under-borrowed’ position to £4.4m (using cash 
balances rather than taking on new loans). It is anticipated that c£1.7m of further 
‘prudential borrowing’ on the vehicle and plant programme will be incurred during 
2017/18. It is anticipated that cash balances will be used to meet this need rather than 
taking on actual new loans. This is a way to manage the external borrowing given the 
competing pressures of the current expense to repay borrowings early and the current 
difference between the interest rates on the Council’s borrowing cost and income from 
investments. 

 

Page 51



Treasury management update  APPENDIX 3 

9. The current premium level on the Council’s borrowing is circa 73% (i.e. £730k 
premium per £1m repaid), which would take around 19 years to repay. This has fallen 
slightly from quarter 1 where the rate was 84% and around 21 years to repay. 
Therefore at this rate it is not viable to make repayment. This will be kept under review 
as rates change and if repayment does become viable then, it may be possible for 
some core cash to be used to repay debt rather than being deposited in longer term 
investments. 

 
Borrowing and Prudential Indicators 
 
10. A full list of the Council’s approved Prudential Indicators is contained within Treasury 

Management Framework report to Council 22 February 2017. In terms of limits on 
external debt, the Council has an operational boundary and an authorised limit (which 
must not be breached) on external debt. Table 1 summarises this and shows that as 
at the end of quarter 1, these limits had not been breached. 

 
Table 1: Borrowing Limits 
 

 £m 

Actual borrowing 12.800 

Authorised limit 24.489 

Operational boundary 18.800 

 
11. In addition, the Council has approved limits on the maturity profile and interest 

structure (proportion of fixed and variable rate loans) of borrowings. The portfolio 
remains as 100% fixed maturity PWLB loans due to mature in more than 10 years, 
which is within the approved limits. 

 
12. Importantly, both gross and net borrowings (borrowings less investments) are below 

the CFR. This is a key indicator as it shows that the Authority is not borrowing to fund 
revenue activities or borrowing to lend-on.  
  

Page 52



Treasury management update  APPENDIX 3 

Investment Portfolio 
 
13. Graph 1 below shows the movement on the Councils investment portfolio between 

01/04/17 and 30/09/17. 
 
Graph 1 Investment Portfolio Balances  
 

 
 
14. The Council held £27.9m of investments as at 30 September. £17.9m of this related to 

cash flow investments. These support the day to day cash needs of the Council.  
£10m were core investments, these are funds that are not required to support day to 
day cash requirements and so can be deposited on a longer term basis. 

 
15. Performance to date is summarised in the table below. These are benchmarked 

against the London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) that best matches the duration of the 
investments. For example, Call investments can be called back the same day and so 
the overnight LIBID rate is the bench mark. All investments are currently outperforming 
their benchmark. 

 
Table 2 Performance 
 

 Average 
Return 

Benchmark 
Rate 

Variance 

Call Operational 0.19% 0.10% 0.09% 

Fixed Operational 0.35% 0.18% 0.17% 

Fixed Core (Long Term) 0.84% 0.32% 0.52% 

 
16. At the end of quarter 2 the Council had cash flow investments of £17.9m. These 

investments are generally held on a short term basis with duration being dependant on 
daily cash flows, such as timing of precept payments, receipt of grants and progress 
on the capital programme.  
 
 
 

Page 53



Treasury management update  APPENDIX 3 

17. Table 3 provides a breakdown of investments and Graph 2 shows the maturity profile 
of these investments. 
 

Table 3 Summary of Cash Flow Investments 
 

Counterparty £000 

Handelsbanken  1,100 

BlackRock Money Market Fund 2,100 

CCLA Money Market Fund 700 

Bank of Scotland 2,000 

Cumberland Building Society 1,000 

Newcastle Building Society 1,000 

Principality Building Society 2,000 

Skipton Building Society 2,000 

Santander 2,000 

West Bromwich Building Society 2,000 

UK Treasury Bills 2,000 

Total 17,900 

 
Graph 2 Maturity Profile of Cash Flow investments 

 

 
 
 

18. The Council has earned £30k in interest, £23k from fixed investments and £7k in call 
investments. Representing annualised returns of 0.19% & 0.35% respectively, which 
are 0.09% and 0.17% over the relevant benchmarks. 

 
19. Core balances are invested over a longer term than operational balances, typically 

between 6 months and 3 years depending on the approved counterparty time and 
money limits. 

 
20. Table 4 below summarises the core investments held and Graph 3 shows the maturity 

profile of these investments. 

Page 54



Treasury management update  APPENDIX 3 

 Table 4 Summary of Core Investments  
 

Counterparty  £000 

Lancashire County Council 3,000 

Goldman Sachs 2,000 

Nationwide Building Society 2,000 

Guildford Borough Council 2,000 

Royal Bank of Scotland CD 1,000 

Total 10,000 

 
Graph 3 Maturity Profile of Long Term Investments 
 

 
 
21. The Council has earned £42k on long term investments to date. This represents an 

annualised return of 0.62% on fixed investments, which is 0.84% over relevant bench 
marks. 

 
Other risk management issues 
 
22. Officers are reviewing the impact of changes to the CIPFA Treasury and Prudential 

Codes, the introduction new accounting standards (IFRS 9) and the Markets in 
Financial Instruments Directive (MIFID) II. Although they may place some additional 
burden on the Council to ensure compliance with new requirements, these should not 
lead to major changes to current practices. 

 
Conclusions 
 
23. To date the Council’s investments have performed well against market expectations. 

There are some indications that a limited and gradual increase of bank rate may occur 
during this financial year. 

 
24. All investment activity has been within the approved limits. Investment return continues 

to outperform the benchmarks in the current environment. Borrowing is not expected 
to increase and no repayment is planned at the current time due to market conditions. 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Procurement Schedule Additions 2017-18

October 2017
APPENDIX 4

TITLE START DATE END DATE Responsible Officer Portfolio Holder DESCRIPTION OF CONTRACT Review Date

EXTENSION (if 

applicable) EST.VALUE £

PROCUREMENT 

PROCESS DECISION ROUTE CONTRACT TYPE

100 Laptops 01/04/2017 31/03/2018 Henderson, Stuart Jonathan Brook

Purchase of Laptops during the year via the CCS 

Framework agreement RM3733 Technology 

Products 2 Lot 6 Catalogue N/A 10-100K Framework Administration One-off

Allhallow Church Repairs - Consultant to 

manage repairs 01/05/2017 30/06/2017 Thomas, Sion Graham Vincent

Consultants to manage the structural repairs 

required under the dangerous structures order N/A <10K

Bloom 

Procurement 

Services Administration One-off

Allhallows Church Repairs 01/11/2017 31/03/2018 Thomas, Sion Graham Vincent Repairs to Allhallows Church. N/A 10-100K Quotes Administration One-off

Arboriculture Contracting Framework 01/04/2018 31/03/2020 Nicholson, Graham David Fletcher

Provide Arboricultural Contracting services for 

programmed and emergency call out works 

throughout South Lakeland. Works to include all 

Arboricultural works including stump grinding 01/03/2019 N/A 100K-OJEU Tender Cabinet New Contract

Broadgate Meadow, Grasmere Adult Gym 

Equipment 01/04/2017 31/03/2018 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

To install Adult Gym equipment at Broadgate 

Meadow, Grasmere N/A <10K Framework Administration One-off

Broadgate Meadow, Grasmere Playground 

Improvement 01/04/2018 31/03/2019 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

To carry out playground improvements at 

Broadgate Meadow, Grasmere N/A 10-100K Framework Cabinet One-off

Cash Collection Service 01/11/2017 31/10/2021 Flannigan, Frankie Graham Vincent Transportation of the Car Park Cash to the bank N/A 10-100K Framework Administration New Contract

Disposal of Green Waste (Ulverston) 01/04/2018 31/03/2020 Florentine, Paul David Fletcher

Contract for the disposal of green garden waste 

collected from 18,000 households in the 

Ulverston area 31/03/2019 N/A 100K-OJEU Exemption Cabinet New Contract

Disposal of Recyclables (Ulverston) 01/04/2018 31/03/2020 Florentine, Paul David Fletcher

Contract for the disposal and sale of recyclable 

materials collected from households in the 

Ulverston area 31/03/2019 2 Years 100K-OJEU Tender Cabinet New Contract

Election Printing 01/04/2018 31/03/2021 McVey, Simon Brenda Gray Election printing services 01/04/2020 1 year OJEU Tender Cabinet New Contract

Fire Appliances 01/07/2017 30/06/2020 Lambert Smith Hampton Giles Archibald Provision of fire appliances 30/06/2019 N/A <10K Quotes Administration Contract Renewal

Hayclose Road- Howe Bank Play area 01/11/2017 27/04/2018 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

To replace the current play equipment with a 

Toddler park N/A 10-100K Framework Administration One-off

Housing Benefit Audit for Financial Years 

2018/19-2023/24 01/01/2019 31/12/2024 Smith, Helen Giles Archibald

To carry out Housing Benefit audits for financial 

years 2018/19-2023/24 N/A 10-100K Exemption Cabinet New Contract

Kendal Parks Road Play Area 01/11/2017 28/04/2018 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

To replace and install new play equipment 

suitable for under 16's N/A 10-100K Framework

Delegated Executive 

Decision One-off

Kendal Parks, Kendal Playground 

Improvements 01/04/2017 31/03/2018 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

Improvements to the Playground at Kendal 

Parks, Kendal N/A 10-100K Framework

On Procurement 

Schedule One-off

Leaf Sweeping Sedbergh Dent and 

surrounds 01/11/2017 31/10/2020 Maguire, Jim David Fletcher

Contract to carry out a minimum of 2 sweeps of 

leafs and general detritus within the 

Sedbergh/Dent and surrounding Parishes as 

required by legislation.  Current requirement to 

sweep all A and B roads and the streets around 

the two major settlements during the Autumn, 

Winter and Spring each year.  01/05/2018 N/A 10-100K Exemption

Delegated Executive 

Decision One-off

Learning Management System 01/02/2018 31/01/2021 Barker, Jane Brenda Gray Purchase of Learning Management System 31/01/2020 N/A 10-100K Quotes Administration New Contract

Legionella Water Monitoring & Risk 

Assessments 01/09/2013 31/08/2017 Lambert Smith Hampton Graham Vincent

Legionella Water Monitoring & Risk 

Assessments  31/08/2016 N/A 10-100K Quotes Administration Contract Renewal

Lightburn Park, Ulverston - Masterplan 

Phase 1 - Pathways 01/04/2017 31/03/2018 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

Lightburn Park, Ulverston Masterplan Phase 1 - 

MUGA & Pathways N/A 10-100K Framework

Delegated Executive 

Decision One-off

Millerground Paths - Building Contractor 01/10/2017 31/03/2018 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

To find a building contractor to carry out the 

work on the paths at Millerground N/A 10-100K Tender

Delegated Executive 

Decision One-off

P
age 57



Procurement Schedule Additions 2017-18

October 2017
APPENDIX 4

Nobles Rest Paths, Drainage and Landscape 

Works 01/08/2017 31/03/2018 Clarke, Deborah David Fletcher

Implementation of phase one of the Nobles Rest 

Masterplan, works include drainage, footpath 

and access improvements and landscaping N/A 100K-OJEU Quotes Cabinet One-off

Purchase 2 Recycling Recovery Vehicle (RRV) 01/12/2017 31/03/2018 Maguire, Jim David Fletcher

The purchase of 2 x RRV in order to provide1. 

capacity within the existing rounds; and

2. to fulfil recycling collections from the 2% of 

remote properties where access is difficult 

and in order to comply with policy of 100% 

collection of 5 stream (Glass, Paper, Cans, 

Cardboard and Plastics) recycling from all 

properties N/A >OJEU Framework Cabinet One-off

Recycling Bring Sites 01/10/2017 31/03/2018 Florentine, Paul David Fletcher

6-month extension period for existing contract 

to allow for re-procurement exercise. 31/12/2017 N/A 10-100K Waiver Administration Contract Renewal

Site Specific Viability Assessment Audit 25/09/2017 12/11/2017 Shipman, Mark Jonathan Brook

Site specific viability assessment to support the 

proposed development details that do not 

accord with planning policy. N/A 10-100K

Bloom 

Procurement 

Services Administration One-off

Temporary Agency Staff 01/04/2018 31/08/2022 Reay, Andrew Brenda Gray Provision of Temporary Agency Staff 31/08/2021 N/A >OJEU Tender Cabinet New Contract

Valuation of Museum Collection 01/11/2017 31/10/2022 Smith, Helen Giles Archibald Valuation of Museum Artefacts N/A 10-100K Tender Cabinet New Contract

Water 01/12/2017 30/11/2019 Lambert Smith Hampton Graham Vincent Water services 01/11/2019 1 year 10-100K Framework Cabinet New contract

P
age 58



1 

South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27 October 2017 

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 
2017/18 and Portfolio Holder Reports for Culture, 

Media and Leisure and Environment 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Brenda Gray – Council Organisation and 
People Portfolio Holder 

Councillor Matt Severn - Culture, Media and Leisure 
Portfolio Holder 

Councillor David Fletcher - Environment Portfolio Holder 

REPORT FROM: Simon McVey - Assistant Director Performance and 
Innovation 

REPORT AUTHOR: John Davies - Performance and Risk Officer 

WARDS: Not applicable 

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 Monitoring the success of the Council Plan through scorecards informs 
improvements and ensures Council services address the needs of residents in an 
open and transparent way. Influenced by the three key values as set out in the 
current Council Plan, this report sets out the Council Plan Priority Performance 
Scorecards.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee note: 

(1) the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report;  

(2) the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1;  

(3) the two Portfolio Holder reports within Appendix 2; and  

Considers whether it wishes to make any representations or recommendations 
to Cabinet. 

Page 59

Item No.9



2 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Council is committed to delivering high quality, cost effective services that meet 
the needs of residents and improves quality of life.  To help achieve our goals, we 
measure performance frequently.  The performance management process helps us 
to demonstrate how well we are doing. 

3.2 A Performance Summary is provided below highlighting areas of significantly good or 
poor performance regarding the measures of success and ambitions set out in the 
current Council Plan. Detailed performance information can be viewed via the link in 
‘Background Documents’ below. 

3.3 Benchmarking information is provided for quarter one each year and allows the 
Council to compare its own performance with that of fifteen other statistically similar 
Councils – using the CIPFA Nearest Neighbours Model. Information is sourced from 
the Local Government Association. 

3.4 The Portfolio Holder Reports for Culture, Media and Leisure and Environment within 
appendix 2 provide an update and forward look for 2017/18 for these portfolio areas. 

3.5 Summary of Performance 

 
3.5.1  South Lakeland District Council aims to make South Lakeland the best place to live, 

work and explore. To achieve this the Council Plan focuses on four priorities - 

economy, housing, environment and culture and wellbeing.  

3.5.2  Success with these priorities is dependent on a number of factors. For example 

average wages is a key factor and can influence health, wellbeing and access to 

housing. Housing affordability is also an important factor - influencing fuel poverty 

and homelessness and people’s health and wellbeing. The factors are measurable 

and so their positive or negative trends can be shown for South Lakeland. 

3.5.3  In compiling the following text it has become obvious that good wages and affordable 

housing are a priority – and that the very factors that make South Lakeland a 

desirable place for tourists affect every aspect of life here. Without good wages and 

affordable housing there will continue to be deprivation next to areas of great wealth. 

3.5.4 All outstanding recommendations and requests for action made by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee are listed in this report. This allows Members to monitor progress 

with their recommendations and requests. 

3.5.5 The following paragraphs describe the issues and factors that influence the lives of 

people of South Lakeland. 

Household Income in South Lakeland 

3.5.6  Wage levels are regarded as an important factor for positive health and wellbeing. 

Sufficient income allows access to housing and also supports good health.  

 The mandatory National Living Wage is £7.50 for people of age 25 years or over. The 

National Minimum Wage is £6.70 for people of age 21 to 24 years. 

3.5.7 The percentage of full time jobs is significantly less in South Lakeland than regionally 

or Great Britain – and the percentage of part time jobs is significantly greater than the 

region or Great Britain. Jobs density data for 2015 shows that there is about one job 

Page 60



3 

per person of working age in South Lakeland however this figure includes the 

unusually high proportion of part time employee jobs. Whilst tourism provides a large 

number of jobs in South Lakeland salaries are less than half the national average. 

Low paid jobs result in people on low incomes in a high cost area. 

3.5.8  Levels of education and qualifications influence household income. Cumbria Local 

Enterprise Partnership estimates that 40% of potential employees are qualified to 

Level 4 or degree level. In 2016 The proportion of people with NVQ level 4 or above 

is 39.5% (GB 38.2%), NVQ level 3 is 61.9% (GB 56.9%), NVQ level 2 at 80.2% (GB 

74.3%), NVQ level 1 at 92.2% (GB 85.3%.) The number of people without 

qualifications has fallen to about 3600 people in 2016. Skills shortages and the 

difficulty of getting to work on public transport in a rural area can hold back growth 

and the economy.  

 In South Lakeland the age 16-64 population is predicted to fall by 8,500 in the next 

20 years - and the 65+ age population is forecast to increase by 9,700. The 1-15 age 

group is predicted to reduce by 1,000. The total population is forecast to remain 

about the same at 103,300. 

 The Council’s Economy and Development Team work with education establishments 

to promote qualifications that match future jobs – by encouraging dialogue with 

businesses. Note that creating higher value jobs requires higher qualified people. 

Recommendation as accepted by Cabinet on 30/08/17  

Recommendation to further greater cohesion for South Lakeland, consideration 

be given to any reasonable partnership arrangements which are likely to further 

the economic benefits of the area. 

 

3.5.9  The number of people in employment and the number of jobs available per person is 

also significantly better than the region or Great Britain. However over the last few 

years the percentage of households where no one works has increased slightly. 

Modelled unemployment levels are falling and also indicate a significantly better 

result than the region or Great Britain. During 2017 self-employment accounted for 

17.4% of people in work or available for work. This is significantly higher than 

regionally 9.2% and Great Britain 10.6%.  

 The Council’s Economy and Development Team promote support to businesses with 

the aim of protecting and increasing the number of jobs. 

3.6.0  Inflation rises are impacting on household incomes in South Lakeland. Full time 

weekly earnings for people working in South Lakeland have increased by 10% from 

£440 in 2010 to £484 in 2016 (less than Cumbria £523 and Great Britain £503.) This 

increase is significantly less than the rise in the overall Consumer Price Inflation 

which has risen from 93.6 in 2011 to a current 103.8 an increase in inflation of nearly 

11%. Although part time earnings are increasing, people working in the area were 

earning £170 per week in 2015. Part Time pay for women working in the area is 

increasing at a significantly lower rate than full time pay for both men and women.  

Page 61



4 

3.6.1  Pay inequality also affect earners in South Lakeland. For men living in the area 

weekly full time pay at nearly £570 (Great Britain £581) is significantly higher than for 

women at nearly £477 (Great Britain £481.) Lower pay and higher percentages of 

part time work for women in South Lakeland may lead to poverty in some 

households. For 2016 men employed in the area earned full time weekly pay at £530 

(hourly pay £14.25, Great Britain £580) which is significantly higher than for women 

at £403 (hourly pay £12.86, Great Britain £480.) Inequalities appear to be national 

and may be reduced by national policies. 

3.6.2  Cumbria is the second most sparsely populated county in England and the time taken 

to reach essential services such as schools, doctors, hospitals, shops and 

social/leisure facilities can be significantly longer. Rural communities often have slow 

internet speeds and this limits the ability to run an online business or work from 

home. 

Affordability and Provision of Housing in South Lakeland 

3.6.3  For people with or less than the median household income in South Lakeland of 

£31,189 it is very difficult if not impossible to save up for a deposit and then buy a 

house at the median price of £214,689 and mean price of £259,887. The overall 

affordability score for housing in Cumbria is 6.4 and for South Lakeland the average 

score is much less affordable at 9.2. Of Cumbria’s 166 electoral wards the least 

affordable housing scores are found within the Lake District National Park in 

Windermere Applethwaite and Troutbeck ward at 12.1 (median price £392,118) and 

Ambleside and Grasmere at 10.3 and Hawkshead at 9.9 (median price £396,602.) 

Houses in some parts of South Lakeland cost 12 times the annual household income 

levels. The 2011 census shows that 8,628 people reported that they had a second 

address located within South Lakeland - this was the greatest number out of 

Cumbria’s six LA districts and puts South Lakeland in an undesirable 325th place out 

of 348 LAs within England and Wales.  

 The Development Strategy and Housing Service report that there is a comprehensive 

enabling programme for housing – and that this includes grant aiding for affordable 

homes. Development sites are promoted to the Lake District National Park Authority. 

There may also be opportunities for closer working with housing associations on site 

promotion. A new Strategic Housing Market Assessment will be available soon with 

an updated picture of the housing need in South Lakeland. 

3.6.4  The Lake District National Park has some of the highest percentages of second 

homes in England. In Coniston over half the houses are now second or holiday 

homes – a common position for several South Lakeland Villages. The 2011 Census 

shows that South Lakeland ranked 6th highest LA nationally for ranked rate of people 

with a second address located in the area (rate per 1,000 usual residents) and also 

ranked 3rd highest for the rate of people with a second address in the area for 

holiday purposes. Second homes drive up house prices making it very difficult for 

people on median wages to begin owning a home.  

Page 62



5 

Median property prices across South Lakeland are almost seven times average 

annual household incomes and in parts are 12 times more. This means that some 

very wealthy areas sit alongside places where it is a struggle to afford housing.  

In South Lakeland 2974 households are currently registered on the local social 

housing waiting list – estimated at between 5710 and 6543 people. In South 

Lakeland the proportion of social rented housing is very significantly less at 10.4% 

when compared with 18.3% regionally and 17.7% for England* - 2011 Census. At the 

time of census there were a total of 4853 social houses in the district. *Census data 

provides England as a comparison for local results. 

In South Lakeland alone there are about 4000 holiday lets and about 2000 second 

homes. There has been a very large 25% increase in 420 holiday lets, and 100 

second homes in the last four years. Under the government's 2011 Localism Act 

more than 80% of residents in St Ives voted to reserve new homes for full-time 

residents and was ruled by High Court as lawful. New affordable homes have 

increased by 341 in the last 3 ½ years. 

In 2016 there were 54830 dwellings in South Lakeland with 2102 properties vacant 

and of these 827 properties long term vacant. Vacant properties are reducing 

gradually however a survey of Lakes Parish suggests that nearly 70% then become 

second homes or holiday homes. Second home ownership has grown in Britain in 

recent decades - and has seen a sharp rise recently. The Development Strategy and 

Housing Service work to bring empty homes back into use. 

Recommendation as accepted by Cabinet on 30/08/17  

Recommendation for further evidence for reducing vacant properties and second 

homes be provided to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and consideration be 

given to increasing the target for reducing empty homes 

  

3.6.5 Housing Benefit and Council tax Reduction processing speeds are on or within their 

targets for new claims (actual 24.1 days, target 24 days) and changes of 

circumstance (actual 6 days, target 9 days). The Council Tax/NNDR processing 

speed for high priority changes of 4.2 days is within the 5 day target.  Determining 

applications are at 19.3 days and changes of circumstances are at 23.3 days, both 

outside the 14 day target.  However, overall an additional 850 work items were dealt 

with during Q1 than during Q1 last year. In addition a much greater volume of 

Council Tax calls have been taken within the department this year due to the Contact 

Centre being very busy with two elections in May and June. Measures are being 

taken to improve this performance. 

3.6.6  Efficiency with the planning applications process helps to support the affordable 

housing supply. Performance with granting Major, Minor and Other planning 

applications is significantly ahead of target. Since 2015 the Council has enabled the 

building of 341 affordable houses and this is on target to meet the 1000 new 

affordable homes by 2025.  

Page 63



6 

3.6.7  In South Lakeland the affordability of living and working is shown by the change in 

population age group numbers over the last ten years. Children aged 0-14 years 

have reduced in number by 7% whilst national numbers have increased by about 6%. 

The 15-29 age group shows no increase against an England increase of over 7%. 

The 30-44 age group has reduced in number by over 20% compared to an England 

reduction of about 5%. The 45-59 age group has increased by nearly 5% compared 

to an England increase of about 12%. The 75-84 age group has increased more than 

England and the 85+ age group significantly more. 

Health and Wellbeing in South Lakeland 

3.6.8  Insufficient wages and / or high housing costs contribute to health and welfare 

outcomes.  

3.6.9  In South Lakeland there are 1275 children in low income households (2014) – this 

means the number of under 16s children living in families in receipt of out of work 

benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% median income. 

Poverty negatively impacts on healthy diet, taking part in activities and living 

conditions. This may mean being cold, having a poor diet or not enough to eat, being 

excluded from activities which friends take for granted and rarely if ever going on 

holiday. Child poverty strongly influences educational attainment, employment and 

earnings.  

 South Lakeland works with partners on the Building Financial Resilience Group to 

tackle poverty by introducing proactive and collaborative action. A strategic level 

action plan is to be agreed during 2017. 

3.7.0  In South Lakeland there are 5620 households with high heating costs and low 

income leading to fuel poverty – this is 11.9% of households. Although there is a 

reducing trend this is significantly above the England average of 10.6%. Within 

Cumbria this is equal highest with Carlisle for the number of households affected. 

Fuel poverty is exacerbated by old houses with poor insulation.  

3.7.1  The average health status score for adults aged 65 and over is 0.77 in South 

Lakeland. Although this has reduced recently it is still better than the England 

average of 0.733. This shows that although there has been a reduction in recent 

years South Lakeland has better health in older life than on average across England. 

The scores across England range from a low score of 0.628 to a high score of 0.8. 

This data is for the 2015/16 period. The life expectancy gap for women living in 

deprivation is 4.3 years whilst for men living in deprivation the gap is 3.2 years. 

3.7.2  Estimates show that the Council is on target to achieve 1000 new jobs in the area by 

2025. Since 01/01/14 an estimated 355 new jobs have been created in South 

Lakeland. It is estimated that 25 new jobs were created in the 2nd quarter of 

2017/18. The median household income in South Lakeland is £31,189, this means 

the combined income of people that live together in a house. 

Health and wellbeing outcomes are also directly influenced by smoking, alcohol, 

obesity, crime and the environment. Despite a reducing trend over the last few years 

smoking within South Lakeland has shown an increase from 10.5% in 2015 to 12.5% 

Page 64



7 

in 2016. Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions increased from 600 in 

2008/09 to peak at 775 in 2013/14 and reducing to 558 in 2015/16. This latest result 

is significantly better than England or regional results, it should be noted that in 

2015/16 more men (372) were admitted than women (288).  

In South Lakeland the hospital admissions rate for alcohol-specific conditions for 

children aged 0-17 years was 78.5 per 100,000 population - from 2013/14 to 

2015/16. This is significantly higher than Carlisle at 44.4 and England at 37.4 per 

100,000 population. Excessive alcohol consumption can negatively affect teenage 

brain development.  

For adults drinking above the recommended weekly levels (Men 50 units, Women 35 

units) increases the risk of cancer, liver cirrhosis and heart disease. It also effects 

families, including relationship breakdown, domestic abuse and impoverishment. 

South Lakeland works with the Community Safety Partnership and the Alcohol 

Subgroup on initiatives to reduce alcohol abuse. This includes raising awareness in 

schools across South Lakeland and involving key partners such as Cumbria Alcohol 

and Drug Advisory Service. 

3.7.3  In South Lakeland the percent of adults with excess weight is 61.3%. Children aged 

4-5 is 21%. Children aged 10-11 is 32%. People who are obese are much more likely 

to develop high blood pressure and diabetes and the risk of premature death is about 

the same as heavy smoking. Diabetes UK reports that the number of diabetes-

related amputations in England is now at an all-time high, with more than 8,500 

procedures being carried out each year. This equates to more than 160 minor and 

major amputations per week. It is estimated that across Cumbria the percentage of 

people with obesity will increase by 26% over 10 years. 

3.7.4  Also influencing wellbeing the total number of crimes has been lower for each quarter 

in 2016/17 when compared to each quarter in 2015/16. Domestic abuse incidents 

have been slightly higher each quarter during 2016/17 compared with 2015/16. 

2015/16 saw lower numbers than usual. Increasing numbers show that victims have 

confidence in reporting domestic abuse - it takes on average 37 abuses before 

victims ask for help. If left unchecked abusive behaviour can be passed on to the 

next generation in a family. Abuse can be physical, psychological, emotional, sexual 

or financial in nature. 

 South Lakeland works with the Community Safety Partnership and its Domestic 

Abuse Operations Group on initiatives to bring about early interventions. 

3.7.5  South Lakeland is in 12th place of 348 local authority districts in England & Wales for 

the number of older residents aged 65+ years – the age group most at risk from 

dementia. The rate of increase in numbers of people in this age category is also 

particularly significant within South Lakeland. Within Cumbria South Lakeland has 

the highest proportion of people registered with dementia on its GP Registers.  

3.7.6  In South Lakeland, levels of people living with a long term health problem or disability 

is greater than the national average. Numbers of people with depression are 

projected to increase and South Lakeland has a suicide rate of 12.9 per 100,000 

population compared with England at 10.1 per 100,000. South Lakeland has the 

Page 65



8 

second highest suicide rate in Cumbria. South Lakeland has the second highest 

number of referrals to Older Adults specialist mental health services. South Lakeland 

has high proportions of older people living in rural areas.  

3.7.7  Cumbria is the second most sparsely populated county in England and difficulty in 

accessing services via transport links disproportionately affects older people. 

Reduced budgets for bus services can have a greater impact on older people and 

low income families. Very often rural communities have slow internet speeds and 

patchy mobile phone coverage – further limiting ability to shop, pay online or earn 

income/work from home. 

South Lakeland’s roads see nearly 40% more people killed or seriously injured when 

compared with the North West and the UK. South Lakeland has accidents well above 

the national average at 63.3 people per 100,000 population compared with the UK at 

38.5 per 100,000 population. 

Department of Transport data shows that in Great Britain the main causes of fatalities 

and serious injuries are: speeding, too fast for conditions, bad manoeuvre, failed to 

look properly, failed to judge other person’s path or speed, loss of control, following 

to close, reckless or in hurry, pedestrian error, alcohol and mental or physical 

disability. The most common driver error combinations appear to be failing to look 

properly and poor turns / manoeuvring. Department of Transport data also shows 

that the number of accidents on A roads and C roads vastly outweigh accidents on 

motorways and B roads. The great majority of accidents involve cars - followed in 

number by pedestrians, then motorcycles and pedal cycles. 66% of all accidents 

involve the 16-59 year age group. 

3.7.8  Older people can be nearly three times more likely to report feeling lonely than those 

online – especially if they have lost a partner, live far away from relatives, have 

mobility problems or are struggling financially. Loneliness is thought to be twice as 

harmful as obesity and can lead to cardiovascular disease, stroke, stress, poor 

memory, poor decisions, alcohol and drug abuse and faster progression of dementia. 

Cumbria County Council predicts a significant rise in the level of need for care and 

support services – at a time when budgets and services are under pressure.  

3.7.9 The Environment is safeguarded by increasing recycling and reducing carbon 

emissions. At the moment South Lakeland recycles just under 43% of waste 

collected – comparing with 31-52% collected across the region and equal with just 

under 43% for England*. Plastic and cardboard kerbside collection was expanded to 

97% of households 2016. *The Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 

‘Waste and recycling statistics’ use England as the large scale comparison. 

The delivery of the Council Plan is influenced by our three key values which are 

about empowering people, excellence and being open and transparent. 

Page 66



9 

3.8.0 Strategic Risk Register – Appendix 1 

All strategic risks in their current stage of development are visible within appendix 1. 
There are 6 strategic risks above the Council’s tolerance for risk and these are being 
managed effectively.  The Strategic Risks have been reviewed in line with risk 
management arrangements.  

Risks summary this quarter 

Total number of risks: 14 

New risks: 1 (Risk 17: Cyber Security) 

Archived Risks: 0 

Risks above tolerance:  6 (reviewed every quarter) 

Risks below tolerance:   7 (reviewed annually at quarter 4) 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 This report details measures of success against each of the priorities within the 
Council Plan.  These have been consulted on extensively prior to the Plan being 
adopted by Full Council. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 No alternative options – the purpose of the report is to receive a performance update, 
and Portfolio Holder report. The Council must note successes, monitor progress and 
take action where appropriate. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 Reporting measures of success on the Council Plan for the period 2015/16. 

6.2 The report is directly linked to the following Council Plan commitment to ensure that 
the Council is equipped to provide the best, most cost effective services. 

6.3 Details regarding performance monitoring are published in line with the Council’s 
current Performance Management Framework. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. However, strategic 
risks can relate to financial issues and are considered as part of the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan, budget preparation and monitoring process. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no human resources implications associated with this report. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 

Page 67



10 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1 Reporting performance has a positive impact on health, social, economic and 
environmental needs. 

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

Reporting performance has a positive 
impact on health, social, economic and 
environmental needs. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1 Reporting performance has a positive impact on equality and diversity needs. 

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Equality 
Impact Analysis, please explain your 
reasons. 

Reporting performance has a positive 
impact on equality and diversity needs. 

 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

For indicators and 
performance measures 
not to be monitored, 
corrective action is not 
identified early. 

Ambitions as set out in the 
Council Plan are not 
achieved. 

Recommendations for 
corrective action are 
implemented. 

Good performance is not 
acknowledged. 

Poor morale and 
performance culture. 

Successes are recognised 
and celebrated. 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author – John Davies, Performance and Risk Officer, 01539 733333, 
rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk  

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix No.  

1 Strategic Risk Register 

2 Portfolio Holder Report for Culture, Media and Leisure and 
Environment 

Page 68

mailto:rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk


11 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Detailed Performance information on the Council’s website 

Council Plan 

Performance Management Framework 

Risk Management Arrangements 

Link to CIPFA website and description of Nearest Neighbours Model 

Link to benchmarking data at Local Government Association 

Link to economy data from Office for National Statistics Official Labour Market Statistics 

Link to health data from Public Health England Public Health Outcomes Framework  

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio Holder Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

25/09/17 13/10/17 25/09/17 12/10/17 27/10/17 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

 Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

29/11/17   25/09/17 25/09/17 

HR Manager Leader Ward 
Councillor(s)  

  

25/09/17     

 

Page 69

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-business/performance-measures/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/your-council/council-documents/council-plan/performance/
http://www.cipfastats.net/default_view.asp?content_ref=8193
http://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=185&mod-period=1&mod-area=E07000031&mod-group=South_Lakeland_CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&modify-report=Apply
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157080/report.aspx?#idbr
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/101/are/E07000031/iid/92311/age/1/sex/4


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



Appendix 1 
 

1 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 

Strategic Risks Register - Quarter 2, 2017/18 
 

 
Introduction 
 
Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify, 
prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services. This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for 
money and also continuity of services.  
 
Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are 
considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could have a wide impact or require senior management control. 
 
This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Senior Management Team. Risks above the line of tolerance are a priority and 
so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below tolerance are reviewed once a year. 
 
Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time. 
 

P
age 71



Appendix 1 
 

2 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 

A summary of the risks contained within this report 
 
Performance – 2 risks above risk tolerance 
Good performance is vital if value for money services are to be provided. For example Risk 2 has a focus on contractual performance, ensuring that all 
major service delivery contacts are robust in terms of the required performance. Risk 13 controls and manages the introduction of new projects to 
ensure the delivery of priority projects - whilst Risk 14 (above risk tolerance) mitigates against the unintended consequeces brought about by the 
continual process of introducing internal improvements and efficiencies. Risk 15 (above risk tolerance) recognises the challenge involved with a major 
change to the way the council delivers services – the Customer Connect Programme. 
 
Performance via partnership working – 1 risk above risk tolerance 
Partnership working is recognised an an area of risk as it presents specific challenges of it own.  For example Risk 8 is about delivering the priorities for 
local infrastructure via partnership working and Risk 9 (above risk tolerance) is about the formation of new Strategic Health Partnerships and ensuring 
the best outcome for South Lakeland residents. Risk 4 is about affordable housing targets and this is a priority need within South Lakeland. 
 
Protecting the public – 2 risks above risk tolerance 
Many of the Councils services protect the public – for example Risk 3 ensures that strategic Business Continuity arrangements are effective - meaning 
that in a crisis the Council can always provide critical services for residents. Risk 7 focuses on data protection and information security – protecting 
residents personal details and information. Health and Safety arrangements also protect the public and Risk 12 (above risk tolerance) ensures that 
worksite health and safety checks are recorded for contractors on site. Also Risk 16 (above risk tolerance) ensures that health and safety mitigations 
for reversing on waste collection rounds are implemented on schedule. Risk 5, allows the Council to keep a whatching brief on welfare reforms and 
what impact this may have on residents in South Lakeland. 
 
Financial – 1 risk above risk tolerance 
Risk 6 (above risk tolerance) allows the council to monitor the constant challenge of maintaining a balanced budget - in the face of uncertainty over 
future funding. 

 
 

 
 

P
age 72



Appendix 1 
 

3 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 

How to understand this report: 
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. 
 
The risk matrix - risks are prioritised by considering their degree of likelihood and impact: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next page shows how the information for each risk is presented.
 

 
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

  

x 
 

Low 

 

x 
  

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are 
unacceptable and require quarterly mitigation and 
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks.  
 

Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are 
acceptable and require an annual review in quarter four. 
 

P
age 73



Appendix 1 
 

4 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

How to understand the layout of each risk in this report 
 

  

Risk No. & Name 
The risk name is a concise and clear title for the risk 
 
Description 
A description of the circumstances which help to generate risk 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the future 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the completion 
of mitigations. 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

A mitigation is an action which is designed 
to reduce or eliminate the risk.  The 
mitigation can improve the likelihood or 
impact of the risk. 

A short update on progress made 
with the mitigation 

The person responsible for 
progressing the mitigation 

Mitigations should be implemented 
by their due dates for the risk to be 
improved effectively. 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For each risk a history of risk review and improvement is shown: 
RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  a risk review indicates that there is now less risk 
RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑  =  a risk review indicates that there is now more risk 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔  =  a risk review indicates that there is the same level of risk 
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  a newly identified risk is entered onto this register 

  Risk Owner The person with sufficient authority to control this risk  Portfolio the Portfolio that this risk is relevant to  

 

P
age 74



Appendix 1 
 

5 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

Strategic Risks Register 
 

  Risk 1 was archived during quarter 1 2016/17 
 

  

Risk 2 

Contracts do not deliver the standards of performance required 
within the contract fee agreed. 
 
Description 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance. 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Risk 
ownership is allocated to each Assistant Director. 
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review is Q4 2016/17 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review is Q4 
2016/17 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. The required target position has been changed to Likelihood Very 
Low and Impact Marginal. 

P
age 75



Appendix 1 
 

6 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change as the Council has three new major contracts. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Directors Portfolio Finance Portfolio 
 

P
age 76



Appendix 1 
 

7 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 
 

Risk 3 
Business Continuity 
 
Description 
1/ Loss of South Lakeland House and Server room prevents access to systems and 
data: 
Loss of main office and server room due to major fire prevents access to systems and 
data. Likelihood is low due to fire prevention measures however impact is critical as 
affects all services at once, some at critical times. The remote access server that 
allows people to access systems and data from remote locations is based in South 
Lakeland House and if destroyed would severely limit services. A fire could also 
destroy most laptops. The delay in getting new laptops supplied with an SLDC 
configuration would again severely limit services.  
2/ Loss of telecommunications due to external or internal infrastructure failure: 
Likelihood is at least significant as telephony issues occur several times each year. 
Impact is serious as affects all services for up to a day and inevitably at critical times. A 
current work around in extremis allows public calls to be redirected to Eden and then 
to Canal Head Depot, however staff would have to use mobiles to make external calls. 
The Emergency Control Room (SLDC Contact Centre) has independent phone lines and 
WIFI internet access and mobile phone reception in place.  

Current Position of Risk 

 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 
 
 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 x   

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Resilient telephony network Complexity of technical solution 
requires amended due date. 
10/07/17: date requires amending to 
31/12/17 as procurement is now 
being progressed. 

IT Services Manager 31/12/17 
A solution has been found, the 
procurement route is being 
progressed for implementation by 
end December 2017 

Check the effectiveness of the generator 
installation and the external power supply 

This mitigation added on 03/04/17 
Update 10/07/17: Property Services 
have begun checks for the 

Performance and Risk Officer 01/09/17 
Completed – faulty sensor repaired 

P
age 77



Appendix 1 
 

8 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

generator. 
29/09/17: faulty generator sensor 
now repaired. 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. Previously completed 
mitigations and 2016/17 history have been archived – for this information please see Q1 2017/18 version of this risk register. 

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Council Organisation and People Portfolio 
 

P
age 78



Appendix 1 
 

9 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

  

Risk 4 
Affordable housing targets are not met. 
 
Description 
There is a risk that the Council may not achieve the Council Plan target: ‘By 2025 we 
will have enabled with the private sector the development of 1,000 new affordable 
homes for rent’. The Council will need to enable delivery of new affordable and open 
market housing particularly through private sector led development across the 
district. Performance is influenced by New Homes Bonus and Local Government 
Financing. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 
 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as risk is below 
tolerance 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Serious and Likelihood Very Low, 
performance monitoring indicates that housing targets are on track. 

Q4 2015/16: POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Serious and Likelihood Very Low, performance 
monitoring continues to indicate that housing targets are on track. Next review is Q4 2016/17 

Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Serious and 
Likelihood Very Low – to be reviewed in Q2. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. 
Q3 2016/17 RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑ - SMT review raises risk position to Likelihood Low and Impact Marginal due to changes to New Homes 
Bonus and Local Government Financing – description of risk updated.  
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 79



Appendix 1 
 

10 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 
 

  

Risk 5 
Impact of the Welfare Reform on communities 

 
Description 
Welfare reform is a major element of recent government spending cuts - resulting in 
significant changes to taxes and benefits. Universal Credit may have an impact on the 
level of benefits. Welfare reform therefore impacts on low-income tenants and social 
landlords. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

 X   

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance. 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. 
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - reviewed risk is Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review is Q4 2016/17 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - reviewed risk is Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. Next review to be in 
Q2. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. 
Q3 2016/17 RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑ - SMT review raises risk position to Likelihood Medium and Impact Marginal due to uncertainties around 
welfare support. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Culture, Wellbeing and Leisure Portfolio 

P
age 80



Appendix 1 
 

11 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 
 

  

Risk 6 
Medium Term Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget 
 
Description 
Current and future years proposed budget reductions (expenditure and income) are 
not achieved. Future year’s budget reductions (expenditure or income) are not 
identified. Significant existing income sources are not protected or effectively 
managed. Income from Central Government is reduced above the current 
assumptions. NDR income assumptions are not achieved. Other key factors are the 
Spending Review 2015-2020, Business Rates Retension and the Fair Funding Review. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
Annual – end of March 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

MTFP assumptions are reviewed, updated and 
reported on a quarterly basis 

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151) 

Each quarter 

Options to resolve any issues are provided to 
the Cabinet each quarter 

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151). Assistant Directors 
Directors 

Each quarter 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as having serious impact and significant likelihood. Assistant Directors and Directors 
have been added to mitigation ‘Options to resolve any issues are provided to the Cabinet each quarter’ to reflect cross council responsibility.  
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as having serious impact and significant likelihood. Early 
previous history is archived.  
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as serious impact and significant likelihood. The DCLG 4 year settlement application is 
completed. Early previous history is archived.        
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change.      
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however uncertainty over future funding may influence future risk position. 

P
age 81



Appendix 1 
 

12 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Government have confirmed 4-year settlement offer will apply to 2018/19; 
Cumbrian authorities considering 100% business rate retention pilot for 2018/19. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Finance Portfolio 
 

P
age 82



Appendix 1 
 

13 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

  

Risk 7 
Information Management is not effective 
 
Description 
The Council is required to have effective information governance procedures. It will 
be necessary to manage corporate information by implementing processes, roles and 
controls - including the Data Protection and Information Security Policies. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Continue to reinforce key standards and 
policies via regular communication. Ensure 
Managers are appropriately trained and 
requirements are clearly set out in Job 
Descriptions and reinforced via appraisals. 
Ensure Internal Audit findings are acted on in 
a timely manner. 

This mitigation added on 11/11/15.  
 
Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 
in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017 
 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 

Autumn 2017 

Clear and ongoing communications to staff to 
reinforce policies and protocols. Regular 
review and monitoring of arrangements 
across services by Operational Managers 
supported by Information Security/ 
Governance Teams in Policy & Partnerships 
and ICT. 

This mitigation added on 11/11/15.  
 
Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 
in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 

Autumn 2017 

The Information Governance (IG) Framework 
was approved by Cabinet on 16 September 
2015 and provides the structure to govern 

This mitigation added on 07/06/17  
 
In order to implement the 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 

End of March 2018 

P
age 83



Appendix 1 
 

14 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

how the Council captures, creates, accesses, 
secures, manages and shares its information 
both internally and externally. In line with 
Customer Connect Programme, the Council 
had to its approach to information 
governance. 

Information Governance Framework 
it is proposed that a learning 
package deliverable is created. 
It is proposed that the learning 
package deliverable will be 100% e-
learning.  Scope will be provided to 
design and develop workbooks for 
those members of staff without 
access to ICT equipment. 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q2 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Policy and Partnerships has assessed the risk as having Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. 
Q3 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Policy and Partnerships has assessed the risk as having Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. 
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Policy and Partnerships has assessed the risk as having Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Senior Management Team has reviewed as having Impact Serious and 
Likelihood Low. Likelihood has reduced due to progress with mitigations. Completed mitigations and early previous history have been archived. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. Risk name updated from ‘Information 
management’ to ‘Information Management is not effective’. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigation due dates updated. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.  

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 84



Appendix 1 
 

15 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

  

Risk 8 
The infrastructure required to deliver the Council Plan priorities is 
not provided. 
 
Description 
Infrastructure is required to support businesses and housing development objectives. 
The Council will need to implement the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to 
provide funding stream for infrastructure delivery. There will need to be protocols for 
CIL Governance and an up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
Due to the impacts of Storm Desmond there may be implications associated with 
future flood resilience measures and infrastructure repairs. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Review largely complete to be 
reported to Cabinet.  
Update 21/12/16: approach to 
meeting education needs in Kendal 
being worked up by Cumbria County 
Council. Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
will be reported to Cabinet in March 
2017. 
Update 04/04/17: extra time 
required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/12/16 
Amended to 31/05/17 

Development of protocols for CIL Governance. To be reported to Cabinet 
Update 21/12/16: CIL Governance 
Protocols will be reported with 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan to 
Cabinet in March 2017. 
Update 04/04/17: extra time 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/12/16 
Amended to 31/05/17 

P
age 85



Appendix 1 
 

16 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17 

CIL Review proposed as part of Development 
Management Policies process. 

To be undertaken when draft 
Development Management policies 
are consulted upon in Autumn 2016.  
Update 21/12/16: Viability study 
scheduled for mid 2017 – will update 
viability position in relation to 
affordable housing, CIL and impact of 
Development Management policies. 
Update 04/04/17: Viability study 
Commisioned. 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/03/18 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q3 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk remains unchanged at Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. Due dates of mitigations have 
been amended to tie in with scheduled timescales. 
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Risk reviewed as Impact Serious and Likelihood Low. Significant CIL liabilities identified. Some Kendal 
Town Centre projects implemented. Air quality position improved. Next review is Q4 2016/17. 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk remains unchanged at Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. 
Description of risk is widened out to reflect implications associated with Storm Desmond. Completed mitigations and early previous history have 
been archived.             
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. 
21/12/16: Recommend closer to target position of risk - Kendal and Ulverston Transport Package proposals now being implemented; CIL resource 
beginning to accumulate with more than £150K with payments pending for a further £100K; will be in a position to make spending decisions in 
2017-18. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. There has been positive progress and further collaboration with 
partners on infrastructure needs is required. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 86



Appendix 1 
 

17 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

  

Risk 9 
Essential strategic partnerships required to deliver the Council Plan 
do not operate effectively. 
 
Description 
Where necessary robust agreements will be needed. Also opportunities and resource 
implications should be identified. Partnerships will need to work supportively to 
achieve Council Plan objectives. 
The introduction of NHS STP’s and the movement of South Cumbria CCG’s into 
Lancashire/Morecambe Bay by April 2017 requires new strategic partnerships to be 
formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its communities gain maximum benefit 
from any changes. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Monitor resource, cost and reputational 
impact with established strategic partnerships 

No cost implications to the council in 
maintaining partnerships 

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager 

31/03/18 annual review 
 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2014/15: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - on 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reprioritised risk as Serious Impact and Medium Likelihood. 
Q1 2015/16: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - following appraisal by Policy and Partnerships it has been decided that mitigations 1 & 2 are met. 
Policy and Partnerships confirm that the risk has reached the target position of Likelihood Low and Impact Marginal. Next review is now in Q4. 

Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk remains at Likelihood Low and Impact Marginal. Next review is Q4 2016/17 

Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - risk reviewed as Likelihood Low and Impact Marginal. Completed 
mitigations have been archived. Mitigation due date reset to reflect the next annual review. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑ - review prior to Audit Committee indicates an increase in potential impact to ‘Serious’. The introduction 
of NHS STP’s and the movement of South Cumbria CCG’s into Lancashire/Morecambe Bay by April 2017 requires new strategic partnerships to be 
formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its communities gain maximum benefit from any changes. Risk description updated. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑- SMT review indicates an increase to Likelihood Medium and Impact Serious. The risk has its likelihood 
increased due to the complex nature and changes brought about by the NHS Strategic Transformation Plans arrangement now in place. This puts 
SLDC into the South Cumbria and Lancashire footprint. It is unclear at this time as to the advantages/disadvantages this may have on the 
community. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  There is a meeting planned for political leaders and officers within the 1st qtr of 2017/18 to raise 

P
age 87



Appendix 1 
 

18 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

and discuss this issue across partners and Morecambe Bay authorities. A governance review of the Cumbria LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership) is 
also underway. Positive collaborative relationships are being seen with Cumbria County Council locally, with Joint Districts in Cumbria, and now as 
a partner in the Northern Powerhouse Partnership at an Officer level. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 

  Risk Owner Chief Executive  Portfolio Leader and Finance Portfolio 

P
age 88



Appendix 1 
 

19 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

  Risk 10 and Risk 11 were archived during quarter 1 2016/17 
 
 

Risk 12 
Health and Safety management of contracts – records for on site 
checks 

 
Description of risk 
Health and safety management arrangements require a review for officer led 
contracts. Officers that are managing contractors are required to make safety checks 
and keep records. Safety checks should be proportional to risk. A review may indicate 
new requirements and resources.  

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  x  

    

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Next Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Contracts Management Health and Safety 
training is provided 

Completed Principle Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Officer 

09/04/15 

Officer leads carry out onsite H&S monitoring 
which is proportionate to the risk 

ongoing All staff managing contracts Ongoing requirement 

Officer led contracts are subject to spot 
checks for onsite monitoring records. 

Q4 2015/16: Initial assessment 
indicates that evidence exists for 
H&S checks 
Q3 2016/17: A second assessment 
identifies training needs 

All managers with contracts. 
 

Ongoing requirement 

Promote training on active monitoring Building/property and all external 
contractors to be involved in the 
training 

All Managers with contracts 13/04/17, further training sessions 
to be completed by end of Qtr 1 
2017/18 

Further spot checks to be made for records of 
onsite contractor safety 

Mitigation added following SMT 
review on 06/07/17. 

Performance and Risk Officer 01/10/17 

P
age 89



Appendix 1 
 

20 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

Completed 
 

A further review will be completed by 
Assistant Directors in October 2017 

Mitigation added 12/10/17 Assistant Directors 01/11/2017 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - progress with mitigations has reduced this risk. Risk reviewed as Impact 
Critical and Likelihood Low. Early previous history has been archived. 
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as Impact Critical and Likelihood Low. Early previous history has been archived. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change The description of the risk has been expanded for clarity. A further 
mitigation around training has been added – action owner and due date to be agreed. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Action owner identified and training requirements in place. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ – impact reduced to reflect completion of training however likelihood increased to maintain the risk 
position as above tolerance ensuring regular quarterly reviews - and the focus on spot checks for evidence of on site safety monitoring. Risk name 
updated for the focus on records of onsite checks – likelihood medium and impact serious. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Additional mitigation added. 

Risk Owner Chief Executive Portfolio Finance Portfolio 

 
 

Risk 13 
Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan 
priorities 

 
Description of risk 
There is a risk that new projects and initiatives take the resources required by other 
projects and initiatives currently in the programme.  

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

 x   

    

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Next Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

P
age 90



Appendix 1 
 

21 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Ensure that potential new projects and 
initiatives are subject to a pre-assessment 
which measures their priority 

Completed and ongoing 
requirement. 
Update 10/11/16: Reinforce the 
assessment and prioritisation of new 
projects – review in six months. 
 

Director of People and Places Ongoing requirement 
 
Review on 31/03/17 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Flood Recovery activity is still significant and maintains the risk as Impact Serious and Likelihood 
Medium.  
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Flood Recovery activity continues. This risk is reviewed as Impact Serious 
and Likelihood Medium. Early previous history has been archived. 
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk is reviewed as Impact Serious and Likelihood Medium. Early previous history has been 
archived. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. Risk name updated from ‘Impact of new 
projects and initiatives’ to ‘Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan priorities’. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - SMT review changes the risk position to Likelihood Medium and Impact Marginal. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.  
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however to be reviewed at quarter three subject to prioritisation of resources. 

Risk Owner Director of People and Places  Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 

 
 
 

P
age 91



Appendix 1 
 

22 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

Risk 14 
Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes 
 
Description of risk 
New efficiencies and changes brought about by one service can have unintended 
negative impacts on the efficiency and running of another service – especially if 
proposals are not consulted on until to late in the process. These impacts can increase 
the cost of running other services. Also the changes brought about by other 
organisations have the potential to influence Council resources and delivery. 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  x  

    

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

 
Next Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/18 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

This risk is managed via the Service Planning 
and Budgeting processes.  

Completed Operational Managers 
Senior Management Team 

Mitigations in place within 
existing Service Planning and 
Budgeting processes. 

Promote early discussions on potential change 
with external parties 

New mitigation on 10/11/16 
06/07/17: Mitigations underway and 
ongoing 

Director of People and Places 
 

31/03/17 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2014/15: RISK IDENTIFIED ● - risk separated from risk 013/14’ impact of new projects’. Reviewed by Senior managers as Marginal Impact and 
Medium Likelihood. On 09/04/15 Senior Management Team reviewed this risk as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Medium. 
Q4 2015/16: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Service Planning activity has reduced the likelihood of this risk.  Risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and 
Likelihood Low. This risk will now be reviewed in Q4 2016/17. 
Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk reviewed as Impact Marginal and Likelihood Low. The risk 
description has been developed to include partner organisations. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑- SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates an increase in risk to Impact Serious and Likelihood 
Medium due to continued financial pressure on external parties and funding arrangements. New mitigation added. Risk name improved for clarity 
from ‘Impact of efficiencies’ to ‘Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes’. This risk is now above risk tolerance and will be reviewed 

P
age 92



Appendix 1 
 

23 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

each quarter. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Risk position reviewed as no change  - impacts are still possible due to Second Homes Bonus, 
Recycling Credits and the Council’s Customer Connect improvement programme. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations are in progress. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – this risk is linked to ‘Risk 15: Customer Connect’. 

Risk Owner Director of People and Places  Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 
 
 

P
age 93



Appendix 1 
 

24 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 
 

  

Risk 15 
Customer Connect Programme 
 
Description 
The programme fails to deliver what’s set out in the programme definition and 
customer contact strategy. 
Customer Connect is a challenging programme that requires significant change 
to ways of working for staff across the Council. There are currently 25 risks on 
the Customer Connect Risk Log. Of these 25 risks there are 14 risks with a score 
of 6-12. This quantity of risk is significant and therefore requires an escalation 
to the Strategic Risk Register. Mitigations are in place for the risks, however the 
main challenges to the programme are: Scope and Ambition, Staff resources 
and capacity, Skills and Workforce Planning, Buy in from Customers and 
Training and development for staff and Councillors. 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Each quarter 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

The programme is being managed via the 
Programme Board with resources 
identified to deliver year 1 and 2 of the 
programme. 

Financial resources are set aside 
for the programme, but there is a 
requirement to identify all the 
staff needed over the next two 
years to support the projects 
 
Update 07/06/17: In May 2017 
membership of the Programme 
Boards was revised and updated 
to reflect the additional roles 
required to deliver the various 
projects within the programme.   
 
There is still significant work to 

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager 

01/07/2017 

P
age 94



Appendix 1 
 

25 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

deliver the People element of the 
programme that requires a 
structure to be created to reflect 
the new operating model 

There is a risk log for the programme SMT have ownership of all the 
risks and identified mitigations -  
completed. 

Projects & Innovation Officer 01/07/2017 

  

History  
of Risk Improvement 

Q1 2016/17 SMT Risk Register Review: RISK IDENTIFIED ●  - The operational risk ‘Customer Connect Programme’ is escalated as Likelihood 
Medium and Impact Serious - Senior Management Team decide to include as a Strategic Risk on the Strategic Risk Register. 
Q2 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔   - Assessed as Likelihood Medium and Impact Serious. Mitigations are listed to control the 
risk. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Customer Connect risks are managed by the Programme 
Board. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates Likelihood Medium and Impact Serious. The project is making good 
progress in all three areas: Digital, People, and Places. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 

  
Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation - Senior 

Responsible Owner. 
Portfolio Housing & Innovation  and Council Organisation and 

People  

 

P
age 95



Appendix 1 
 

26 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

  

Risk 16  
Waste Collection – Reversing Manoeuvres 
 
Description 
Management of waste collection vehicle manoeuvres on recycling and waste 
collection rounds. 
There are many practical and advanced technological safety precautions in 
place including the following: 
Waste collection rounds have risk assessments and safe systems of work in 
place. 
All drivers and crews have been trained. 
All rounds are monitored to ensure that safe systems are adhered to. 
Vehicles have advanced technologies fitted e.g. reversing CCTV and 
sophisticated radar to assist the driver and crews manoeuvre safely 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

   X 

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Each quarter when above the line of 
risk tolerance 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

   X 

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/17 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Maintain and keep up to date the Safe 
System of Work, inspections and the 
utilisation of risk reducing technologies. 

In progress and reviewed by the 
Street Scene Health and Safety 
Working Group on a quarterly 
basis 

Street Scene Manager Continuous 

Commission specialist support to assist in 
the completion of a further review of 
vehicle movements including reversing on 
private drives, private roadways and 
narrow access highways  

Update 17/11/16: Support 
commissioned and interim report 
received. Considering key actions 
for the service within operational 
health and safety plans. 
Completed. 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/16 

Implement the priority findings of the 
above review  

Specific Action plan has been 
developed to implement the 
findings of the review. High 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/17 

P
age 96



Appendix 1 
 

27 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

Priority Areas have been 
identified and the 
implementation of necessary 
changes commenced and planned 
for completion by amended due 
date of 31/12/17. 

Implement the lower priority findings of 
the above review 

Planned for completion by 
31/12/17 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/17 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

Q2 2016/17:  RISK IDENTIFIED ● - Risk is currently managed operationally but following HSE visit it was suggested that the risk be 
included on the  Strategic Risks Register and has been assessed as Likelihood Low and Impact Critical. 
10/11/16: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review prior to Audit Committee indicates no change. 
Q3 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Many of the reviews are completed however there are a small 
number outstanding as this involves a policy change to collection points and methods, and these are not just reversing issues. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – work is in progress. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio 

 

P
age 97



Appendix 1 
 

28 
Version: 1 
Date: 29/09/2017 
Quarter: 2, 2017/18 
 

 

Risk 17 
Cyber Security incident 
 
Description 
There have been many high profile examples of cyber security breaches across 
the World and in the UK recently. The Council has effective security in place to 
protect data and deliver services - however threats are becoming ever more 
sophisticated and organisations need to be one step ahead. Cyber-attacks can 
cross international boundaries and may be initiated by organised criminal 
groups, lone individuals or be state sponsored. Cyber criminals are broadening 
their efforts towards UK citizens, organisations and institutions. Terrorists are 
conducting low-level attacks and aspire to carry out more significant acts. 
Examples of threats are Botnets, Distributed denial-of-service, Hacking, 
Malware, Pharming, Phishing, Ransomware and Spam. 
 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

    

    

    

   x 
Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

    

    

    

  x  

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the 
completion of mitigations. 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Cyber security actions within the ICT Risk 
Register  

Cyber security actions are on 
track 

Shared IT Service Manager In line with cyber security due dates  

Review of Insurance  Mitigation added 12/10/17 Financial Services Manager Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

31/12/17 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  Audit Committee of 26/07/17 suggested that the Information management risks should be split to create this separate risk 
for Cyber Security. Agreed on 08/08/17 by the Monitoring Officer. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION - ↔ - SMT review indicates likelihood very low and impact critical. Additional insurance mitigation added. 

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 

 

P
age 98



Appendix 2 
 
 

South Lakeland District Council 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27 October 2017 
 

EXECUTIVE REPORT  

REPORT FROM: Cllr David Fletcher, Environment Portfolio Holder 

 

Portfolio Responsibilities 
 
To take the lead on Waste Management/ Recycling and relevant Council Plan measures under 
the environment objectives.  

Providing and maintaining parks infrastructure. 
 
To develop and implement a Playground Strategy.  
 
Policies, Plans and Strategies: 

• Waste Management Strategy  
• Air Quality Strategy and Action Plan  

 
Key Areas:  

• Waste Management and Recycling  
• Streetscene  
• Community Micro energy Schemes  
• Carbon/ Greenhouse gas reduction  
• Green agenda – Low Carbon reduction  
• Public Realm (Parks and open spaces)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 

 

 

 
Waste Management and Recycling  
 
The Council will expand cardboard and plastic collections and promote kerbside recycling 
services across South Lakeland. The plastic and cardboard collections are currently provided to 
98% of households across the district, and the process is on-going to extend the service to those 
properties in the most remote and hard to access places. This will be achieved through the 
procurement of a new, bespoke, vehicle that is incorporated in the Vehicle and Plant Programme. 
 
SLDC will consider the introduction of further materials in addition to cardboard and plastic. A 
one-off textile collection was undertaken in August as part of the Staveley Waste Less Project. 
Discussions are taking place with stakeholders in the project to inform further decision-making on 
the collection of textiles. The collection of further materials is also a key component of a 
Consistency Project for waste and recycling collections county-wide; in which SLDC are working 
with WRAP, Cumbria County Council and other district councils in the county. 
 
Zurich Insurance conducted a Motor Vehicle Review and identified several recommendations to 
reduce the number of high-risk reversing manoeuvres that have now been reflected. Domestic 
properties that require a high-risk reversing manoeuvre are being contacted individually with 
guidance regarding a change of collection point or request to maintain an un-obstructed access 
route on the collection day. This programme is on-going.  
 
A tender and procurement process is underway to procure a new Bring Site Collections contract. 
There has been delays to the timescale for contract specification arising from the development of 
the Terms and Conditions for the contract. It is expected that we will advertise for a new contract 
to start from 1 April 2018.  
 
SLDC will continue to work to procure a new Bulky Collections Contract. A contract specification 
is currently in development and it is expected that this will be advertised in Q2, with the new 
contract to commence 1 April 2018. 
 
Streetscene  
 
The Council is considering options for the introduction of technologies that could improve the 
efficiency of litter bin emptying by electronic measurement of the level of waste in each litter bin. 
Trials of similar equipment have previously taken place and not shown satisfactory results. The 
Council is reviewing new technologies that are now available. 
 
The Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed penalties) report has been approved by Cabinet in 
August 2017. Fixed penalty notices will now be in place for small scale fly tipping offences. In Q1 
89 fly tipping incidents were reported to the Council, showing an increase since Q3 in 2016 where 
62 cases were reported.  
 
Consideration is being made of the introduction of Public Space Protection Orders. Currently 
proposals are being drafted and public consultation will take place throughout June and July prior 
to presenting a Cabinet report for consideration. (See also the section in Parks and Open Spaces) 

Page 100



 
Community Micro Energy Schemes/ Carbon/ Greenhouse Gas Reduction and Low Carbon 
Reduction  
 
Together SLDC and CAfS have produced a Low Carbon Programme for 2017/18 to support 
SLDC’s priority to support communities to become more energy efficient and CAfS aim to deliver 
practical advice, support, inspire and motivate communities, individuals and businesses to 
participate and drive forward low carbon activity in South Lakeland.  
 
From 2015 to 2017 CAfS through the support from SLDC have facilitated the development and 
deployment of Cumbria’s first community owned hydro scheme at Killington Reservoir.  
 
‘Green Build Open Days’ were conducted across the district to deliver technical advice to 
communities and businesses and encouraging energy awareness.  
 
The two main schemes for 2017/18 that will be supported by SLDC through funding include the 
2nd year delivery of 2016/18 Community Energy Support Programme and Community Energy 
Events.  
 
The Community Energy Support Programme will commence its second year of delivery following 
an initial pilot year. So far the programme has supported 19 communities and interest groups and 
in 2017/18 c£32,000 will support a further 4 groups to implement community projects based 
around renewable energy, energy efficiency, and reducing carbon/greenhouse gases. 
 
SLDC has also agreed to continue support funding another year of delivering community energy 
events across communities in South Lakeland targeting both communities and businesses. A 
review of SLDC’s support to CAfS will be undertaken in 2018. 
 
Recent data has shown that the Solar Panels fitted to South Lakeland House shows that the total 
carbon savings in the 2016/17 was 15 Tonnes (15,000kg), compared to the previous year 2015/16 
at 16 tonnes. The variance could be determined by longer sunlight hours and weather conditions.  
 
Active Travel  
 
The Active Travel officer working group presented the Active Travel Plan to Overview and Scrutiny 
task and finish review in July 2017. The outcomes included:  
 

• Recognition of the value of the ongoing work arising from the Active Travel Position 
Statement and Action Plan 

• Joining up project to achieve greater effectiveness  
• Investigate closer working across district boundries  
• Build on a cross-generation approach, including a strong emphasis in young people to 

develop a culture of active travel  
• Recognition of the side effects of increased cycle travel i.e. higher number of cyclists on 

the road  
• Increased engagement with members and officers though highlighting successes and 

inspirational stories.  
 
In 2016-17 British Cycling organised 391 rides across Cumbria and a total of 1575 people 
partcipated throughout the year.  

Page 101



 
Public Realm (Parks and Open Spaces)  
  
Friends of Lightburn Park were successful in approval for a Wren Grant Application and have 
been awarded £40,170 from landfill tax to be used to support a Multi Use Games Area on the 
former tennis courts. In 2017 the skate ramp at the park will be painted by Unity radio and pupils 
from Ulverston Victoria School that uses an image designed by the pupils.  
 
Landscape architect services are due to be appointed for the Millerground scheme. This will 
finalise the Enhancement Plan and design, specify and tender for the path from the carpark to the 
Lake.  
 
The Public Space Protection Order consultation process was launched in the July edition of South 
Lakeland News. The consultation included social media, websites, emails, questionnaires at 
various locations and onsite consultation days from mid-July to early September. The results for 
the consultation will inform the decision to introduce a Public Space Protection Order for the 
control of dogs across the district on SLDC’s parks and open spaces.  
 
A tender for improvements at Nobles Rest is currenty underway and it is anticipated that work will 
commence early 2018.  
 
SLDC and Cumbria Rivers Trust are working together on an exciting project at Town View Fields 
to improve flood water storage and biodiversity by opening up the culvert and creating catchment 
pools.  
 
The Rinkfield playground is has now been fully installed and the formal opening  was held in July 
2017.  
 
A new Parks and Open spaces officer has been appointed on a two year contract to work on 
specific projects and the service is currently exploring the recruitment process for a parks and 
open spaces apprentice who will work closely with community and friends groups.  
 
  

Page 102



South Lakeland District Council 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27 October 2017 
EXECUTIVE REPORT  

REPORT FROM: Cllr Matt Severn, Culture, Media and Leisure Portfolio 
Holder 

 

Portfolio Responsibilities 
 
The Council Plan objectives in relation to promoting culture, leisure activities and the arts.  
 
To work with our cultural organisations to attract investment and to promote South Lakeland as a 
premier area for Arts and Events.  
 
The relationship of the Council with its citizens; civic participation and the Council plan objectives 
around leisure, health and wellbeing and working with communities.  
 
Working with key partners with regards to public health and community safety.  
 
Promoting South Lakeland in and through the media.  
 
Policies, Plans and Strategies:  
 

• Arts and Events  
• Grants Strategy  
• Licensing and Statement of Gambling Policies  
• Communications Strategy  

 
Key Areas:  

• Arts and Culture  
• Grants  
• Public Halls  
• Use of community assets for promotion of arts and culture 
• Young people/ projects  
• Heritage and Events  
• Heritage Listed buildings and built environment  
• Voluntary Sector Engagement in relation to culture and leisure 
• Leisure and Recreation  
• Licensing and Gambling  
• Media and Communications  

 

  

Page 103



Arts and Culture  
 
The Council’s three year Cultural Strategic partnerships supporting our Arts Council England 
National Portfolio Organisations, Cumbria Museum Consortium, and Lakes Culture remain at the 
heart of our cultural strategy. Our funding in this area ensures resilient, dynamic organisations 
that make SLDC the leading rural cultural destination in the UK.  
 
We will continue working in partnership with Arts Council England and cultural organisations to 
help facilitate, enable and fund some significant initiatives over the year to promote South 
Lakeland and work which also supports the Lake District National Park ‘Cultural Landscapes’ 
World Heritage designation. 
 
SLDC have supported developments of the Wordsworth Trust, Lakeland Arts and the Brewery 
Arts Centre to ensure the future of these key institutions. 
 
We are continuing to assist in the development of our key festivals and events and sports 
adventure projects such as Great North Swim, Big Chill Swim, Tour of Britain, Lakes Comic Arts 
Festival, Lakes Alive, Kendal Mountain Festival, as well as looking to further develop our 
reputation in the future working with British Cycling. 
 
Recent data shown in the Quality of Life Survey results 2017 identifed that 51% of partcipants 
agreed that they can access arts, events and cultural actviites that make a difference to their 
health and wellbeing.  
 
Great Place Scheme  
 
Following a successful joint bid to the Great Place scheme South Lakeland and Craven will start 
work on the Heritage Lottery Funded 3 year pilot ‘Great Place’ programme with Craven as the 
lead authority and accountable body. We are one of 16 ‘Great Places’ in England and one of 4 
rural ones. The Craven and South Lakeland programme is designed to join up the cultural and 
heritage assets and activities with economic and social growth across both districts.  
 
The Yorkshire Dales and Lake District National Park Authorities are also supporting the project 
along with the key Arts Council national portfolio organisations and the major partner museums, 
including Brewery Arts, Wordsworth Trust, Lakeland Arts and Chrysalis Arts. 
 
Our vision for Great Place is…. where a sustainable, resilient community and economy exists 
celebrating the distinctiveness of place ,the skill and experience of creative people and a good 
quality of life, which in turn will retain and attract younger people to our districts to influence, 
support and create our future economy. 
 
The launch event took place in Grasmere within the Roundabout Theatre on 15 September which 
brought together various strong and influential economic and cultural organisations from both 
districts. 
 
Grants (Community Grants 2017/18 and Gateway Group) 
 
SLDC will be supporting several areas throughout 2017/18 via community grants including:  
 
5 year funding agreements (2017/18 to 2021/2022) with Cumbria Association of Local Councils 
(CALC), Action with Communities in Cumbria (ACT) and South Lakeland Hydrotherapy Trust 

Page 104



(SLHT) have been agreed, the aim is to fund the above organisations with £3250, £5000 and 
£2500 respectively per annum for a five year period that requires annual reviews.  
 
A 3 year ‘memorandum of agreement’ (MOA) with Arnside and Silverdale Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty was agreed and is being drawn up to provide grant funding over 3 years.  
 
Funding for the Strategic Community Arts and Events organisations and Cumbria Action for 
Sustainability (CafS), has been extended for 2017/18 at the same level as 2015/16 and 2016/17.  
 
Gateway Group  
 
SLDC approved a new funding agreement with the Gateway Group to manage the distribution of 
grants to third sector organisations which is now in place.  From 2017/18 SLDC will pay the group 
£88,500 annually in a 5 year agreement until 2021/22. The overall aim is for the Gateway to use 
its expertise of the 3rd sector to identify small organisations that can most benefit from grants and 
for the relationship between SLDC and the 3rd sector to develop.  
 
Public halls and Use of community assets for the promotion of arts 
 
Throughout 2017/18 South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) continues to support cultural events 
across the district through the use of council owned assets. The Kendal Town Hall continues to 
be utilised on a weekly basis for community activities and various cultural events.   
 
Kendal Town Hall continues to become increasing popular for wedding ceremonies. There have 
been 28 confirmed bookings for 2017 and a further 8 for 2018.  
 
Following the closure of the courts on Burneside Road the Town Hall continues to hold civil and 
criminal courts once a month.  
 
Young people/ projects  
 
The Young People’s Action plan continues to drive events throughout 2017/18 for 11-16 year olds 
and 17-25 year olds.  
 
11-16 year olds 
 
School council meetings are being held in the District Council Chambers with Queen Katherine 
and Kirkbie Kendal Schools.  
 
Some key achievements include: 

• Schools raising funds to buy new recycling bins  
• Waste Cumbria offering free mixed recycling bin and collection worth £250 per year 
• School Councils giving presentations in assembly to raise awareness of new programme 

and start a culture of recycling in school 
  
SLDC is now working with schools to become ‘Eco-Schools’ – this is an initiative run by ‘Keep 
Britain Tidy’ that assesses schools on nine categories; 

1. Energy 
2. Litter 
3. Waste 
4. Water 

Page 105



5. Global Citizenship 
6. Transport 
7. Healthy Living  
8. Biodiversity  
9. School Grounds 

 
This programme reportedly aids schools in their OFSTED report as evidence of working with 
partners and improvements to school grounds.  
 
The most recent meetings have focused on how we can support schools to gain their first ‘eco-
flag’ 
 
17-25 year olds  
 
The current strategy is to work within schools and colleges to create multiple small groups to work 
with (Mouthpiece Group).  
 
Students have raised travel costs as a major concern with the most eye catching stories including: 

• Students having to drop out of college courses  
• Parent and students taking on multiple jobs just to pay for train and bus fares to school 

and college 
• Students spending huge amounts of time on public transport to be either late to school or 

far too early 
 

SLDC are working with the students to collect data via a survey to understand the scope of the 
issue. So far there has been 30 responses. The next steps are to collect more information and 
take the findings to local organisations to find solutions. 
 
National Citizen Service 
 
We organised a one day programme on six separate days across six weeks between July and 
August which over one hundred 16 year olds participated in as a contribution to National Citizen 
Service (NCS).  
 
In the morning session a presentation was delivered on how a general election works, how the 
national and local government are formed, how the council operated, and why voting was 
important. 
  
There was a facilitated discussion session between NCS students and officers across multiple 
departments - economic development, electoral services, public protection, street scene, and 
partnerships and organisational development. The discussions were centred on the role of a 
department, the future of the council, the views of the attendees of the larger issues in the 
community, and how councils could be more proactive in engaging young people.  
 
In the afternoon students were asked to research, present, and debate policies. All one hundred 
students were given the chance to present, ask and answer questions, and participate in political 
debate on current issues and topics.  
 
The changes to the programme have allowed students to receive a ‘crash course’ in democracy 
and politics which is the aim of the Young People’s Action Plan. 
 

Page 106



Leisure and Recreation  
 
The South Lakeland Facilities Strategy has been launched and the plans for the refurbishment of 
Kendal Leisure Centre have been approved by SLDC and GLL South Lakeland Leisure 
Partnership Board.  
 
Following the  conditions survey that focused on the windows, doors and exterior façade the 
refurbishment works have now commenced.   
 
Funding has been secured from Kendal Bid to install 10 bikes at Kendal Leisure Centre. In 
addition to this SLDC has worked with Kendal Town Council to create a cycle trail to the rear of 
the Leisure Centre. Current bidding is secured to build a trail that will begin in Kendal Town Centre 
ending in Natland.  
 
In October 2016 both Kendal and Ulverston Leisure Centres achieved a status of good when 
being assessed against the Quest Quality standard.  
 
Following improvements to fitness facilities and goods sales and retention training for all frontline 
staff, sales of memberships have continually increased for the leisure centres since the 
partnership began in 2014. 
 
GLL are operating the Glebe Park for a trial period of 12 months from 1st April 2017 with a view 
to support the park and increase participation from local residents and visitors. GLL are set to 
report back in October 2017 on whether or not they would seek to continue running the park in 
line with the current leisure contract.   
 
GLL have also been working with external agencies on the Swim safe project which is a project 
organised by the Royal Nationional Lifeboat Institution and Swim England to promote swim safety 
in young adults swimming in open waters. Throughout summer 2017 a total of 1342 young adults 
attended swim safe classes.  
 
Work is continuing on a County wide basis, where GLL have put in a proposal to access funding 
from Sport England for a locality bid to support the work they are doing with older people to 
encourage them to become more active.   
 
Recent data shown in the Quality of Life Survey results 2017 identifed 60% of residents in South 
Lakeland that completed the study stated they could access leisure activities that make a 
difference to their health and wellbeing.  
 
Licensing  
 
The licensing service will be undertaking a number of improvements in areas to support the 
Council Plan priorities and improve licensed activities across the district.  
 
Media and Communications  
 
The broad aim of the Council’s communications strategy is to keep residents and other 
stakeholders fully informed about what the council does in a way which supports Council Plan 
priorities and builds local pride. 
 

Page 107



Messages are delivered using all available channels including newspapers, TV, radio, websites, 
social media, and other digital platforms. The Communications operation is merged with 
Customer Services to provide a consistent joined-up approach to how we interact with the public. 
 
We are already maximising the use of digital channels to enable the council to target 
communications much more effectively, making it easier for us to build stronger relationships with 
local communities. In the upcoming year we intend to build on this approach, to provide a dynamic 
information service for our residents through our social media channels. 
 
The Customer Connect project  will eventually allow us to send targeted and relevant information 
direct to a single customer’s account. This will be invaluable for campaigns such as the kerbside 
recycling roll-out or flood grants, where we will be able to distribute information and updates 
directly to those affected households by a delivery method of their choosing, including digital 
channels. 
 
We are already looking at ways that ‘how-to’ video guides on the website - for example filling out 
a grant application form or which container to use for which recyclables - could effectively replace 
several pages of existing content and provide an accessible and effective method of sharing 
information on other channels, particularly social media. 
 
We are developing a short video to support council staff recruitment, promoting the benefits of 
living in South Lakeland and working at the authority, that can be used to complement recruitment 
adverts on-line and on social media. 
 
Recent examples of the effectiveness of this strategy have included our co-ordinated multi-
channel approach to communications around the flood grants, where we utilised not only 
traditional media channels to disseminate information but also sent information out via community, 
business and third sector organisations working directly with flood-affected residents and through 
partner agencies working in flood recovery, as well as an extensive social media campaign. 
 
Within the next year we are intending to produce a social media report to help analyse 
performance to help give a clear direction for future strategy, examining data to see which posts 
work best, when they receive most views and response rates.We are also looking to involve more 
departments across the council using social media for their messaging, to build on the success 
of HR’s recruitment posts. 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



1 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27 October 2017 

Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update) 

 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Brenda Gray – Council Organisation and 
People Portfolio Holder 

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer) 

REPORT AUTHOR: Paul Mountford – Principal Performance and Intelligence 
Officer 

WARDS: All 

KEY DECISION: Not Applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 The Council Plan sets out the vision, underpinned by four priorities, that forms an 
agenda that will make South Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider and 
recommend to Council the adoption of the Council Plan 2014-19 (2018 update) 
as part of the Council’s Policy Framework. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Council Plan sets out the council’s vision and priorities and how they will be 
delivered over the period of the Plan.  It is part of a corporate suite of documents and 
links closely with the Medium Term Financial Plan.  These documents form part of 
the Council’s Policy Framework and the council’s approach to governance and 
community leadership. 

3.2 The Council Plan 2014-19 has been reviewed and updated for 2018.  The strategy 
update provides a summary of progress in the last twelve months and the four 
priorities set out the council ambition over the remaining year and detail key projects 
that will contribute to achieving those priorities.  The Council Plan update for 2018 
can be found in appendix 1 of this report. 

3.3 The measures of success have been updated and amended as part of the 2018 
review.  The measures of success will continue to be reported through quarterly 
performance monitoring reports. 

3.4 As reported in the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Report of 13 January 2017 
future Council Plan development has been realigned within the budget setting and 
approval process.  In line with the Council Plan and Budget Process Timetable for 
2017-18 approval of the next Council Plan will be sought at Full Council on 19 
December 2017. 

Page 109

Item No.10



2 
 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 The 2018 update has been developed following meetings held with Cabinet Members 
and Officers.  Any comments from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be fed 
into the Cabinet and Council reports. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 The alternative option is not to approve the Council plan 2018 update.  This is not 
recommended as the strategy and priorities in the plan have not changed 
significantly from those previously identified.  Not recommending the approval of the 
plan would reduce the likelihood of the council’s ambitions being delivered. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 The Council Plan is a key strategy document for the organisation.  It sets out the 
council priorities and is linked to all key strategies e.g. Medium Term Financial Plan, 
Workforce Plan, Performance and Service Plans. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 The budget process has been running alongside the refresh of the Council Plan and 
while the plan represents the key pieces of work undertaken by the council, the 
Medium Term Financial Plan details the council’s financial position. 

7.1.2 The two plans are linked and the resources will be allocated to service areas and 
capital projects that will enable the council priorities and outcomes to be delivered. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 The current workforce development plan will be refreshed during 2018 to reflect any 
organisational changes.  The Workforce Development Plan will set out the skills, 
knowledge and support that is needed to deliver the ambitions and priorities set out 
in the Council Plan. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no legal implications to raise at this stage. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1 Assessments will be carried out of the social, economic and environmental 
impact of individual projects outlined in the Council Plan. 

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1 An equality impact assessment has been refreshed for the Council Plan 2014-
2019 (2018 update). 

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

If yes, please confirm that it is attached 
to the report in the appendices. 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

  

Page 110



3 
 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council Plan is not 
adopted by the council 

Compromise the delivery 
of the priorities, service 
planning and performance 
monitoring 

Ensure engagement with 
the process and maintain 
an ongoing review of 
performance against 
council priorities 

There are insufficient 
resources to enable 
delivery of the Council 
Plan 

Priorities and objectives 
are not met 

Ensure appropriate 
resources are available 
and account had of the 
Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Plan 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Report Author - Paul Mountford, Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer, 01539 
793271, p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk  

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT  

Appendix No.  

1 Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update) 

2 Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update) Health, Social, Economic and 
Environmental Impact Assessment 

3 Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update) Equality Impact Assessment 
2018 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available  

C/79 2014-2019 Council Plan 
(2017 Update) 

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=120&MId=4058&Ver=4  

C/79 2014-2019 Council Plan 
(2016 Update) 

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=120&MId=3771&Ver=4  

C/82 2014-2019 Council Plan 
(2015 Update) 

http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=120&MId=3566&Ver=4  

C/78 - Council Plan 2014-2019 http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=120&MId=3460&Ver=4  

Customer Connect Programme http://sharepoint/sites/projects/customerconnect/_layouts
/15/start.aspx#/default.aspx  

 

  

Page 111

mailto:p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=4058&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=4058&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=3771&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=3771&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=3566&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=3566&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=3460&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=120&MId=3460&Ver=4
http://sharepoint/sites/projects/customerconnect/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/default.aspx
http://sharepoint/sites/projects/customerconnect/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/default.aspx


4 
 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant 
Director 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

15/09/2017 15/09/2017 15/09/2017 28/09/2017 27/10/2017 

Executive 
(Cabinet) 

Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

29/11/2017 Not Applicable 19/12/2017 15/09/2017 15/09/2017 

Human 
Resource 
Services 
Manager 

Leader 

 

Ward 
Councillor(s) 

 

  

15/09/2017 15/09/2017 Not Applicable   

 

Page 112



Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore

South Lakeland District Council

Council Plan 2014-2019
Updated October 2017

Appendix 1

Page 113



page 2

Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore

Council Plan 2014-2019

Foreword

To be added.

Lawrence Conway
Chief Executive

To be added. 

Giles Archibald 
Leader of the Council

Page 114



page 3

that will be delivered over the period and each priority is
supported by a set of measures that will be used to report
our progress.

The plan is refreshed annually to take account of any local
or national changes, and we will report our progress in an
annual report, which will be published by June each year.

You can check how we are delivering against all our
council plan ambitions on our website at:
www.southlakeland.gov.uk

Our vision remains: 

“Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work
and explore”.

Our four priorities to achieve this remain: 

• Economy 

• Housing 

• Environment 

• Culture and Wellbeing 

This council plan highlights the key projects this council will
deliver within the four priorities. 

Our values 
The delivery of this Council Plan is

influenced by our three key values.

These are: 

Empowering people 

By listening to our customers
and our employees, their
ideas and comments will

help us make
improvements to customer
service and workforce
development.

Excellence 

Seeking continuous
improvement in what we do,

ensuring that our actions
address the needs of South

Lakeland.

Open and transparent 

Being courteous, efficient and
transparent in our dealings with the

public. 

Introduction
The Council Plan is the council’s strategic document that
tells us what our priorities and targets are for the period
2014 to 2019. 

Our vision is to make South Lakeland the best place to live,
work and explore. Our ambition is to have a varied
economy with a skilled workforce to support, a balanced
housing market to meet needs, great leisure services and a
cultural offer that appeals to residents and visitors alike. 

We have a strong commitment to public service and we all
work together to deliver our priorities. Localism has
become a strong influence on the way we work. We
believe in working collaboratively with communities. By
working in partnership, we believe we can achieve the right
outcomes for you. 

We have continued to deliver on our priorities in 2016/17 –
on housing, on jobs, on the economy and the environment.

In this year’s update we have reinforced the emphasis on
strategic development in the economy; enabling the
delivery of a range of housing; integrating culture and
health and wellbeing and establishing a sense of place with
the environment.

As with the 2016 update we continue to focus on: 

“Our long term ambition for

1,000 jobs and 1,000 affordable 

homes for rent”

The council has a key
commitment to enable 1,000
new affordable homes for rent
in the district by 2025 and is
on target to achieve this,
with 319 so far delivered.

We are committed to
support the creation of
1,000 new higher paid jobs
in the district by 2025.
Latest figures show the
council is on course to
achieve this ambitious
target, with an estimated 302
new jobs created in South
Lakeland since 2014.

The priorities will continue to be
important for the next year, with
our budget showing how our
spending will help to achieve them. The
priorities are supported by a set of projects

Page 115



page 4

Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore

Council Plan 2014-2019

Our strategy update - 2018
Our strategy update reflects progress made in the last four
years since the commencement of the Council Plan and
areas we want to focus on moving forward. We continue to
promote the interests of our residents and businesses with
central government and our work to establish partnerships
across local authorities continues to develop. 

Our place 

We will continue to work with our community and voluntary
organisations, to increase the reach and scope of their
work. We will continue to put our place at the heart of
decision making and bring together the right people -
councillors, public servants, businesses, voluntary and
community organisations, and residents - to enable
communities to thrive whilst retaining their distinctive
character. We are committed to furthering the localism
agenda and empowering communities to progress.

Economy 

We will continue to increase economic investment in rural
and urban areas, and help boost the economy facilitating
the growth of more well-paid jobs to make South Lakeland
a desirable place for young people and families achieve
their full potential. We will continue to pursue a positive
agenda generating social benefits arising out of the overall
value and outcomes of sustainable economic investment
and growth across all our communities in South Lakeland.

Housing 

We adopted our Core Strategy in 2010 and Land
Allocations plan in 2013 – way ahead of most North West
councils – to allocate sites to meet the district’s need for
housing. Detailed development briefs have been prepared
for eight key sites across the district to guide issues such
as the design, layout, access and green space provision.
We continue to receive CIL payments from developers and
develop our programme of investment in support of the
Local plan objectives. We will continue to use this money
to fund vital new infrastructure, making improvements to
roads, schools and green spaces. We will continue to work
with our communities on how it is best spent to support
local development.

Environment 

We have implemented optimised waste and recycling
collection rounds to deliver an enhanced kerbside recycling
service that now collects plastic and cardboard alongside
the existing paper, glass and cans to 100% of the
residents. 

New solar panels have been installed at our main office in
Kendal – these will save about £122,000 and over 300
tonnes of carbon emissions over their lifespan.

We will continue to fund and support green projects such
as promoting carbon reduction, energy efficiency schemes
and supporting cycling initiatives.

Culture and wellbeing 

We continue to support key events across South Lakeland
including the Lakes International Comic Art Festival and
the Kendal Mountain Festival. We have provided life-
saving water safety training to more than 3,000
schoolchildren and health and crime reduction has been
supported by securing funding to tackle domestic abuse
issues in South Cumbria.

Our influence 

We will continue to work with partners on a collaborative
approach to devolution. Working with neighbouring
authorities, and engaging with government, we will pursue
a positive agenda for economic growth and improvements
and efficiencies in public service delivery. Our approach will
assist the government significantly in the delivery of its
policies on productivity, securing a greater proportion of
low carbon energy, increased gross value added and more
jobs.

South Lakeland will seek to maximize its role influencing
the strategy for transport in the north. We will continue to
work with Cumbria County Council to reduce duplication of
work and make efficiencies across services. We will also
continue to engage with Parish and Town councils on what
powers they would like to see devolved.

Our innovation 

Through our innovation and improvement portfolio, we will
look at where there are opportunities to reduce costs by
using our knowledge and skills to become more
entrepreneurial in the way we do business. We will also
continue to build on our successes and identify
opportunities for further shared service arrangements.

Our customers

We are transforming the way we
deliver services by maximising digital
technology, putting customers at the
heart of everything we do. We will
encourage self-service while ensuring
that those who need more complex
assistance receive it in a customer-
friendly way. We will improve

Page 116



page 5

services, reflecting growing customer demand for a simpler
way of doing business.

It involves:

Digital: integrating new and existing systems.

People: changing the way our staff work.

Places: reviewing where the council and its workforce is
based.

The Digital element involves working jointly with Eden
District Council and both councils have agreed a long-term
contract with IT Solutions firm Meritec. We are replacing
systems for development control, building control, land
charges, web publishing, customer relationship
management, and providing a citizen portal to display,
track, and record transactions in a way which is
transparent. The People element involves modernising our
structure and eliminating silo-working.

Our members, our workforce 

Our elected Members have sought to work collaboratively
with all public services and other key partners to reduce
duplication of work and improve customer service.

We will continue to help the council retain and develop its
workforce. The continued success of our apprenticeship
scheme has enabled opportunities for young people to get
into work at South Lakeland District Council.

Our assets 

We will look at opportunities to make the best use of our
council assets, investing to save and increase income and
revenue when and where appropriate to do so.

Where there is an appetite and sound rationale, we will
seek opportunities to devolve services and transfer or sell
local assets to town and parish councils and community
groups.

Our resources 

We have delivered a balanced budget while protecting
front-line services and key ongoing projects. This year’s
budget includes several growth proposals, including
investment to strengthen economic development activities
and providing the funds to support ‘green’ projects such as
promoting carbon reduction, energy efficiency schemes
and supporting cycling initiatives.

We will continue to deliver our vision via sustainable and
cost effective services. The council’s net revenue service
budget for 2017/18 totals £14.7m. Efficiencies totalling
circa £129k are included in the current 5 Year Medium
Term Financial Plan. The deficits are projected rise form

£1.2m in 2018/19 to £1.4m in 2021/22. £850k of this will be
met through the Customer Connect Programme with
options to meet the balancing circa £0.5m currently under
development.

Our Successes since 2014
(2014 to 2017) 

SLDC has established a collaborative partnership with
Barrow Borough Council and Lancaster City Council with
the intention of working jointly to identify and exploit
opportunities for investment and growth, along with the
private sector and other partners, across the whole of the
Morecambe Bay area. 

The Mintworks, which is fully occupied, provides an
environment for businesses to grow with 10 flexible offices,
as well as meeting and conference facilities for business
events, skills training and networking.

We have awarded community grants worth £285,000 in the
past year to projects ranging from rural broadband
installation and new playgrounds to major schemes to
rejuvenate a tourism destination and tackle village
congestion problems, through the council’s Locally
Important Projects (LIPs) funding scheme.

We are working with communities across the district to
rejuvenate parks and playgrounds, in a £600,000
improvement programme. New parks have been
completed at Sandylands and Hallgarth in Kendal, and at
Oxenholme, with other projects ongoing in Ambleside,
Ulverston, Windermere, Grange and Kendal.

In 2016/17 SLDC investigated 380 reports of fly tipping
reports across the district and investigated 291 abandoned
vehicles.

SLDC have partnered with Craven District Council to
launch Great Place. This partnership has been created to
form an area of Great Place where a sustainable, resilient,
creative community and economy exists, celebrating the
distinctiveness of place, the skill and experience of creative
people and a god quality of life, which in turn will retain and
attract younger people to our districts to influence, support
and create our future economy.

The Community Safety Partnership has focused on
tackling alcohol rated crime through a theatre tour,
‘Loudmouth’. This tour was performed across 9 Barrow and
South Lakeland schools to use drama performance to
demonstrate the dangers and potential risks of drugs and
alcohol to students. 99% of students felt the programme
helped young people to stay safe around alcohol.

Page 117



page 6

Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore

Council Plan 2014-2019

Measures of success

By 2025, Economic Growth through GVA 

By 2025, we will achieve investment enabling the creation of 1,000 new jobs in the area.

Between 2015 and 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the rise of higher paid jobs and a year-on-year
increase in the current median household income of £31,189 for people who live in South Lakeland.

Between 2015 and 2025, in partnership with the district’s towns and villages, the council will ensure they maintain their
distinctive character and thrive commercially by supporting and improving the business start-up rate of 90 per 10,000
working population year-on-year. 

The council
will support
the
development
of higher paid
jobs in South
Lakeland

Engagement with the private sector and public sector partners will be central to our approach to
helping to grow and develop the economy. In addition, there will be a renewed focus to unlock our key
housing and employment sites.

We will enable growth in accordance with the Cumbria Strategic Economic Plan, working in
partnership with the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and Private local businesses.

We will improve the districts competitive advantage to succeed in today’s environment, exploring
opportunities to influence, engage and work with strategic partners across the northern powerhouse
including Lancashire and Furness to support our growth ambition and access external funding.

Working with partners we will maximise the districts growth potential from the major investment in
advanced manufacturing in the Furness area and investment opportunities in the M6 corridor, as well
as positioning South Lakeland and Cumbria more firmly as part of the Northern Powerhouse.

We will exploit opportunities to boost the economic performance of the Morecambe Bay area. We will
identify, consider and develop initiatives and activity where joint working and shared resources offer a
means by which additional benefits can be effectively delivered.

Through our ‘Invest in South Lakeland’ programme, we will promote the area and the investment
opportunities as a great place to do business. We will encourage and support businesses and
investors. We will work with our public sector partners to maximise access to funding and to
encourage the provision of skills training to meet the future needs of the economy. We will encourage
businesses whose products and services reduce carbon usage and improve the environment.

We will plan for future major infrastructure needs which will support growth in the principal centres of
Kendal and Ulverston. For example by assessing strategic road improvements including the Northern
Development Route, north of Kendal, the A590 and A595 and lobbying the case for improvement to
rail services.

We will when opportunities present themselves make best use of our property portfolio to support
economic growth, through the use of our current and future asset base.

We will continue to develop our strong relationship with leading educational centres such as Kendal
College, Lancaster and Morecambe College, University of Cumbria and Lancaster University to
promote and influence economic development.

Through our Economic Development Strategy we will continue to build on our traditional strengths,
and pioneer new industries that make the most of our place. We will promote new ways of working so
that businesses can compete and reach their potential whilst enjoying everything that is special about
living in South Lakeland.

We will continue to protect the vulnerable, mitigate the effects of poverty and work with others in our
community to address the pressures on people experiencing poverty in South Lakeland.

Economy
“Enabling and delivering opportunities for sustainable economic growth”

Page 118



page 7

The council will help
facilitate and enable the
delivery of new affordable
and open market housing
through private sector led
developments across the
district

We will through our South Lakeland Housing Strategy continue to work with private
housing developers to maximise delivery of new market and affordable homes on
allocated housing sites, including the creation of 1,000 new affordable homes for rent
from the period 2014-2025.

We will continue to focus our resources on strategically important projects that reflect
local need, helping to address barriers to delivery where possible.

We will implement Development Management Policies. We will review and update our
environmental standards that help people to improve their homes and help builders to
build environmentally sustainable new homes.

We will work with our partners to help deliver and promote housing including starter
homes. We will work to help develop and expand the opportunities for self build.

We will work to address elderly care provision and we will encourage a range of housing
to allow our young people to stay and attract new young people to the area.

We will help facilitate and enable the delivery of new homes in small rural settlements,
including barn conversions. 

We will continue to use our resources (e.g. New Homes Bonus and Second Homes Fund)
and assess how they are best applied to different delivery models, to help build affordable
housing and to support locally important projects.

Measures of success

By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector, the development of 1,000 new affordable homes to rent. 

By 2025, we will have enabled, with the private sector and housing associations, an average of 60 completed permanent
dwellings each quarter.

By 2025, the number of long-term empty homes, currently 827, will have reduced by 20%.

Between 2015 and 2019, the council through targeted interventions will, year on year, bring a minimum of 70 empty homes
back into use.

During 2018/19 the number of homeless households living in temporary accommodation will be no more than 20 at any
one time.

The quality and condition
of private sector housing
will be improved and the
number of empty homes
reduced

We will continue to work with owners and housing providers to bring empty homes back
into use.

We will continue to work with partners nationally over the high levels of second home
ownership in some areas of the district.

We will help householders with advice about energy saving initiatives.

Housing
“Providing homes to meet need”

The council and its
partners will work
together to significantly
reduce the risk of
homelessness

We will deliver on our strategy to reduce homelessness, provide the correct available
support for those who need it and maintain high standard in service provision. 

We will work with all registered housing providers to manage the impact of welfare
reforms and reduce the risk of homelessness.

Page 119



page 8

Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore

Council Plan 2014-2019

The council will help our
residents to reduce the total
amount of household waste and
extend the range of recycled
materials from the kerbside

We will explore the opportunities to extend kerbside recycling to increase the range
of recyclables collected and change the way we collect materials.

We will use our waste as a resource to improve the economic return from the reuse
and recycling of materials collected from the kerbside.

Measures of success

By 2019, the amount household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting will increase from 43% to 50%. During the
same period the range of recyclables will be widened.

By 2019, the amount of residual household waste not sent for reuse, recycling and composting will have reduced from the
current baseline of 511kg per household

Between 2015 and 2019 the council will, year on year, have reduced its operational carbon footprint by 100 tonnes of
carbon, from a baseline of 2,869 tonnes.

The council will make progress
in reducing carbon emissions
and become more energy
efficient

We will reduce the council’s carbon emissions by reducing our energy use through
the efficient management of our land and buildings and be an exemplar to others.

In protecting South Lakeland we will influence and encourage others to reduce their
carbon footprint.

The council and its
communities will enhance and
protect our heritage and high
quality environment

We will support Cumbria County Council and local partners with their strategies for
active travel, such as developing safer cycle and walking routes to work and school
and promoting cycle tourism. We will explore potential opportunities with the Canal
Trust to develop cycle routes along the canal paths of South Lakeland.

We will implement our Development Briefs, and encourage the highest standards
for new developments. They will demonstrate quality and sustainability in their
preparation, planning and operation.

We will review our Air Quality Action Plan to develop stricter air quality measures
and investigate options to further improve the air quality across the district. We will
continue to promote our air and water quality and address environmental nuisance
complaints.

Through our open space strategy we will work with local communities to improve,
manage and promote the public realm and make best use of and care for our parks
and open spaces.

We will facilitate and support our third sector, community groups and businesses to
plan and prepare for potential future emergency incidents. 

Working with our partners we will continue to improve and enhance facilities for
lake users on Windermere.

Environment
“Protecting and enhancing our place”

Page 120



page 9

Through our Public Health
and Wellbeing Strategy the
council and its partners
will support wellbeing
improvements and reduce
health inequalities

We will strengthen relationships with key public health providers and increase the
resilience of the third sector, whilst influencing and facilitating a more joined-up approach
to initiatives linking good housing, environment and economic growth.

We will continue to work in partnership with Greenwich Leisure Limited to improve
health, wellbeing and physical activity programmes that are accessible to all.

We will work to deliver the strategy’s three key themes of managing: the wider influences
on health and wellbeing; 1) health improvement through healthy lives, 2) physical activity
and 3) health protection

We will support young people to have a greater voice in the democratic process and
provide opportunities for them to have a say about how our services work for them.

We will work with partners to reduce the number of people affected by rural crime,
domestic violence, alcohol related crime, substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and
serious and organised crime through our excellent Community Safety Partnership work
and the Applied Theatre in Cumbria Project. 

We will explore opportunities for commissioning services through third sector
organisations which provide excellent value for money for our communities.

Measures of success

By 2019, through collaborative and preventative action the level of self-reported general health of South Lakeland’s
residents will demonstrate an improvement above the baseline of 70% as reported in the Quality of Life Survey.

By 2025, the health inequality gap for residents in South Lakeland’s 18 most deprived communities will be narrowed
resulting in the improved healthy life expectancy above the national average of 81 years.

By 2019, the overall level of reported crime will not exceed the 2014/15 level of 3,425.

We will develop South
Lakelands reputation as
the UKs leading rural
cultural destination and as
a place for nationally and
internationally recognised
arts, events and festivals

We will strengthen the district’s cultural and creative industries, supporting our leading
cultural organisations to secure investment through Arts Council England and other
funding bodies.

We will work with partners to improve infrastructure including broadband and facilities in
key destinations to support South Lakeland as a premier area for culture, arts events and
festivals.

We will encourage best use of our distinctive environment as a location for attracting
cultural activities and events that strengthen the district’s visitor economy and the health
and wellbeing of our residents.

We will continue to work in partnership to grow and enhance our cultural tourism offer.

Culture and wellbeing 
“Improving wellbeing, reducing inequality and supporting cultural activities”

Page 121



page 10

Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work and explore

Council Plan 2014-2019

Through a flexible and
skilled workforce

Through our Customer Connect Programme staff will have the ability to work more efficiently
for the customer and our workforce plan development will set out future requirements for the
organisation. We will continue to develop our skilled workforce with more digital skills and a
more flexible, coordinated approach to working across services. We will take advantage of
the government scheme to increase our number of apprentices so their talent can be
harnessed, to support both their own career development and the organisation.

Through a sustainable
budget

The council will ensure it has proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience.
The Medium Term Financial Plan details the council’s financial position and the resources
allocated to service areas and capital projects that will enable the council priorities to be
delivered.

Significant resource pressures in the future will impact on our deficit projections. Through our
Medium Term Financial Strategy, the challenges of a reduction in support from central
government funding and the impact of the economic climate are regularly reviewed.

Proposals to resolve potential short and longer term deficits have been developed. Invest to
save projects will achieve efficiencies and generate income, supporting this organisation to

Whilst working within regulations our Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy
will give more support to local organisations in tendering for work.

Through improved
customer engagement
and communication 

Through our Customer Connect Programme our single view of the customer will put them at
the heart of everything we do and enable them to have better access to services at times
which are more convenient to them.

Our customer feedback will continue to be used to inform and improve service delivery.

Delivering our priorities
How will we deliver our priorities?

“Ensuring we are equipped to provide the best, most cost effective services” 

Through our
community leaders 

Our elected Members act as community leaders and are advocates for local people. We will
ensure they are given the training they need to effectively represent their residents and
support their communities to become more sustainable.

Our elected Members will regularly monitor delivery of the council plan and its measures of
success through its Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Through the Customer
Connect Programme Members and customers will be able to access interactive performance
data via our website giving customers the ability to hold us to account more easily.

Members across both the district council and county council will work collaboratively to
deliver joint projects and activity so that duplication of work is reduced and efficiencies
gained.

Page 122



page 11

Glossary of Terms
Arts Council England

Arts Council England champions, develops and invests in
artistic and cultural experiences that enrich people's lives.
They support a range of activities across the arts,
museums and libraries - from theatre to digital art, reading
to dance, music to literature, and crafts to collections.

Connecting Cumbria

A Cumbria Country Council led partnership aimed at
providing access to superfast fibre broadband to every
resident, business, organisation and visitor in Cumbria.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The Community Infrastructure Levy is a tool for local
authorities in England and Wales to help deliver
infrastructure to support the development of the area.

Community Safety Partnership

A group of organisations and voluntary groups who work
together with a common aim to tackle crime and disorder in
the area and to maintain South Lakeland’s position as one
of the safest places in the North West. 

Cumbria Strategic Economic Plan

A 10-year plan, concentrating on four strategic priorities
with intervention through four economic drivers. This ‘four
by four’ approach will deliver the maximum benefit for
Cumbria and drive economic growth at a county, national
and international level.

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (CLEP)

CLEP provides a strategic lead in all activities contributing
to the growth and vibrancy of the county’s economy and
where appropriate takes positive action, using the skills,
capability and networks of its partners.

Customer Contact Strategy

A council strategy that sets out to simplify the way services
interact with people and improve the customer experience.

Development Briefs

Development Briefs give guidance on development on
specific sites. They show which policies of the Local Plan
apply to each specific site as well as detailed requirements
on siting, access, design and landscaping and are subject
to public consultation. Once adopted, they are used to
assist the master planning of development and inform the
consideration of planning applications.

Development Management Policies

Policies of the Local Plan that set out the criteria against
which planning applications will be considered including
design and environmental standards.

Economic Growth Strategy

A council strategy that sets out the ambition to be the very
best place to work and to do business. It is an ambition that
focuses on the need to create the right opportunities for
economic growth, recognising that further investment will
be needed to enable the district to fulfil its economic
potential.

Gross Value Added

The measure of the value of goods and services produced
in an area, industry or sector of an economy.

Invest in South Lakeland Programme

An inward investment service provided by the Economic
Development Team providing information to businesses of
all sizes, covering all industry sectors whether already
operating in South Lakeland, new start-ups or businesses
looking to expand or move into the District.

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)

This plan provides the financial planning mechanism to
ensure the council, both individually and in partnership can
deliver its corporate priorities by providing a strategic
forecast of both expenditure and resources.

New Homes Bonus

The Government matches the additional Council Tax raised
for new homes and properties brought back into use by the
council, with an additional £350 for each affordable home.

Greenwich Leisure Limited

A not for profit charity, contracted to manage Kendal
Leisure Centre, Ulverston Swimming Pool and Outdoor
Complex, and Windermere Outdoor centre.

Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy

A council strategy that sets out the procurement aims and
objectives for the next three years.

Public Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-2019

The Council’s Public Health and Wellbeing Strategy
presents how the council will work with partners sharing
expertise, skills and resources to improve the health and
wellbeing of our residents and reduce health inequalities.

Third Sector

The Third Sector or voluntary sector, community sector or
not-for-profit sector is the activity undertaken by
organisations that are not for profit and non-governmental.

World Heritage Site (WHS)

A World Heritage Site is a place (such as a forest,
mountain, lake, island, desert, monument, building,
complex, or city) that is listed by the United Nations
Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
(UNESCO) as of special cultural or physical significance.

Page 123



Contact us
We welcome all feedback. 
If you have any comments or questions, or would like further information, please contact us. 

Website:  www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Email:  customer.services@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Tel:  01539 733333

South Lakeland District Council
South Lakeland House
Lowther Street
Kendal
Cumbria LA9 4DQ

You can view this plan online at: www.southlakeland.gov.uk

Page 124



 

 

V2 1 

Appendix 2 

Council Plan 2014-2019 (Update 2018) - SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

1) Does this project / service/ strategy etc. affect each of the impact areas (Q 1-9)  
2) Consider whether the impact is positive, negative, neutral or not applicable for each question/ category below. 
3) Use the sustainability impact assessment guidance (p3-4) to answer each question 
4)  The overall impact of the assessment (positive, negative, neutral, n/a) will be entered into the final line and used in the committee report.   

 

 Impact Area Summarise the Positive 
Impact 

Summarise the Negative 
Impact (and any mitigating 
measures taken) 

Summarise the Neutral 
Impact 

N/A 

Q1 Health and Well-
being 
 

Through our Public Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy the council 
and its partners will support 
wellbeing improvements and 
reduce health inequalities 

   

Q2 Access The quality and condition of 
private sector housing will be 
improved and the number of 
empty homes reduced 

   

Q3 Biodiversity The council will make progress 
in reducing carbon emissions 
and become more energy 
efficient 

   

Q4 Built environment 
 

We will continue to use our 
resources and assess how they 
are best applied to different 
delivery models, to help build 
affordable housing and to 
support locally important 
projects. 

   

Q5 Air, water, land and 
soil quality 

We will review our Air Quality 
Action Plan to develop stricter 
air quality measures and 
investigate options to further 
improve the air quality across 
the district. 

   

P
age 125

http://sldc-cms/intranet/Default.aspx?page=1554
file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23sp2
file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EN1
file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EN2
file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23NR1


 

 

V2 2 

Appendix 2 

Q6 Greenhouse gas 
emissions, energy 
efficiency, renewable 
energy and adapting 
to future climate 
change impacts 

The council will support 
communities to become more 
energy efficient 

   

Q7 Natural resources Is expected to lead to a 
decrease in storing records in 
physical form and would 
therefore have a positive impact 
on the amount of paper used 
and retained by the 
organisation. 

   

Q8 Local economy Through our ‘Invest in South 
Lakeland’ programme, we will 
promote the area and the 
investment opportunities as a 
great place to do business. We 
will encourage and support 
businesses and investors.  

   

Q9 Skills, education and 
training 

We will work with our public 
sector partners to maximise 
access to funding and to 
encourage the provision of skills 
training to meet the future needs 
of the economy. 

   

Overall Impact Assessments will be carried out of the social, economic and environmental impact of individual projects outlined in the 
Council Plan. 

 

P
age 126

file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23NR2
file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23NR3
file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EC1
file://///sldc-nas/user/s.blyth/Desktop/draft%20sustainability%20framework%20jan10.doc%23EC2


 1 

EIA Title:  
 
 
 
1.0 The public sector equality duty (2011) covers the following eight protected 

characteristics: 
  

Age, disability, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity.  
The duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only relating to the 
elimination of unlawful discrimination (see below, 2.0). 

 
1.1 SLDC includes “rurality” as an additional category in its equality impact 

assessments. 
 
2.0 The General Equality Duty.  

SLDC, in the exercise of its functions, should:  
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 

other conduct prohibited by the Act.  
b.  Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a  

protected characteristic and those who do not.  
c.  Foster good relations between people who share  

a protected characteristic and those who  
do not.  
 

Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update) 

Appendix 3 

Page 127



 2 

Step 1 
 

Summarise the subject and expected outcomes of this EIA. 
The Council Plan aims to deliver the vision, “Making South Lakeland the best place to live, work 
and explore” through the four priorities: 

- Economy 
- Housing 
- Culture and Well-Being 
- Environment 

 
The purpose of this EIA is to ensure that our strategic Council Plan does not prompt any 
disproportionate negative impact on people with any of the protected characteristics.  
 
The expected outcome of this EIA is the identification of any potential issues and a commitment 
to undertake the recommended mitigating actions to ensure our services are adequately 
accessible to the whole community. 
 
This EIA will be monitored and published onto our website for public accessibility.  

 
 

Who are your main stakeholders and list any engagement undertaken (include 
surveys, feedback forms, complaints, statistics etc.) 

The Council Plan is for everyone who lives, works and visits South Lakeland. 
 
South Lakeland Equality information from the 2011 Census  

• South Lakeland has one of the highest proportions of White British residents in the 
country (95.6% compared to 80.5% in England & Wales) 

• However the district has seen an increase in ethnic diversity as the proportion of 
White British residents in 2001 was 97.6% 

• Of the minority groups, 1,303 (1.3% of South Lakeland’s population) come from the 
countries that joined the EU in the first part of the last decade, compared to 2.0% for 
England & Wales. Within this group 754 residents come from Poland (0.7% of South 
Lakeland’s population);  

• 53.9% of South Lakeland’s population are married, higher than the England & Wales 
figure of 46.6%. The figure for the district is down from 56.5% in 2001 

• 26.1% of South Lakeland’s population is single (34.6% in England & Wales), and 
0.2% are part of a civil partnership ( same as England & Wales);  

• South Lakeland has a higher level of Christian residents than England & Wales 
(68.1% compared to 59.3%). The figure has fallen, however, since 2001 when the 
rate stood at 79.1% 

• 97.8% of South Lakeland residents speak English as their main language (compared 
to 90.9% in England & Wales) 

• 13.8% of South Lakeland’s population are aged 0 – 14 years, 59.4% of South are 
aged 15 - 64 years and 26.8% are aged over 65 

• As a result of a health problem or a disability 8% of people in South Lakeland find that 
their day to day activities are limited a lot, 10.8% find their day to day activities are 
limited a little bit and 81.2% find that their day to day activities are not limited at all 

 
The findings from this EIA will be used to inform Equality Objectives at service level.  A meeting 
will be arranged with AWAZ to look at the draft budget 2017/18 – 2020/21 which sets out how we 
plan to finance the ambitions in the Council Plan. 
 
The views of Action with Communities in Cumbria (ACT) have been captured in reports which 
set out the rural share of deprivation in Cumbria: 
 

Page 128



 3 

http://www.cumbriaaction.org.uk/ResourcesPublications/ParishProfiles.aspx  
 
State of Cumbria report (December 2013) 
http://www.cumbriaaction.org.uk/Portals/0/ACT%20Publications/PUB018%202013-12-
19%20The%20State%20of%20Rural%20Cumbria.pdf 
  
Summary of the above reports: 
Living in rural Cumbria presents residents with a range of challenges that, although not solely a 
rural concern, do require particular focus and appropriately tailored solutions. The lack of mains 
gas in most rural communities, and the age of the housing stock, means that conventional 
solutions to fuel poverty, and the current grant programmes could be of little relevance.  
 
The rural economy has a distinctive structure and particular needs, the high proportion of home 
working being just one example. 
 

 
 

Page 129

http://www.cumbriaaction.org.uk/ResourcesPublications/ParishProfiles.aspx
http://www.cumbriaaction.org.uk/Portals/0/ACT%20Publications/PUB018%202013-12-19%20The%20State%20of%20Rural%20Cumbria.pdf
http://www.cumbriaaction.org.uk/Portals/0/ACT%20Publications/PUB018%202013-12-19%20The%20State%20of%20Rural%20Cumbria.pdf


 4 

 
Step 2 

 
Equality Action Plan 

 
In providing this service are there any 
negative impacts on the following people? 

1. Age (young and old) 
2. Black and Minority Ethnic  
3. Disabled  
4. Faith/Belief  
5. Sexual Orientation 
6. Gender 
7. Gender reassignment 
8. Pregnancy and maternity 
9. Marriage and Civil Partnership  
10. People in rural areas 

 
(See glossary below for definitions) 
 

Mitigating actions (to avoid negative impact): 
 

Lead Officer & 
When 

Complete 
Y/N 

The Council Plan and how we produce it 

Consultation 
 
The Council Plan was produced primarily by South 
Lakeland District Council’s Cabinet and senior 
officers. 
All 

The draft Council Plan is available for public viewing on 
the committee section of the website 
 
Any issues arising from the website consultation will be 
collated and reported to Cabinet. 

 
 
Paul Mountford/ 
Cabinet 

 
 
 

Format of the document  
 
Disabled  
Age 
BAME 
 

An accessible version of the Council Plan will be made 
available via the website and also our newspaper 
‘South Lakeland News’.  
 
Alternative formats will also be offered with a contact 
number.   
 

Karen Smith 
 
 
 
Karen Smith 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 130



 5 

Design of 2016/19 Council Plan in line with corporate 
style guidelines. There will also be a one page 
summary. 
  
The new Council Plan will have an accessible text 
version available to view. 
 
The Council Plan will be in Plain English. 
 
There will be a glossary of terms.  
 

Karen Smith 
 
 
Karen Smith 
 
 
Paul Mountford 
 
Paul Mountford 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Navigation of the document 
Disabled 
Age 
 

Council Plan website allows people to easily navigate 
the document.  

Emma Nichols  

Contacting South Lakeland District Council 
 
All 

The website page which contains the Council Plan and 
has an email address which people can use to contact 
us. 
 
Contact details are provided on the back of the 
document. 
 

Emma Nichols 
 
 
Paul Mountford 

 
 
 
 

The draft Council Plan does not contain enough 
detail to effectively assess the impact of individual 
projects 
 

Agreement made with Assistant Directors that service 
plans will be shared with the Equality Officer once 
produced.  The Equality Officer will highlight any 
projects that would need to be impact assessed before 
implementation.  

James McEvoy/ 
Assistant 
Directors 

 
 

P
age 131



 6 

 
Priority areas to be impact assessed once more detail is available  

Economy 
 

- Housing and employment sites – 
accessibility to be considered. 

- ‘Encourage provision of skills training to 
meet the future needs of the economy.’ 
Need to consider the provision of training 
for protected groups. E.g. access to English 
language training, training needs of 
disabled people to help access 
employment. 

- Parish and Town plans need to consider 
Equality and Diversity. 

- When improving access to town centres, 
accessibility for disabled people needs to 
be a primary consideration. Facilities for 
older and younger people and religion/faith 
groups also need to be considered. 

- Ensure the information about 
devolution/asset transfer opportunities is 
accessible to all.  

 

Areas to be highlighted to assistant director and 
recommendation made that further assessment be 
undertaken when more detail of the project is available. 
 
Consultation with AWAZ and Disability Networks in 
Cumbria in January 2015 resulted in the following 
suggestions: 
 

- Include links to the Localism page of the website 
in the Council Plan so it is easy for people to 
access both SLDC’s asset register and the 
community asset register. 

 
- LEP – AWAZ suggest the district council is well 

placed to influence the social inclusion aspect of 
the LEP. 

 
- BIDs – AWAZ suggested need to identify 

community development/ social inclusion needs. 
 
Progress: Links are included from the Council Plan 
update 2017 to SLDC’s asset register. 
 
The Economic Development Team will raise the subject of 
social inclusion and community development at Kendal 
and Ulverston BID meetings. 
 

James McEvoy/ 
Assistant 
Directors 
 
 

 
 

Housing 
 

- Advice about energy saving initiatives 
needs to be accessible to all.  

Areas to be highlighted to assistant director and 
recommendation made that further assessment be 
undertaken when more detail of the project is available. 
 
Consultation with AWAZ and CDN resulted in the 
following suggestions: 
 

James McEvoy/ 
Assistant 
Directors 

 
 

P
age 132



 7 

- Include links in the Council Plan to the 2013 
Gypsy and Traveller needs assessment and 
SLDC’s Land Allocations DPD and Core Strategy. 
This will enable people to see that SLDC have 
considered the issue of gypsy/traveller site 
provision and have plans in place. 

 
Progress: There is now a dedicated webpage to the 
council’s Gypsy and Travellers Policies.  
 

Environment 
 

- When working with local communities to 
manage the public realm and make the best 
use of and care for our parks and open 
spaces, the opportunity to be involved in 
this needs to be accessible to all members 
of the community.  

Areas to be highlighted to assistant director and 
recommendation made that further assessment be 
undertaken when more detail of the project is available. 
 
Consultation with AWAZ and CDN resulted in the 
following suggestions: 
 

- EIA produced for kerbside recycling roll out, we 
must ensure the new equipment is suitable for all 
– or offer assisted collection to those negatively 
affected by the changes 

 
Progress: An EIA for kerbside recycling was produced. 
Sight advice was consulted regarding the colour and 
design of the recycling bins and bags. The council also 
offers a popular assisted collection scheme. 
 

James McEvoy/ 
Assistant 
Directors 

 
 

Culture and well-being 
 

- Improvements to infrastructure and facilities 
need to take into account the needs of 
protected groups, in particular disabled and 
BAME. 

Areas highlighted to assistant director and 
recommendation made that further assessment be 
undertaken when more detail of the project is available. 
 
Consultation with AWAZ and CDN resulted in the 
following suggestions: 
 

- Discussions will take place at the next health 
forum meet about the need to consider BME 
health needs. Possibility of AWAZ attending the 

James McEvoy/ 
Assistant 
Directors 

 
 

P
age 133



 8 

task group to provide advice about these issues.  
 

Progress: 
 

Delivering services 
 

- Customer Connect Programme. Equality 
needs to be considered to enable all our 
customers to access services in the best 
way for them. 

A high level EIA for the Customer Connect Programme is 
in progress, there will be further and more detailed EIAs 
of each project associated with the Customer Connect 
Programme. 
 
Key considerations: 
 

- Communication plan needed to ensure those most 
affected are aware of the changes. 

 
- We need to ensure access to services will be 

available to those who are unable to access them 
online.  
 

- We need to ensure proposed staff numbers is 
relative to the level of need of face to face and 
telephone service.  

 

James McEvoy/ 
Assistant 
Directors 

 
 

 
 

P
age 134



 9 

Step 3 
 
Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues 

used are accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments) 
- The council plan is available in multiple formats, is easily navigable and is in Plain English  
- A hard copy of the council plan is available at South Lakeland House which is full 

accessible 
- The council plan is available to members of the public for comment 
- Further assessment to be made once service plans are available  
- Equality impact assessment timetable to be made in consultation with assistant directors 

and in conjunction with the consultation timetable. 
 

The Council’s commitment to engaging with the diverse South Lakeland community on key projects 
and important local priorities will continue for the life of this Council Plan.  
 
Through research and analysis of reports such as those produced by ACT, we have identified a 
number of key issues that affect our residents. The Council Plan aims to reduce these issues. 
 
Key Issues: 
• Older housing stock with poor insulation  
• Lack of rural affordable homes – housing is a key priority for us and we have the target to build 
1000 affordable homes to rent by 2025. So far we have enabled 241to be built (2014 - 2016). 
• Providing effective development support to rural businesses – one of our key priorities is 
economic growth. The Local Plan provides hectares of new employment land. The Invest in South 
Lakeland project continues to promote South Lakeland as a great place to do business and has 
recently attended the biggest property expo in London. 
 
Date: 15/11/2016 

EIA Author(s): Paul Mountford 

Assistant Director: Simon McVey 

Document version number: v.1 

Date for Review: December 2017 

EIA forwarded to Policy Officer Y 

 
Glossary 

Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30 year-
olds).  
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples on 
a range of legal matters.  
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse effect 
on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, 
mental health or learning disability. 
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person is proposing to undergo, is 
undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing physiological 
or other attributes of sex. 
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, protection 
against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.  
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian, 
Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.  
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and philosophical 
beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes, Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, Buddhism, and 
non religious beliefs such as Humanism. 
Rurality: South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and 
larger market towns. 
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes.  

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 136



South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27 October 2017 

OUTCOMES OF THE REVIEW OF ACTIVE TRAVEL 

CHAIRMAN: Councillor Dyan Jones – Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT FROM: David Sykes – Director People and Places 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

WARDS: All 

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 The outcomes of the Review of Active Travel will help to raise the profile of the work 
that the Council is undertaking to increase participation in, and access to, active 
travel projects within South Lakeland. The recommendations of the review group, 
and of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, will help to further the effectiveness 
and impact of the Council’s work in this area. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(1) considers the findings of the Review of Active Travel in Appendix 1; and 

(2) recommends that Cabinet endorses the proposals as set out in 
Appendix 2, along with any further recommendations that the 
Committee wishes to make. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Active Travel Position Statement and Action Plan were adopted by Cabinet in 
June 2016 and sought to ensure that other organisations and people better 
understand both why and how the Council promotes walking and cycling. The Action 
Plan would also serve to coordinate and help manage activities across the Council, 
enabling impact to be maximised and progress to be measured. The Action Plan set 
out 28 proposed actions against the following three priorities: improve the health and 
wellbeing of residents and visitors; promote sustainable transport and active travel as 
an alternative mode of travel; and protect and enhance the environment. 

3.2 As part of its 2017/18 Work Programme, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
organised a one-day review of the Active Travel Position Statement and Action Plan 
which was held on Friday, 21 July 2017. The review offered Members an opportunity 
to share their views on the Council’s current work regarding active travel and to 
provide ideas for future working in this area. In addition to those Members present, 
the Environment Portfolio Holder, officers from the Active Travel Working Group and 
a representative of British Cycling were in attendance at the session. The Active 
Travel Working Group is made up of both officers from across the Council and the 
Environment Portfolio Holder and seeks to steer the Position Statement and Action 
Plan.  

Page 137

Item No.11



3.3 In concluding the Review of Active Travel, Members proposed a number of key 
points with which to form the basis of this report. Following the session, a number of 
additional messages, prompted by the discussions that took place at the review 
workshop were proposed by the Active Travel Working Group. A summary of the 
review is provided in Appendix 1. Both the initial comments and the suggestions from 
the Active Travel Working Group are attached to this report as Appendix 2. 

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 All non-Executive Members of the Council were invited to participate in the Review of 
Active Travel. The Environment Portfolio Holder was present to provide context and 
further information during the session. This report has been produced in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the officers of the 
Active Travel Working Group. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee could choose not to recommend that Cabinet 
endorses the proposals arising from the Review of Active Travel. However, this may 
result in a loss of opportunity for further development of the work of the Council in 
promoting active travel. 

5.2 Cabinet could choose not to proceed with any recommendations made by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. However, this may result in a loss of opportunity 
for further development of the work of the Council in promoting active travel. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 The work of the Active Travel Working Group supports the Council Plan’s 
“Environment” aim to “support Cumbria County Council and local partners with their 
strategies for active travel, such as developing safer cycling and walking routes to 
work and school and promoting cycle tourism”.  

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 There are no direct or immediate financial or resource implications arising from this 
report. Any projects which are subsequently developed would be subject to their own 
individual financial and resource implications assessment as part of that project’s 
business case. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no human resource implications arising from this report, however any 
implications arising from any subsequent project would be identified as part of that 
individual business case. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There are no legal implications directly associated with this report. Any projects 
which are subsequently developed would be subject to their own individual legal 
assessment as part of that project’s business case. 

Page 138



7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

Any projects pursued as a result of the 
report’s recommendations would be 
subject, where appropriate, to their own 
impact assessment. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

Any projects pursued as a result of the 
report’s recommendations would be 
subject, where appropriate, to their own 
impact assessment. 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council’s work in 
relation to active travel is 
not recognised or widely 
promoted. 

The Council’s work in 
promoting active travel is 
not as effective as it could 
be and duplication could 
occur. 

Opportunities should be 
available to review the 
work against the Active 
Travel Position Statement 
and Action Plan. 

The Council’s work in 
relation to active travel is 
not joined-up locally. 

As above. As above. 

Opportunities to develop 
the Council’s active travel 
initiatives are not taken. 

As above. As above. 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, 01539 793187 
jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk  

 

APPENDICES ATTACHED TO THIS REPORT 

Appendix No.  

1 Notes of the Review of Active Travel 

2 Proposals made at the Review of Active Travel and by the Active 
Travel Working Group 

 

Page 139

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk


BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Active Travel Action Plan and 
Position Statement (Cabinet 
Agenda and Minutes 29 June 2016) 

https://tinyurl.com/y7le78mw (agenda pages 51-80) 

https://tinyurl.com/y8zuexqf (minute no. CEX/27) 

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant Director Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

01/09/2017 N/a 01/09/2017 28/09/17 27/10/2017 

Executive (Cabinet) Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

29/11/2017 N/a N/a 01/09/2017 01/09/2017 

Human Resources 
Manager 

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

Chairman of the 
O&S Committee 

 

01/09/2017 N/a N/a 29/09/17  

 

Page 140

https://tinyurl.com/y7le78mw
https://tinyurl.com/y8zuexqf


1 
21.07.2017 Review of the Active Travel Action Plan 
 

 

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

NOTES OF THE REVIEW OF THE ACTIVE TRAVEL ACTION 
PLAN 

10.00 A.M., FRIDAY, 21 JULY 2017 
 

Present 
 

Councillors Brian Cooper, Joss Curwen, Dyan Jones (Chairman) and Mark Wilson. 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Norman Bishop-Rowe, Andrew 
Butcher, Nick Cotton, Philip Dixon, Anne Hall, Janette Jenkinson and Phil Walker. 
 

Officers 
 

Cllr David Fletcher Environment Portfolio Holder 

Deborah Clarke Principal Community Spaces Officer 

Alison Coward Public Protection Officer 

Jason Habbershon Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

Peter Holland Senior Communications Officer 

Damian Law Principal Development Plans Officer 

Ruth Leahy Project Officer, Economic Development 

David Sykes Director People and Places 

Imelda Winters-Lewis Principal Culture, Arts and Events Officer 

 
Also in attendance were Councillor David Fletcher (Environment Portfolio Holder) and 
Caroline Gilbert (British Cycling). 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Introduction 
 
Councillor David Fletcher, Environment Portfolio Holder, provided background on the Active 
Travel Position Statement and Action Plan which had been adopted by Cabinet in June 
2016. He emphasised the variety of different Council services which were involved in the 
work of the Active Travel Action Group, evidenced by the variety of officers present at this 
workshop. He expressed his view that the key role of the group was to build an ethos of 
active travel both within the Council and out in the community, ranging from small schemes 
such as promoting the benefits of walking to work once a week through to larger projects 
such as the introduction of bike boxes and electric bike networks. 
 
David Sykes, Director People and Places, echoed the comments of Councillor Fletcher and 
highlighted the enthusiasm of officers in the work relating to active travel. 
 
Alison Coward, Public Protection Officer, set out the key messages of the Active Travel 
Position Statement and provided key statistics which showed that:- 
 

 the number of households with two or more cars in South Lakeland was higher than 
the North West average; 

 the number of households without a car was lower than the North West average; and 

 an estimated 65% of adults in South Lakeland are considered overweight or obese. 
 

Appendix 1 

Page 141



2 
21.07.2017 Review of the Active Travel Action Plan 
 

 

She emphasised that many elements of active travel could be incorporated into an 
individual’s current lifestyle, such as through walking at least part of the way to work. 
Although South Lakeland was a large rural area, 75% of car journeys in Kendal both started 
and ended within the town, suggesting that there was a huge potential for many of those 
journeys to move towards active travel. In addition to the benefits for the individual engaging 
in the activities, an increase in active travel could help to improve air quality, reduce carbon 
emissions and improve the quality of our public spaces. 
 
A European Commission survey reported that only 4% of UK respondents cycled daily, the 
lowest percentage of the 28 EU countries with the exceptions of Cyprus and Malta. Alison 
informed Members that the average economic benefit-to-cost of investing in cycling and 
walking schemes was 13:1, and set out the health benefits which had been evidenced 
through regular physical activity. Alison reported evidence from Cycling UK which found that 
as levels of cycle commuting increased, safety for cycling also increased, primarily through 
better infrastructure and increased awareness. 
 
Damian Law, Principal Development Plans Officer, introduced the Active Travel Action Plan 
which set out the range of actions and targets across the Council’s priorities. The three 
themes of the Action Plan were active travel in policy, promoting participation in active travel, 
and infrastructure for active travel. 
 
David Sykes set out the role of the Council within the area of active travel. He explained that 
the idea of active travel was more than a transportation issue and that no single authority 
was solely responsible. He emphasised the Council’s role as a place maker, seeking to 
improve places and lives within South Lakeland, including through its non-statutory roles 
such as economic development. Of the Council Plan’s four priorities, each could be linked to 
active travel in some way. 
 
Questions and comments 
 

Councillor Joss Curwen raised concerns regarding the unsuitability of road surfaces 
in some rural areas of the district, such as within the Duddon Valley. 
 
Councillor Mark Wilson asked whether more could be done to improve co-ordinated 
approaches between neighbouring authorities, highlighting the example of a cycleway 
within Barrow which ended at the boundary with South Lakeland. He also referred to 
increase provisions for cycle storage and spaces within car parks, and reiterated the 
need for safe routes for cyclists. 
 
Councillor Dyan Jones, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, put 
forward questions which had been submitted by Councillor Philip Dixon prior to the 
session. In response to a query raised by Councillor Dixon regarding the facts 
available regarding the benefits of an uplift in cycling, Alison Coward agreed to send 
out the information she had collated. Councillor Dixon had also raised a query 
regarding the available evidence for cycling benefits in European countries, and 
Caroline Gilbert of British Cycling undertook to provide Members with case studies 
showing the experiences of countries such as the Netherlands, Germany and 
Denmark. 
 
Councillor Dyan Jones highlighted the importance of a cultural emphasis on active 
travel, and suggested that a focus on children would be beneficial. Alison Coward 
agreed, but highlighted the importance of working to strengthen the links between 
active travel in childhood and adulthood. She explained that it was common for those 
active in their childhood to stop participating as they grew older, and ensuring that 
their involvement continued through to adulthood was very important. 

Page 142



3 
21.07.2017 Review of the Active Travel Action Plan 
 

 

 
British Cycling Presentation 
 
Caroline Gilbert, British Cycling, provided a partner’s view of promoting active travel. She 
explained that British Cycling had worked with SLDC for the past two years as part of a wider 
partnership in Cumbria. She complimented the Council for its work on the Active Travel 
Position Statement and explained that it helped organisations such as British Cycling to 
understand where cycling fit within the Council, what the Council’s aims were and how similar 
organisations could get involved. British Cycling’s relationship with SLDC was described as 
being particularly strong. 
 
Caroline set out the background of British Cycling before explaining the organisation’s 
“Inspiration to Participation” scheme which sought to use the inspiration of the Olympics and 
Tour events to promote cycling. She reported that British successes on the elite stage often 
helped to improve participation. 
 
The Partnership Agreement in place in Cumbria set out a number of areas of work: 
programme delivery, workforce development, event management, facility development, 
marketing and communications, strategy development and partnership management. 
 
Caroline explained that although cycling participation was growing, the difference in 
participation between men and women was higher than ever. She also highlighted that there 
was the gap in provision of services and support, with much offered to the elite level and to 
children but little for those groups that fell between the two. She explained that improving 
domestic racing opportunities would help, but that part of the problem within the area was the 
relatively small workforce currently available within Cumbria. However, investments in 
Carlisle, including the development of a closed road circuit and the employment of a coach 
for the whole of the county, would increase available volunteers to support more events 
throughout Cumbria. Caroline reported that Kendal Cycling Club was the fastest growing club 
in the United Kingdom. She also explained that there was currently no club scene for 
mountain bikers in Britain, and that this is something that she would like to see developed. 
 
In reference to the marketing and communications role of the partnership, Caroline thanked 
the Council for its article on cycling and active travel within South Lakeland News – an 
approach that British Cycling would be unable to take alone. 
 
Background to the new Cumbria Cycling Strategy was provided, and Members were 
informed that the strategy was currently available in draft form. 
 
In summarising her presentation, Caroline described SLDC as being in a great position, and 
said that others in the area were looking at the work of the Council with a view to introducing 
similar schemes. She suggested that the Active Travel Position Statement and Action Plan 
would act as a strong link between SLDC’s Council Plan and the new Cumbria Cycling 
Strategy. 
 
Questions and comments 
 

Councillor Mark Wilson raised the opportunities for using green lanes for cycling, as 
well as the benefits that could be gained from the introduction of a courtesy 20mph 
speed limit within towns. 
 
In response to a query regarding the work of the Morecambe Bay Partnership, Ruth 
Leahy, Project Officer in Economic Development, confirmed that the Council was 
working closely with the Partnership. She explained that the Bay Cycle Way had used 
largely existing paths and promenades and that no real hard infrastructure 

Page 143



4 
21.07.2017 Review of the Active Travel Action Plan 
 

 

developments had taken place. However, through the increase in use resulting from 
the Bay Cycle Way, it was hoped that future infrastructure improvements could be 
sought. 
 
Councillor David Fletcher, Environment Portfolio Holder, referred to the lack of 
suitable infrastructure within the central Lakes. He explained that some cycle ways in 
the area were unsuitable for road bikes which could cause issues with other road 
users if cyclists were forced to use main rural roads. 
 
David Sykes queried whether there were prospects for funding from Government if a 
co-ordinated approach could be demonstrated by organisations within an area. 
Caroline Gilbert explained that this was currently unclear, but that she felt that by 
through the projects being undertaken and the introduction of a Cumbria Cycling 
Strategy, Cumbria and South Lakeland had shown that they were in a position to 
utilise any funding that could become available. Alison Coward highlighted the 
previously mentioned closed road circuit in Carlisle, explaining that the funding for the 
project had been helped by the City Council’s existing strategies. 
 
Peter Holland, Senior Communications Officer, asked Caroline Gilbert whether the 
use of photographs within promotion materials had changed. She explained that the 
marketing used for guided rides was very different to that used for promoting races, 
and that varied imagery was used where appropriate. Caroline highlighted British 
Cycling’s image bank and explained that local images were always welcomed. 

 
Case Studies 
 
A series of case studies was presented which provided a cross-section of some of the 
projects which were underway. 
 
The proposed South Lakeland Wheels for All adaptive cycling project was presented by 
Alison Coward. She highlighted the lack of provision within Cumbria for inclusive cycling and 
the benefits and opportunities that a Wheels for All group could bring to the area. 
 
Ruth Leahy outlined projects to promote walking and cycling to school, as part of both the 
SLDC Young People’s Action Plan and the EcoSchool programme. She also highlighted the 
success of the Big Pedal event in March which had seen record numbers of children riding 
bicycles and scooters to school. 
 
Ruth Leahy also provided details on the Bay Cycle Way. She explained that the Bay Cycle 
Way was Sustran’s fastest selling route map and that residents and business owners had 
seen the benefits of the Cycle Way’s introduction. Ruth reported that the Bay Cycle Way had 
recently been awarded the Visit Lancashire “Tourism Experience of the Year” award. 
Information on the local Electric Bike Network was also provided. 
 
The improvements in cycle parking provision within Kendal were outlined by Alison Coward. 
These improvements had arisen as a result of a Defra Air Quality grant which had been 
awarded in reaction to the pollution levels on Lowther Street. Business Bike Parking Grants 
had also been made available to businesses in the area to increase the number of people 
commuting. 
 
Imelda Winters-Lewis, Principal Culture, Arts and Events Officer, presented an outline of the 
Ulverston Healthy Town project. She emphasised the cross-cutting nature of the work and 
how this formed an important part of the Council’s place-making agenda. The key role of the 
project was to establish, improve, enhance and develop the lifestyle, well-being and physical 
and social environments of Ulverston, with the aim to inspire future progress throughout the 

Page 144



5 
21.07.2017 Review of the Active Travel Action Plan 
 

 

area. Imelda highlighted a number of projects which had been developed, include the 
development of a bike hub and café at Ulverston Station, work with individuals with alcohol 
dependency problems who now work on that and similar projects. The development of 
pathways within parks to encourage walking, the GLL Ulverston Leisure Master Plan, 
improvements to the streetscape, the introduction of a mobile app to promoting walking 
routes around Morecambe Bay and the support for a number of events in the area were all 
highlighted as projects which had been developed through the Ulverston Healthy Town 
project.  
 
Ruth Leahy provided an overview of the Locally Important Projects grants, which had 
provided a total of £324,240 towards active travel projects within South Lakeland. 

 
David Sykes summarised the work of Go Lakes which had aimed to provide options to make 
it easier for residents and visitors to get out of their car and use other means of transport. He 
highlighted the examples of the Windermere Bike Boat, joint car park and bus ticketing at 
Braithwaite Fold and support for guided cycle rides. He confirmed that although the project 
had now ceased, the Go Lakes brand continued. 
 
Questions and comments 
 

Councillor Mark Wilson reiterated the benefits of partnership working, highlighting 
successful examples in Ulverston with the local Community Rail Partnership, sporting 
activities for children provided by GLL and through the South Cumbria Health and 
Wellbeing Forum. 
 
Councillor Dyan Jones complimented an inspiring presentation on the Ulverston 
Healthy Town and asked whether the Council should have a greater role in engaging 
communities in active travel through parish and town councils? Imelda explained that 
while she was not personally involved in visiting parish and town councils, there were 
officers within the Active Travel Action Group which did so. Councillor David Fletcher 
expressed his disappointment at the low number of District Councillors present, 
highlighting their role as community representatives as being vital to engaging 
residents. Alison Coward reported that Cumbria County Council were setting up 
groups in hub towns across South Lakeland with a focus on improving health and 
wellbeing, inspired by the work in Ulverston, and confirmed that representatives of 
SLDC would be present at their meetings. 
 
David Sykes suggested that the discussion pointed to a need to ensure that schemes 
and projects were joined-up locally and that communities be engaged to instil a 
locality-based approach, an approach that would also closely match the direction of 
the Council’s Customer Connect project. 
 
In response to a query, Caroline Gilbert explained that in addition to the European 
case studies referred to above, there were areas of the UK where there had been 
more focused efforts to promote a cycling culture, including Bristol and Leicester. She 
also referred to Mini-Hollands programme in London and the new bicycle share 
scheme being trialled in Manchester. Caroline agreed to pass on the information she 
had available regarding these projects. 
 
During a discussion on the barriers to cycling, Caroline set out the three key reasons 
reported to British Cycling as perception of safety, lack of time and not having a bike 
or being able to ride. Councillor David Fletcher also drew attention the barriers to 
cycling which were present amongst ethnic minority groups. 
 

Page 145



6 
21.07.2017 Review of the Active Travel Action Plan 
 

 

Councillor Dyan Jones queried whether Members were well enough informed about 
the active travel projects and asked how enthusiasm and the distribution of 
information could be improved. 
 
Councillor Mark Wilson proposed using projects such as Ulverston Healthy Towns as 
a package that could be used for other key centres, and suggested that greater 
promotion of active travel to businesses in South Lakeland would be beneficial. 
Councillor Wilson asked whether special days could be held to promote cycling, for 
example by temporarily shutting the roads within a town centre to make it a cycle-only 
zone. 
 

Summary 
 
The following key points were agreed as the basis for a report to Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee setting out the outcomes and recommendations of this workshop:- 
 

 Recognition of the value of the ongoing work arising from the Active Travel Position 
Statement and Action Plan. 

 Greater effectiveness could be added if projects were joined-up locally. 

 Investigation into closer working across district boundaries was required. 

 A cross-generational approach was required, but with a strong emphasis on working 
with young people to develop a culture of active travel. 

 In promoting active travel to residents, there needs to be recognition of the side 
effects that this may cause (such as higher numbers of cyclists on the road) and the 
ways that these could be managed. 

 More could be done to engage and inform Members and officers of the Council, such 
as by highlighting successes and utilising the inspiration of national stories (such as 
professional victories etc.). 

 
Those in attendance were invited to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee where the 
outcomes of this workshop would be considered. Jason Habbershon, Committee 
Services/Scrutiny Officer, undertook to inform everyone when this would take place once a 
date had been confirmed. 
 
Councillor Dyan Jones thanked all those in attendance for their input. 
 
 
 
 
The workshop ended at 1.00 p.m. 

Page 146



APPENDIX 2 

Proposals from the Review of Active Travel 
 
The following key points were agreed as the basis for a report to Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
setting out the outcomes and recommendations of this workshop:- 
 

 Endorsement of the value of the ongoing work arising from the Active Travel Position 
Statement and Action Plan. 

 Greater effectiveness could be added if projects were joined-up locally. 

 Investigation into closer working across both district and county boundaries was required. 

 A cross-generational approach was required, but with a strong emphasis on working with 
young people to develop a culture of active travel. 

 In promoting active travel to residents, there needs to be recognition of the side effects that 
this may cause (such as higher numbers of cyclists on the road) and the ways that these 
could be managed. 

 More could be done to engage and inform Members and officers of the Council, such as by 
highlighting successes and utilising the inspiration of national stories (such as professional 
victories etc.). 

 

Additional comments put forward by the Active Travel Working Group 
 

 Success in promoting Active Travel is dependent upon initiatives coming from the grass 
roots, with the access to local knowledge and associated local support for change.  We think 
this has a bearing on the role local elected representatives will play in encouraging and 
facilitating the initiatives and informing the local negotiation of what will be required. There is 
a critical role for members to play if greater use and choice for active travel is to be 
delivered. 

 There is a critical need for being better joined up locally, particularly between the local 
authorities.  Active Travel can deliver multiple benefits, which necessitates a range of 
technical inputs.  If presented without a full awareness of benefit, we lose opportunity for 
achieving wider community support. 

 Achieving change in Active Travel has to come from long term commitment, to address 
behavioural change, to show by example and deliver supporting infrastructure.   

 Communications are key, and central to success.  We are trying to change people’s 
perceptions that Active Travel is not for them, or it is too difficult, or it will create additional 
difficulties.  We need communications to illustrate how changes can be made and that 
incremental change is beneficial.  

 Active Travel should link up with other main initiatives, so that it becomes a part of wider 
local programmes. For example the Integrated Care Communities.  

 SLDC should use opportunities arising through the Customer Connect programme to 
deliver an organisation whose people better consider the opportunities for Active Travel, for 
example, freedoms created for agile working, facilities at work to encourage Active Travel. 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 148



 
 

South Lakeland District Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

27 October 2017 

SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS PROGRESS 
REPORT 

 

CHAIRMAN: Councillor Dyan Jones – Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

REPORT FROM: Debbie Storr – Director of Policy and Resources 
(Monitoring Officer) 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Habbershon – Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer 

WARDS: Not applicable 

FORWARD PLAN: Not applicable 

 

1.0 EXPECTED OUTCOME 

1.1 By monitoring the progress made by Cabinet and officers in implementing the 
recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Members will 
retain sight of proposals and their outcomes. The regular reviewing of 
recommendations made by Members will also ensure the effectiveness of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is both maintained and monitored. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes the 
progress made by Cabinet in implementing the recommendations of the 
Committee. 

3.0 BACKGROUND AND PROPOSALS 

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee plays a key role in reviewing policies and 
performance in delivering services, managing finances and other aspects of the 
Council. Each year the Committee sets an annual Work Programme which combines 
both formal committee meetings and in-depth reviews. The Committee primarily 
makes recommendations to Cabinet, but can also make recommendations to other 
decision makers or external bodies. 

3.2 Monitoring the progress of these recommendations is an important part of the 
effective governance provided by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In addition 
to these biannual reports, the Committee can receive verbal updates at meetings 
throughout the year during consideration of the latest Work Programme. 

3.3 During 2016/17, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee presented two formal reports 
to Cabinet: Outcomes of the Income Generation Workshop (CEX/125 (2016/17)), and 
Tackling Poverty Together (CEX/126 (2016/17)). Both reports were considered by 
Cabinet at its meeting on 22 March 2017, and the recommendations of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee were agreed. 

Page 149

Item No.12



 
 

 Outcomes of the Income Generation Workshop 

3.4 A number of proposals were made during the Income Generation Workshop. The 
Council’s property advisors, Lambert Smith Hampton, have provided costings to 
enlarge Braithwaite Fold Caravan site. This will be presented as an option within the 
revised capital programme as part of the November Cabinet report. A site in 
Windermere is subject to a growth bid proposal to secure improvements to the 
surface that could include larger parking bays, although no specific facilities for 
motorhome users are planned at this time. A feasibility study of a site in Kendal and 
discussions regarding the Rayrigg Meadows site are currently ongoing. 

3.5 A recommendation was made regarding the potential sites in the areas surrounding 
J36, however as the Council has no land holdings at this location this is not seen as 
a viable option at this time. 

3.6 A recommendation was included to review the potential for longer term fee setting. 
Where this can enhance provision of services it will be considered. No examples 
have come forward during the 2018/19 budget process for agreeing fee levels for 
more than one year. The MTFP includes assumptions around annual income growth 
for most fee generating services. However, this does not necessarily mean fee 
increases are needed as growth in service use will also lead to greater income. 
Some fees, most notably car parking, have not been adjusted for several years but 
are still reviewed annually to ensure the fees, any change in demand and the income 
budgets remain consistent. This process is required annually.   

 Tackling Poverty Together 

3.7 Following the adoption of the Action Plan and Position Statement by Cabinet in 
March, a working group was formed which is made up of officers and the Deputy 
Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder. The Building Financial 
Resilience Working Group has developed a more detailed action plan across the 
three themes set out within the position statement. 

3.8 In late June, a further meeting of voluntary sector organisations was held to promote 
joint working and the production of a Joint Action Plan. We have mapped a number 
of indicators/measures of poverty and shared these with partners. Mapping illustrates 
the wards/areas of South Lakeland where there are concentrations of poverty. We 
are improving understanding of the issues. 

3.9 SLDC has drafted a Building Financial Resilience Together strategic action plan to 
promote joint working and alignment of priorities between public and voluntary sector 
organisations working in the District. The draft is currently circulating with partners for 
comment and we expect to conclude a working version during November 2017. 

3.10 SLDC has promoted awareness of the issues of poverty through the South Lakeland 
News publication, which carried a number of features regarding the work and 
services of organisations which can help people in need. 

3.11 Through its business as usual, SLDC continues to directly assist residents with 
benefits and housing needs and through its developing work with, and funding 
support for, the South Lakeland Gateway, we are helping to promote joined up action 
between organisations. 

3.12 SLDC and partners are keen to progress the development and use of a Multi-Agency 
Referral System (MARS). This should better ensure people with multiple needs are 
referred effectively to sources of help, reducing the risk of people not seeking the 
range of assistance and support which may be available. This will be a topic at the 
next meeting of partners being planned for the autumn. 

Page 150



 
 

3.13 SLDC is also considering how it may better target support for community initiatives, 
for example through the Locally Important Projects programme, which would assist 
areas of greatest poverty.   

3.14 SLDC is working to improve how it can share information internally to better help 
people, for example in the benefits, housing advice and homelessness services. This 
will also be taken forward through the Customer Connect work. 

3.15 SLDC has promoted discussion on poverty through the Cumbria Leaders Board. 
Discussion is needed with Cumbria County Council on progressing a review of the 
county-wide poverty strategy. 

 Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish Group 

3.6 Although the work of the Older Persons’ Housing Strategy Task and Finish Group is 
ongoing, the information and discussions held so far have helped in the ongoing 
formation of the draft revised Strategy and Action Plan. A number of suggestions 
raised during the task and finish group’s meetings are being incorporated into the 
new Joint Older Person’s Housing Strategy. It is anticipated that the final draft Joint 
Older Person’s Housing Strategy, along with a report from the task and finish group, 
will be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in January 2018. 

 Review of Active Travel 

3.7 A report setting out the findings of the Review of Active Travel can be found 
elsewhere on this agenda. The outcomes of this review, along with any additional 
recommendations made by the Committee, will be considered by Cabinet at its 
meeting on 29 November 2017. 

 Other recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

3.8 At its meeting on 17 March 2017, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
recommended to Council that it approve a number of recommendations regarding the 
scrutiny arrangements at SLDC. This included the removal of the Performance Sub-
Committee and the transfer of its responsibilities back to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. These recommendations were approved by Council at its meeting on 29 
March 2017 and took effect from the beginning of this municipal year. A review of the 
new scrutiny arrangements will take place in 2019. 

3.9 In addition to the formal recommendations made by the Committee, a number of 
comments and/or suggestions were raised throughout various items considered at 
committee meetings. In situations where these comments were raised against 
executive items, these comments were highlighted during consideration by Cabinet. 
Other changes requested of officers, for example in relation to grammatical or 
presentational issues, are typically taken into account before the item is presented to 
Cabinet. An example of this approach was evident during the recent second 
consideration of the draft development plan documents. The report set out the 
comments raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee when it first considered 
the documents, and the actions that had been taken to address them.  

4.0 CONSULTATION 

4.1 This report has been prepared in consultation with the relevant lead officers and 
Portfolio Holders. 

5.0 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee could choose not to undertake regularly 
monitoring of the recommendations that it has made. This is not recommended, as 
the Committee will have no sight of its recommendations after they have been made. 

Page 151



 
 

5.2 Should the Committee feel that its recommendations are not being progressed 
adequately it could request more regular updates from the relevant decision-maker. 

6.0 LINKS TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s broad remit and varied work programme 
means that its work often links to all of the priorities and targets set out within the 
current Council Plan. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 There are no direct financial or resource implications arising from this report. The 
report provides an update on the implementation of previously agreed 
recommendations. 

7.2 Human Resources 

7.2.1 There are no staffing implications arising from this report. The report provides an 
update on the implementation of previously agreed recommendations. 

7.3 Legal 

7.3.1 There is a legal requirement for local authorities to operate an overview and scrutiny 
committee. The committee needs to be effective in its role. This report provides an 
update on the implementation of previously agreed recommendations. 

7.4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4.1  

Have you completed and Health, Social, 
Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

This report provides an update on the 
progression of recommendations 
previously made by the Committee. 

 

7.5 Equality and Diversity 

7.5.1  

Have you completed an Equality Impact 
Analysis? 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

If you have not completed an Impact 
Assessment, please explain your 
reasons. 

This report provides an update on the 
progression of recommendations 
previously made by the Committee. 

7.6 Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

That recommendations 
made by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee are 
not actioned. 

The value added by the 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be 
lessened. 

Regular monitoring of 
progress made against the 
recommendations from the 
Committee. 

 

Page 152



 
 

CONTACT OFFICERS 

Jason Habbershon, Committee Services/Scrutiny Officer, 01539 79187, 
jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk  

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

Cabinet 22 March 2017 

CEX/125 Outcomes of the 
Income Generation Workshop 

CEX/126 Tackling Poverty 
Together 

Agenda, reports and minutes 

https://tinyurl.com/y74b3z5v  

 

TRACKING INFORMATION 

Assistant Director Portfolio 
Holder 

Solicitor to the 
Council 

SMT Scrutiny 
Committee 

5/10/17 N/a 5/10/17 12/10/17 27/10/17 

Executive (Cabinet) Committee Council Section 151 
Officer 

Monitoring 
Officer 

N/a N/a N/a 5/10/17 5/10/17 

Human Resources 
Manager 

Leader Ward 
Councillor(s) 

Chairman of the 
O&S Committee 

 

5/10/17 N/a N/a 12/10/17  

 

Page 153

mailto:jason.habbershon@southlakeland.gov.uk
https://tinyurl.com/y74b3z5v


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 154


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	15-09-17 Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	7 Work Programme and Forward Plan
	Work Programme and Forward Plan - Appendix 1
	Work Programme and Forward Plan - Appendix 2

	8 Corporate Financial Monitoring Quarter 2, 2017/18
	Corporate Financial Monitoring Q2 2017-18 - Appendix 1
	Corporate Financial Monitoring Q2 2017-18 - Appendix 2
	Corporate Financial Monitoring Q2 2017-18 - Appendix 3
	Corporate Financial Monitoring Q2 2017-18 - Appendix 4

	9 Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 2017/18 and Portfolio Holder Reports for Environment and Culture, Media and Leisure
	Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q2 - Appendix 1
	Council Plan Performance Monitoring Q2 - Appendix 2

	10 Council Plan 2014-2019 (2018 Update)
	Council Plan 2018 Update - Appendix 1
	Council Plan 2018 Update - Appendix 2
	Council Plan 2018 Update - Appendix 3
	1. Age (young and old)
	2. Black and Minority Ethnic 
	3. Disabled 
	4. Faith/Belief 
	5. Sexual Orientation
	6. Gender
	7. Gender reassignment
	8. Pregnancy and maternity
	9. Marriage and Civil Partnership 
	10. People in rural areas
	Date:

	Step 3
	Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues used are accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments)
	Glossary

	Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.


	11 Outcomes of the Review of Active Travel
	Outcomes of the Review of Active Travel - Appendix 1
	Outcomes of the Review of Active Travel - Appendix 2

	12 Scrutiny Recommendations Progress Report

